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REPORTING PRINCIPLES

The City Lodge Hotel Group is guided by the principles, with regard to 
our Integrated Report (“IR”), contained in the following:
Integrated reporting

 − IIRC <IR> Framework
 − South African Companies Act
 − JSE Listings Requirements
 − King Report on Corporate Governance 2016 (“King IV™*”)

Financial reporting 
 − International Financial Reporting Standards
 − South African Companies Act
 − JSE Listings Requirements
 − SAICA Financial Reporting Guides
 − Financial Reporting Pronouncements

INTEGRATED REPORTING
This year, City Lodge Hotels Limited published our eighth IR. Using 
feedback obtained from our stakeholders, the input of reporting 
experts and an internal review, we have redesigned our report to 
report under our capitals to improve the readability of this report, 
along with additional required disclosure. 

We hope that this IR gives you a better understanding of our 
business. We remain committed to improving on this report and 
would appreciate your feedback in this regard – any comments 
can be emailed to Alastair Dooley at adooley@clhg.com.

SCOPE AND BOUNDARY
City Lodge Hotels Limited’s IR is released at least 15 business 
days prior to its annual general meeting (“AGM”). This report covers 
the financial year from 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018. The previous 
IR was published in 2017 and covered the period 1 July 2016 to 
30 June 2017. The scope of this year’s report includes all of our 
operations in South Africa, Botswana, Kenya and Namibia totalling 
59 hotels. This IR provides a general narrative on the performance 
of the group’s business across our five hotel brands. All City, Town 
and Road Lodge brands, as well as three Courtyard Hotels and the 
Fairview Hotel, are wholly owned by the group, while the remaining 
two Courtyard Hotels are proportionally consolidated.

This report is consistent with the prior year and is compiled 
annually. There are no restatements from the prior year.

This report has been prepared primarily for the providers of 
financial capital in order to support their financial capital allocation 
assessments, although information relevant to other stakeholders 
has also been included. The 2017 report was made available to 
shareholders on 11 September 2017.

Included in the report are the group’s consolidated and separate 
annual financial statements.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT 
On the basis of the recommendations from the auditors KPMG Inc., 
the audit committee provides assurance on the annual financial 
statements.

The board acknowledges its responsibility to ensure the integrity 
of the IR. The board has applied its mind to the IR and believes that 
it addresses all material issues, presents fairly the integrated 
performance of the organisation and its impacts in accordance 
with the principles set out in the International Integrated Reporting 
Framework.

The IR has been prepared in line with best practice and the 
recommendations of King IV™.

The IR was approved by the board on 15 October 2018 and is 
signed on its behalf by:

A C Widegger – Chief executive officer 

B T Ngcuka – Non-executive chairman

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS
Certain statements in this document may constitute “forward 
looking statements”. 

Such forward looking statements involve known and unknown 
risks, uncertainties and other important factors that could 
cause the actual results, performance or achievements of City 
Lodge Hotels Limited and its subsidiaries to be materially 
different from the future results, performance or achievements 
expressed or implied by such forward looking statements. 

The company undertakes no obligation to update publicly or 
release any revisions to these forward looking statements to 
reflect events or circumstances after the date of this document, 
or to reflect the occurrence of anticipated events. 

These have not been reviewed or reported on by the group’s 
auditors.

REPORT NAVIGATION

CONSOLIDATION AFRICA
EXPANSION

ENVIRONMENTAL
SUSTAINABILITY

BRAND
IDENTITY

INFORMATION
TECHNOLOGY

TRANSFORMATION

CONSOLIDATION

AFRICA EXPANSION

TRANSFORMATION

ENVIRONMENTAL
SUSTAINABILITY

INFORMATION
TECHNOLOGY

BRAND IDENTITY
*  Copyright and trademarks are owned by the Institute of Directors in 

Southern Africa NPC and all of its rights are reserved.
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OUR PROVEN STRATEGY

CONSOLIDATION
To consolidate and 

grow 
our position  

within South Africa.

AFRICA 
EXPANSION
To expand our 

footprint beyond  
South Africa’s 

borders.

INFORMATION 
TECHNOLOGY
To maintain and 
implement an 

innovative 
technology 
platform.

ENVIRONMENTAL 
SUSTAINABILITY

To be a leader within 
the hospitality sector 

in environmentally 
sustainable business 

practices.

BRAND IDENTITY
To continue 

embedding our 
refreshed brands, 

and realise growing 
benefits from an 
individual brand 

marketing strategy.

TRANSFORMATION
To continue to 

transform the group  
in line with the 
B-BBEE Codes  

of Good Practice.

1

STRATEGY

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
ON PAGE 20 IN THIS REPORT

+
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We will be recognised as the preferred  
sub-Saharan African hotel group.

Through dedicated leadership, teamwork and kindness, we will 
demonstrate our consistent commitment to delivering caring service with 

style and grace.

We will constantly enhance our guests’ experience through our passionate 
people, ongoing innovation and leading-edge technology.

Our integrity, values and ongoing investment in our people and hotels 
will provide exceptional returns to stakeholders and ensure continued, 

sustainable growth.

Through acts of kindness we will make a positive difference to our guests, 
our colleagues, our communities and our environment.

The City Lodge Hotel Group is a multi-brand chain offering a variety of 
locations, features and budget choices to  

business and leisure travellers.

Commitment to service excellence from highly motivated and dedicated staff 
is a common thread throughout the group’s hotels, which have developed a 

loyal base of regular guests over the years and an ever-growing number of new 
guests.

We place emphasis on providing quality accommodation, friendly service and 
a homely ambience – core reasons why guests choose our hotels.

The group has five distinct brands, currently offering 
7 390 rooms, at 59 locations throughout  

southern and eastern Africa.

OUR VISION

WHAT WE DO

 



THIS IS NOT JUST A BOARDROOM 
CHAIR, IT IS ONE WAY WE MAKE 
THAT FOUR-HOUR PRESENTATION 
BEARABLE.

WWW.CLHG.COM
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Fully serviced  
on-site boardrooms
at every location.

T H E R E  I S  C O M F O R T  I N  E V E R Y  D E T A I L

5
City Lodge Hotel Group Integrated Report 2018

 



WHERE WE OPERATE

Courtyard Hotels

5 hotels

381 rooms
City Lodge Hotels

18 hotels

3 173 rooms

Town Lodges

13 hotels

1650 rooms

Road Lodges

22 hotels

2 059 rooms

Fairview Hotel

1 hotel

127 rooms

WE ARE NOT JUST 
SOUTH AFRICAN BASED, 
WE AIM TO EXPAND.
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Ghana

BOTSWANA
GaboroneWindhoek

SOUTH AFRICA

Mozambique
Zambia

Zimbabwe

Tanzania

Rwanda

Nigeria

Nairobi

KENYA
Uganda

Ethiopia

Namibia

KENYA
Nairobi

GAUTENG 
Johannesburg
(Eastgate, Rosebank, Sandton)
Tshwane
(Arcadia) 
EASTERN CAPE
Port Elizabeth

GAUTENG
Johannesburg
(Johannesburg Airport – Barbara 
Road, Bryanston, Fourways, 
Newtown, OR Tambo International 
Airport, Sandton – Katherine Street, 
Sandton – Morningside, Waterfall 
City)
Tshwane
(Hatfield, Lynnwood) 

WESTERN CAPE
Cape Town
(GrandWest, Pinelands, V&A 
Waterfront)
EASTERN CAPE
Port Elizabeth
KWAZULU-NATAL
Durban
(Central, Umhlanga Ridge)

GAUTENG
Johannesburg
(Carnival City, Germiston, Isando, 
Johannesburg Airport, Randburg, 
Rivonia, Southgate)
Tshwane
(Centurion) 
WESTERN CAPE
Cape Town
(N1 City, Cape Town  
International Airport)

EASTERN CAPE
East London
Port Elizabeth 
(Port Elizabeth Airport, Summerstrand)
NORTHERN CAPE 
Kimberley
KWAZULU-NATAL 
Durban 
(Central, Umhlanga Ridge) 
Pietermaritzburg
Richards Bay

FREE STATE 
Bloemfontein
MPUMALANGA 
Mbombela
NORTH WEST 
Potchefstroom 
Rustenburg
Opening soon
LIMPOPO
Polokwane

GAUTENG
Johannesburg
(Johannesburg Airport, Midrand, 
Roodepoort, Sandton – Grayston 
Drive)
Tshwane
(Menlo Park) 
WESTERN CAPE
Bellville
George 

EASTERN CAPE
Port Elizabeth
MPUMALANGA 
Mbombela
LIMPOPO 
Polokwane
BOTSWANA 
Gaborone

KENYA 
Nairobi
NAMIBIA
Windhoek
Opening soon
KWAZULU-NATAL
Umhlanga Ridge

FREE STATE
Bloemfontein
KENYA
Nairobi
Opening soon
MOZAMBIQUE
Maputo
TANZANIA
Dar es Salaam

AFRICA

Medium to long- 
term expansion

Current 
expansion 
areas

• Fairview

• Courtyard Hotel

• City Lodge Hotel

• Town Lodge

• Road Lodge

SOUTH AFRICA

NORTH WEST

WESTERN CAPE

EASTERN CAPE

NORTHERN CAPE

FREE STATE KWAZULU-NATAL

MPUMALANGAGAUTENG

LIMPOPO

Potchefstroom

Rustenburg

Johannesburg

Mbombela
Tshwane

Polokwane

Richards Bay
Pietermaritzburg

Durban

East London

GeorgeBellville
Cape Town

Port Elizabeth

Kimberley

Bloemfontein
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In 2012, the group acquired a 50% interest in the Fairview Hotel and Town 
Lodge, Upper Hill, Nairobi, Kenya, and it has since taken full ownership. 

Town Lodge Gaborone in Botswana became the first new hotel 
developed by the group outside of South Africa.

Today we operate in four countries on the African 
continent, with a further two soon to be included.

With five Courtyard Hotels, 18 City Lodge Hotels, 
13 Town Lodges, 22 Road Lodges, and the Fairview 
Hotel, the City Lodge Hotel Group has 7 390 rooms 
and ranks among the 200 largest hotel chains in 
the world, and fourth largest in Africa.

Mauritius

 



NOT JUST A TIME LINE OR LIST OF ACCOLADES

1990
Town Lodge, a new brand 

and differentiated two-star 
offering, is added to the 

portfolio.

 

1992 
City Lodge Hotels 

Limited successfully 
listed on the JSE.

1995
City Lodge 10th 

Anniversary Employees 
Share Trust was launched 

which enabled employees 
to become shareholders.

Road Lodge, our one-star 
brand and Courtyard, 

our four-star brand 
offering, are added to 

the portfolio.

1985
City Lodge 
Randburg 

(now Bryanston), the first 
selected services hotel 

in South Africa, opens 
its doors to the 

public.

City Lodge Hotel Group Integrated Report 2018
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2013 
Town Lodge 

Gaborone opens, being our 
first hotel to be developed 

outside South Africa.

2014
Acquisition 

of remaining 50% interest 
in Fairview 

Hotel Limited, Kenya.

Rejuvenation of hotel 
brands and  

logos.

2008 
Successful introduction of 
BEE shareholders through 

a structured deal.

2012
Acquisition of 50% 

interest in Fairview Hotel 
Limited, Kenya.

Eleven TripAdvisor 
2018 Certificates of 

Excellence.

Two Agoda 2017 Golden 
Circle Awards.

Best 
one and 

two-star hotels 
in 2017 National Lilizela 

Accommodation Awards.

2018 
Appointment 

of a chief operating 
officer, who is also our first 
female executive director.

Namibia becomes the 
fourth country in our 

growing footprint.

2018 



HOW WE HAVE PERFORMED

2 003 
2017: 1 951

Total number of 
jobs created 

increased by 52

Level 4
2017: level 5 

BEE rating in 
terms of revised 

tourism sector 
scorecard 
increased 
by 1 level

R331,1m 
2017: R362,2m

 Normalised 
headline 
earnings

 decreased 
by 9%

760,6c 
2017: 833,6c

Normalised diluted 
headline 
earnings 

per share 
decreased 

by 9% 

R627,9m 
2017: R609,6m

Normalised 
cash generated  

by operations 
increased 

by 3%

R425,6m 
2017: R202,4m

 Capital 
investment  
increased 

by 110%

R1,50bn 
2017: R1,52bn

Total revenue 
for the year 
decreased 

by 1%

R482,8m 
2017: R513,6m

Normalised 
operating

 profit 
decreased 

by 6%

City Lodge Hotel Group Integrated Report 2018
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R566,0m 
2017: R616,7m

Total normalised 
EBITDA  

decreased 
by 8%

454,0c 
2017: 500,0c

Dividends per 
share 

decreased 
by 9%

30 352t
2017: 34 321t

Carbon 
footprint

decreased 
by 12% 

4 289c 
2017: 3 928c

Normalised 
net asset  
value per 

share

59% 
2017: 63%

Group 
occupancies average 

decreased  
by 4%
points

86% 
2017: 86%

Total customer 
satisfaction  

rating remained 
unchanged

End-of- 
year

actual 
closing 

share 
price 2016

R155,52

2017

R140,13

2015

R138,99

2014

R127,00

2013

R120,00

2012

R84,95

2011

R65,23

2010

R76,85

2009

R69,00

2008

R69,99

2018

R141,82
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VALUE ADDED STATEMENT

Group

R000 2018 % 2017 %

Revenue(1) 1 712 846 1 729 407

Paid to suppliers for materials and services1 (596 109) (618 169)

Value added by operations 1 116 737 1 111 238

Interest income 4 031 6 603

Total wealth created 1 120 768 100 1 117 841 100

Distributed as follows:

Salaries, wages and all related benefits2

– direct 271 748 253 964

– indirect 48 113 45 766

319 861 29 299 730 27

Government

Taxes3 305 789 299 647

Rates 46 596 42 986

352 385 31 342 633 31

Providers of capital

Dividends to ordinary shareholders 178 904 192 955

Interest on borrowings 63 867 77 558

242 771 22 270 513 24

Reinvested to maintain/develop operations

Depreciation 105 217 102 779

Accumulated profit 100 534 102 186

205 751 18 204 965 18

Total wealth distributed 1 120 768 100 1 117 841 100

Headcount – direct 1 483 1 440

Headcount – indirect 520 511

Total headcount 2 003 1 951
1 Including value added taxation (“VAT”).
2 Excluding employee taxes.
3 Includes income taxation, deferred taxation, employee taxes and net VAT.

Providers of capital

22%

Reinvested to maintain/
develop operations

18%

Government

31%

Employees

29%

 



OUR GROUP STRUCTURE

100% 
City Lodge Hotels 

(Botswana)
Proprietary Limited  

Botswana

100% 
Budget Hotels 

Proprietary 
Limited  

RSA

100% 
City Lodge

Hotels (Africa)
Proprietary Limited  

RSA

100% 
Courtyard Management 

Company
Proprietary Limited  

RSA

100% 
Fairview Hotel

Limited  
Kenya

70% 
Anchor Park 

Investments 105 
Proprietary Limited

100% 
Property Lodging 

Investments
Proprietary Limited

RSA

100% 
City Lodge Hotels 

(Namibia)
Proprietary Limited  

Namibia

100% 
City Lodge (Uganda)

Limited  
Uganda

100% 
CLHG 

Tanzania Limited  
Tanzania●

99% 
CLHG

Mozambique LDA 
Mozambique■

100% 
City Lodge Holdings 

(Share Block)
Proprietary Limited  

RSA*

100% 
Gallic Courtyard 

(Arcadia)
(Share Block)

Proprietary Limited  
RSA

100% 
Gallic Courtyard 
(Bruma Lake)
(Share Block)

Proprietary Limited  
RSA

100% 
Gallic Courtyard 

(Rosebank)
(Share Block)

Limited  
RSA

100% 
Gallic Courtyard 

(Sandown)
(Share Block)

Proprietary Limited 
RSA

Vuwa Hotels  
Proprietary Limited#

Newshelf 935  
Proprietary Limited#

Newshelf 892  
Proprietary Limited#
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*  A subsidiary of Property Lodging Investments Proprietary Limited.
●  City Lodge Hotels Limited owns 0,01%.
■  City Lodge Hotels Limited owns 1%.
#  City Lodge has guaranteed the funding of these BEE entities, resulting in their incorporation into the company and group results.  

City Lodge does not hold a direct interest in these entities.
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THOSE WHO KEEP US IN BUSINESS

Engaging with our stakeholders and understanding their requirements and concerns is critical to helping our 
company identify its most material issues. Information gathered as part of our various stakeholder engagement 
processes feeds directly into decision-making and drives our business strategy.

Guests

Employees

Government

Shareholders

Suppliers

Communities 

The media

The 
stakeholders 

that we 
engaged

Guest
questionnaires

Social media
websites

Formal
market

research

Open door
policy on
investor
relations

Face-to-face
encounters

Regular
analyst and 

shareholders’
meetings with the
chief executive and

financial director

Annual general
meeting

Integrated
report

Participation in
industry bodies
and initiatives

Newsletters and
publications

Public
relations

How we
engaged

What is important to them
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WHERE OUR INDUSTRY IS HEADED

Although there has been a new sense of optimism in South Africa since 
Cyril Ramaphosa became the president earlier this year, business and consumer 
confidence have remained at a relatively low ebb. This has definitely had an effect 
on business and leisure travel, which by its very nature relies on significant levels 
of optimism, certainty and confidence.

The first quarter of 2018 showed a very disappointing gross domestic product 
performance, indicating that the economy is still extremely vulnerable and in need 
of a range of stimulating factors that create improved confidence and lead to 
greater levels of investment and spending in the economy.

While the political changes in the country have been welcomed by financial 
markets, it is taking time for these to lead to meaningful changes and growth in 
the economy, which has been impacted by a backlog of challenges and several 
domestic and external influences.

The Western Cape – particularly greater Cape Town – has been severely affected 
by the drought and water shortage which has had a negative impact on both 
business and leisure travel to the area. It is hoped that the 2018 winter rainfall will 
continue to positively impact dam levels, which continue to improve as the season 
progresses. On a brighter note, the severity of water restrictions in the region has 
changed people’s attitudes to water and sharply reduced water usage levels. 
These attitudes and behaviour patterns are likely to become the norm as 
individuals, families and businesses realise the importance of conserving this 
vital resource.

On a national level, the increase in the VAT rate from 14% to 15% has impacted 
consumer confidence, but this is likely to be a short-term influence as the new 
rate is absorbed into budgets and the economy as a whole.

President Ramaphosa has highlighted the vital importance of tourism as an 
employment creator and income generator in the economy. It is hoped that 
guidance from the top will filter down to creating a more enabling environment 
for sustained growth in the tourism sector. In this regard, while certain 
amendments to the current visa requirements were announced, these have 
unfortunately not gone far enough to make a meaningful difference, in particular 
towards family travel.

The Tourism Business Council of South Africa continues to play a valuable role in 
the development of the sector as it relates to both business and leisure travel, 
both of which are essential ingredients for maintaining a healthy economy.

After staging a strong recovery from December 2017 into early 2018, the Rand 
weakened again towards the middle of 2018, partly on a stronger US currency and 
a pullback from emerging market investments. In conjunction with a rise in oil 
prices to close to US$80/barrel, this has again impacted travel patterns for people 
travelling for business or leisure purposes. Budgeting has become more important 
than ever for companies and individuals, prompting them to seek and expect 
greater value adds in their travel and accommodation experiences.

The group’s Kenya operations were affected by the unrest and uncertainty 
surrounding the country’s 2017 general election, and its subsequent rerun, but 
trading conditions have recently improved along with a more stable environment.

In South Africa, the lead up to the country’s next general election in 2019 will be 
a major focal point and is likely to influence decision-making in various aspects of 
the economy. 

In line with the growing international trend, online booking platforms are 
continuing to grow their market share as travellers adopt user-friendly options 
to book and manage their travel arrangements. 

Social media channels are playing an increasingly crucial role in feedback 
generation for the hospitality industry and this trend is expected to continue as 
consumers increase their interactive relationships with service providers. 

Guests

Employees

Government

Shareholders

Suppliers

Communities 

The media

The 
stakeholders 

that we 
engaged

Guest
questionnaires

Social media
websites

Formal
market

research

Open door
policy on
investor
relations

Face-to-face
encounters

Regular
analyst and 

shareholders’
meetings with the
chief executive and

financial director

Annual general
meeting

Integrated
report

Participation in
industry bodies
and initiatives

Newsletters and
publications

Public
relations

How we
engaged

What is important to them

■ Quality product offering
■ Recognised loyalty
■ Efficiency in dealing with us

■ Consistent service levels
■ Value for money
■ Listening to their needs

■ Tax revenues 
■ Compliance with legislation
■ Advancing transformation
■ Job creation

■ Investment in country
■ Supporting communities
■  Reduction in consumption 

of natural resources 

■  Corporate governance and 
ethical leadership

■  Growth and expansion 
opportunities

■ Level of gearing
■ Return on investment
■ Dividends

■ Job security
■ Fair remuneration
■ Performance management

■ Engagement
■ Career pathing
■  On-the-job coaching  

and training
■ Safe working conditions 

■ Stability of supply and timely payment
■ BEE performance
■ Fair treatment

■ Sponsorships
■ Bursaries and leadership
■ Investment in disadvantaged communities
■ Volunteer days
■ Responsible consumption

■ Honest transparent communication
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Financial
- Operating cash flow
- Debt funding
- Equity funding
- Economic climate

Natural
- Physical location
- Energy
- Water

Manufactured
- Hotel buildings
- Furniture and equipment
- Technology

Intellectual
- Trademarks
- Proprietary knowledge
- Systems and processes
- Scale

Human
- Engaged and skilled employees
- Ethical environment
- Different cultures

Social and
relationship

- Guests 
- Committed suppliers
- Communities
- Business associates

Outputs/outcomes Strategic link
Sustainable
development goals

CONSOLIDATION

TRANSFORMATION

CONSOLIDATION

INFORMATION
TECHNOLOGY

BRAND IDENTITY

CONSOLIDATION

AFRICA EXPANSION

INFORMATION
TECHNOLOGY

ENVIRONMENTAL
SUSTAINABILITY

CONSOLIDATION

AFRICA EXPANSION

TRANSFORMATION

Inputs

Key
business

processes

Hotel operations

Food and beverage

Hotel administration

Customer relationship
management

Legal and

secretarial

Fi
na

nc
e

Sales and

marketing

Humanresources

Inform
ation

technology

Pr
op

er
ty

 a
nd

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t

Operations

Procurement

Social and
relationship

Human

Intellectual

Manufactured

Natural

Financial

Key 
support 

processes

OUR BUSINESS MODEL

We own or lease and manage all of our 59 hotels under our 
own brands and primarily operate in the selected service hotel 
sector, which we pioneered in South Africa. 

In this way we are able to manage our products and standards 
in such a way as to enforce consistency throughout the group.

This consistency flows from hotel design to 
product offering and service. The company 
will lease properties both in South Africa and 
offshore only where it is not possible to own 
the land and/or buildings. Such properties 
would be in the minority, allowing the group 
to leverage off its historic low-cost model to 
remain competitive in the current trading 
environment.

Through the implementation of a rigorous 
refurbishment strategy, we maintain our 
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Financial
- Operating cash flow
- Debt funding
- Equity funding
- Economic climate

Natural
- Physical location
- Energy
- Water

Manufactured
- Hotel buildings
- Furniture and equipment
- Technology

Intellectual
- Trademarks
- Proprietary knowledge
- Systems and processes
- Scale

Human
- Engaged and skilled employees
- Ethical environment
- Different cultures

Social and
relationship

- Guests 
- Committed suppliers
- Communities
- Business associates

Outputs/outcomes Strategic link
Sustainable
development goals

CONSOLIDATION

TRANSFORMATION

CONSOLIDATION

INFORMATION
TECHNOLOGY

BRAND IDENTITY

CONSOLIDATION

AFRICA EXPANSION

INFORMATION
TECHNOLOGY

ENVIRONMENTAL
SUSTAINABILITY

CONSOLIDATION

AFRICA EXPANSION

TRANSFORMATION

Inputs

Key
business

processes

Hotel operations

Food and beverage

Hotel administration

Customer relationship
management

Legal and

secretarial

Fi
na

nc
e

Sales and

marketing

Humanresources

Inform
ation

technology

Pr
op

er
ty

 a
nd

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t

Operations

Procurement

Social and
relationship

Human

Intellectual

Manufactured

Natural

Financial

Key 
support 

processes

FINANCIAL CAPITAL
• Enhanced equity value
• Growth in footprint
• Optimum debt levels
• Investment income
• Transformed ownership

NATURAL CAPITAL
•  Desirable product in convenient locations
• Reduced environmental footprint
• Recycling of waste
• Efficient consumption

MANUFACTURED CAPITAL
• Quality accommodation
• Comfort
• Access to technology
• Meeting travellers’ changing needs

HUMAN CAPITAL
• Guests’ satisfaction
• Increased loyalty
• Low staff turnover

SOCIAL AND RELATIONSHIP CAPITAL
• Guests’ satisfaction
• Loyal supplier base
• Social upliftment
• Industry participation and engagement
• Management of overheads

INTELLECTUAL CAPITAL
• Positive brand reputation
• Innovation
• Improved operational efficiency
•  Standardised operating systems, 

policies and procedures

high standards of product quality and 
are able to introduce advancements/
improvements to our product regularly. 

One such example of the benefits from 
this strategy is the implementation of 
our energy-efficiency initiative, which has 
reduced our absolute energy consumption 
by more than 38% since its initiation in 2010. 

Of our revenue, approximately 90% is 
generated from providing tip-top and clean 

accommodation to business and leisure 
travellers in a loving and caring environment. 
Providing services to complement this 
offering such as breakfast, light meals, 
sundowner bars and meeting facilities, allows 
guests to select which services they wish to 
receive at an additional affordable price.

All our hotels receive the support of 
our central office, which manages and 
implements the group’s strategies consistently 
across all our brands. As a result of this unique 

value proposition, we have managed to 
achieve an average return on equity of 
23,1% over the past seven years, with a 
current client satisfaction rating of 86% for 
the past year. This was achieved against a 
backdrop of providing jobs to 1 661 people 
in South Africa and a further 342 beyond its 
borders, either directly or indirectly, 
thereby contributing to government’s 
growth and employment objectives.
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OUR MATERIAL ISSUES AND STRATEGIC PRIORITIES

In determining our material issues – those that have the greatest potential impact on our success – City Lodge 
is informed by a range of internal and external factors, as well as the concerns raised by our stakeholders. 

The group follows a process to assess the input gathered and identifies those issues that are of the greatest 
strategic importance to us. In particular, we gather information through internal and external engagement 
processes using these key sources:

STAKEHOLDER 
ENGAGEMENT

Engaging with our stakeholders and 
understanding their concerns is critical to helping 
our company identify its most material issues. 
Information gathered as part of our various 
stakeholder engagement processes feeds directly 
into decision-making and drives our business 
strategy.

THE REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT AND 
INDEPENDENT BODIES
We consider the regulatory environment, assessing 
the materiality and impact of various regulations 

and legislation – both existing and those being 
developed – on the company. This includes 

legislation affecting our engagement 
with our workforce, the treatment 

of customers, marketplace 
behaviour, governance and 
environmental responsibility. 
We also participate in forums 
with governing bodies 
responsible for the 
development of legislation.

IDENTIFYING OUR 
MATERIAL ISSUES 
Following an internal workshop, 
inputs gathered from these key 
sources were assessed, 
summarised and recorded into an 
enterprise risk management toolkit. 
Each item was assessed in terms of severity 
and likelihood of impact, with an assessment 
of the item’s inherent risk exposure, the risk 
mitigation strategies and an evaluation of the residual risk 
exposure. This process ultimately resulted in a ranking of our 
business risks, which are encompassed in our material 
issues which were presented to the board for its approval for 
inclusion in this Integrated Report. Since 2017, there has been 
some movement in the assessment of two of the material 
issues as a result of shifting operating conditions, which is 
presented in the adjacent graph. 

The issues identified were mapped according to their 
materiality as shown.

As the final step in the process, this information was fed 
directly into the articulation of our current business strategy.

THE EXTERNAL ENVIRONMENT
We are informed by trends in the external environment, 
which are discussed as a regular item at the company’s 
executive committee and board meetings. These include 
economic and industry trends, shifts in the competitive 
landscape and stakeholder concerns.

 



Strategic risk profile 2018

Issues included in this 
area have a relatively 
moderate impact on our 
company. All issues 
shown in this area are 
discussed partially in 
this report.

Issues included in this 
area are of high 
significance and impact 
for both stakeholders and 
the company. All issues 
shown in this area are 
discussed fully in this 
report.

Issues included in this 
area of the grid have only 
a minor impact on the 
company and are thus 
not reported on.
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MATERIAL ISSUES DESCRIPTION MITIGATING STRATEGY STRATEGIC PRIORITIES/FOCUS OVERVIEW OUTCOME KPI

1.  Industry trends 
– oversupply 

Continuous increases in capacity and the low utilisation thereof result in a subdued short-term 
outlook for the hospitality industry. In the large centres, growth in the shared economy has also 
introduced additional capacity. 

 • Active management which informs decisions on  
pricing and capacity

 • Tracking and analysing industry trends and data

CONSOLIDATION AFRICA
EXPANSION

ENVIRONMENTAL
SUSTAINABILITY

BRAND
IDENTITY

INFORMATION
TECHNOLOGY

TRANSFORMATION

CONSOLIDATION

AFRICA EXPANSION

TRANSFORMATION

ENVIRONMENTAL
SUSTAINABILITY

INFORMATION
TECHNOLOGY

BRAND IDENTITY

To consolidate our position  
within South Africa.

Through continued focus on quality of service 
and product, we aim to maintain our position 
as a leading provider of quality selected 
services hotel accommodation to our guests.

 • Increased occupancy
 • Maintained/increased average daily rates
 • Increased focus on cost base
 • Managed debt levels
 • Consistently high standard of product and service

 • Occupancy %
 • Average daily  

rate (“ADR”)
 • EBITDA margin
 • Brand perception score
 • Guest satisfaction survey %
 • Return on equity (“RoE”) 

2.  Industry trends 
– travel patterns

Shifting travel patterns as a result of budgetary constraints, flight availability, enhanced 
technology and environmental consciousness have seen a decrease in overnight travel and 
reservation lead times are typically short. 

 • Active management which informs decisions on  
pricing and capacity

 • Tracking and analysing industry trends and data

3.  Industry trends 
– yield management

Our ability to manage our own inventory and pricing strategy could impact our market share as 
travellers shop around for the best available deal. 

 • Active management which informs decisions on  
pricing and capacity

 • Tracking and analysing industry trends and data

4.  B-BBEE deal funding 
and compliance

In the short term, the terms of the B-BBEE funding deal contain specific covenants to be 
complied with, along with minimum redemption levels, which are solely dependent on dividend 
flows from the group. 

 • Continuous engagement with banks regarding 
performance and terms of funding

5.  Exposure to 
South African 
macro-economic 
environment

As a result of the bulk of our operations being concentrated within the borders of South Africa, 
we are directly affected by the spending habits of the South African business traveller and 
consumer, influenced for example by a rising cost of living, the political landscape, low business 
and consumer confidence and economic growth. 

 • Geographic spread of portfolio and active brand management
 • Exploring non-South African opportunities
 • Maintain a price/value advantage

6.  Safeguarding our 
assets

High levels of crime occurring in and around our hotels.  • Awareness in this regard is addressed through participation 
in industry security and local policing forums

 • 24-hour on premises security at all sites

7.  Failure to provide 
required service 
levels

Inability to meet the diverse needs of travellers.  • Extensive in-house training for all employees

8.  Changing labour 
environment

The current environment around collective bargaining by unions and the establishment of new 
unions may change current processes and the implementation of stringent penalties for missed 
employment equity targets. 

 • Regular engagement with labour unions and service providers
 • Compliance function to monitor changing  

legislative requirements
 • EE plans developed at individual hotel level

9.  Limitation on 
availability of 
funding for future 
projects and the 
cost thereof

In order for City Lodge to expand its footprint both locally and internationally in future, access to 
funding may be limited due to current macro-economic circumstances. The cost and terms at 
which such funding is granted may affect the group’s ability to expand and grow. 

 •  Continuous engagement with bank regarding facilities 
available

 •  Consideration of alternative sources of funding
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EXPANSION

ENVIRONMENTAL
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TRANSFORMATION

CONSOLIDATION

AFRICA EXPANSION

TRANSFORMATION

ENVIRONMENTAL
SUSTAINABILITY

INFORMATION
TECHNOLOGY

BRAND IDENTITY
To expand our footprint beyond  
South Africa’s borders.

By obtaining a detailed understanding of our 
continent, we will be able to introduce the 
same quality product our guests have grown 
to love to other African countries.

 • Detailed feasibility studies into foreign markets
 • Established footprint in new markets

 • Number of hotels beyond 
South African borders

10.  Exposure to 
emerging markets 
– macro-factors

City Lodge’s strategy to expand beyond the borders of South Africa could be affected by various 
risks prevalent in these countries, including political and regulatory uncertainty, transparency 
around land ownership, threat of terrorism, corruption and the timeframe to obtain operating 
licences. 

 •  Clear guidelines and expectations, direct in-depth 
investigation and feasibility studies on countries and specific 
locations by dedicated resources

 •  On-site visits

11.  Exposure to 
emerging markets 
– operational 
challenges

There are a host of operational challenges involved in expanding beyond South African borders, 
eg availability of electricity, operating supplies, potable water and sewerage treatment. 

 • Extensive evaluation conducted by external specialists
 • On-site visits

OUR MATERIAL ISSUES AND STRATEGIC PRIORITIES CONTINUED
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MATERIAL ISSUES DESCRIPTION MITIGATING STRATEGY STRATEGIC PRIORITIES/FOCUS OVERVIEW OUTCOME KPI

1.  Industry trends 
– oversupply 

Continuous increases in capacity and the low utilisation thereof result in a subdued short-term 
outlook for the hospitality industry. In the large centres, growth in the shared economy has also 
introduced additional capacity. 

 • Active management which informs decisions on  
pricing and capacity

 • Tracking and analysing industry trends and data
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To consolidate our position  
within South Africa.

Through continued focus on quality of service 
and product, we aim to maintain our position 
as a leading provider of quality selected 
services hotel accommodation to our guests.

 • Increased occupancy
 • Maintained/increased average daily rates
 • Increased focus on cost base
 • Managed debt levels
 • Consistently high standard of product and service

 • Occupancy %
 • Average daily  

rate (“ADR”)
 • EBITDA margin
 • Brand perception score
 • Guest satisfaction survey %
 • Return on equity (“RoE”) 

2.  Industry trends 
– travel patterns

Shifting travel patterns as a result of budgetary constraints, flight availability, enhanced 
technology and environmental consciousness have seen a decrease in overnight travel and 
reservation lead times are typically short. 

 • Active management which informs decisions on  
pricing and capacity

 • Tracking and analysing industry trends and data

3.  Industry trends 
– yield management

Our ability to manage our own inventory and pricing strategy could impact our market share as 
travellers shop around for the best available deal. 

 • Active management which informs decisions on  
pricing and capacity

 • Tracking and analysing industry trends and data

4.  B-BBEE deal funding 
and compliance

In the short term, the terms of the B-BBEE funding deal contain specific covenants to be 
complied with, along with minimum redemption levels, which are solely dependent on dividend 
flows from the group. 

 • Continuous engagement with banks regarding 
performance and terms of funding

5.  Exposure to 
South African 
macro-economic 
environment

As a result of the bulk of our operations being concentrated within the borders of South Africa, 
we are directly affected by the spending habits of the South African business traveller and 
consumer, influenced for example by a rising cost of living, the political landscape, low business 
and consumer confidence and economic growth. 

 • Geographic spread of portfolio and active brand management
 • Exploring non-South African opportunities
 • Maintain a price/value advantage

6.  Safeguarding our 
assets

High levels of crime occurring in and around our hotels.  • Awareness in this regard is addressed through participation 
in industry security and local policing forums

 • 24-hour on premises security at all sites

7.  Failure to provide 
required service 
levels

Inability to meet the diverse needs of travellers.  • Extensive in-house training for all employees

8.  Changing labour 
environment

The current environment around collective bargaining by unions and the establishment of new 
unions may change current processes and the implementation of stringent penalties for missed 
employment equity targets. 

 • Regular engagement with labour unions and service providers
 • Compliance function to monitor changing  

legislative requirements
 • EE plans developed at individual hotel level

9.  Limitation on 
availability of 
funding for future 
projects and the 
cost thereof

In order for City Lodge to expand its footprint both locally and internationally in future, access to 
funding may be limited due to current macro-economic circumstances. The cost and terms at 
which such funding is granted may affect the group’s ability to expand and grow. 

 •  Continuous engagement with bank regarding facilities 
available

 •  Consideration of alternative sources of funding
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To expand our footprint beyond  
South Africa’s borders.

By obtaining a detailed understanding of our 
continent, we will be able to introduce the 
same quality product our guests have grown 
to love to other African countries.

 • Detailed feasibility studies into foreign markets
 • Established footprint in new markets

 • Number of hotels beyond 
South African borders

10.  Exposure to 
emerging markets 
– macro-factors

City Lodge’s strategy to expand beyond the borders of South Africa could be affected by various 
risks prevalent in these countries, including political and regulatory uncertainty, transparency 
around land ownership, threat of terrorism, corruption and the timeframe to obtain operating 
licences. 

 •  Clear guidelines and expectations, direct in-depth 
investigation and feasibility studies on countries and specific 
locations by dedicated resources

 •  On-site visits

11.  Exposure to 
emerging markets 
– operational 
challenges

There are a host of operational challenges involved in expanding beyond South African borders, 
eg availability of electricity, operating supplies, potable water and sewerage treatment. 

 • Extensive evaluation conducted by external specialists
 • On-site visits
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MATERIAL ISSUES DESCRIPTION MITIGATING STRATEGY STRATEGIC PRIORITIES/FOCUS OVERVIEW OUTCOME KPI

12. B-BBEE Compliance to legislative requirements and the achievement of revised targets.  •  Regular monitoring and forecasting of BEE targets
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BRAND IDENTITY

To continue to transform the group  
in line with the B-BBEE Codes  
of Good Practice.

By remaining committed to the principles 
contained in the Codes of Good Practice, the 
group will transform itself, thereby ensuring its 
long-term sustainability.

 •  Increased ownership in the hands of black 
South Africans

 •  Increased representation at all levels in the group
 •  Improved level of skills and experience
 •  Development and support of sustainable supply 

chain
 •  Positive influence on local communities

 •  B-BBEE rating
 •  Various HR targets

13.  Environmental 
sustainability

Development, implementation and maintenance of sustainable environmentally friendly 
business practices.

 •  Regular monitoring and decision-making by the 
environmental sustainability steering committee
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INFORMATION
TECHNOLOGY

BRAND IDENTITY

To be a leader within the hospitality sector in 
environmentally sustainable business practices.

By clearly understanding the impact our business 
has on the environment, we are able to change 
the way we operate, and in so doing have a 
positive influence on our planet and its 
sustainability over the short, medium and long 
term. 

 • Increased awareness of environment issues
 • Understanding of the group’s impact on the 

environment
 • Reduced energy and water consumption
 • Minimisation and recycling of waste

 • CO2 footprint
 • Recognised sustainability 

certification
 • Consumption per room 

sold

14.  Reliance on IT 
infrastructure

As a result of the wide distribution of our hotels throughout sub-Saharan Africa, we have an 
established IT infrastructure in order to support our operations. Our hotels are reliant on this 
infrastructure daily in order to perform optimally and securely.

 •  Continuous upgrading and maintenance of IT infrastructure
 •  Implementation of a detailed disaster recovery plan
 • Making use of third-party hosting facilities
 • Regular reviews and updates to IT security infrastructure
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To maintain and implement an innovative 
technology platform.

By remaining aware of current trends and 
introducing innovative IT services to enhance 
our guests’ experiences and drive efficiency.

 • Increased innovation
 • Enhanced guest satisfaction
 • Streamlined processes
 • Secure data and infrastructure

 • Results from reviews and 
testing

 • Guest satisfaction survey %

15.  Changing needs 
of the business 
traveller

Technological advancements result in changing guest expectations, which place additional reliance 
on the IT infrastructure and require the group to be innovative in its offering and refurbishments. 

 •  Dedicated resources engage internally to assess and 
implement new projects

16.  Perception of brand 
and service 
offerings

City Lodge has been offering a consistently good product since its inception. As a result of the 
new capacity created in the industry, consumers are spoilt for choice and may perceive the brand 
unfavourably given its relative age and due to a lack of understanding thereof. Further, the direction 
of the marketing campaigns may influence consumer perceptions. 

 •  A targeted marketing and sales strategy to educate guests 
about the various brand offerings

 •  Regular market research is conducted to understand the 
views and needs of travellers, which informs future 
decision-making

 •  Engaging external specialist branding and marketing 
consultants and keeping up with current consumer trends
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To continue embedding our refreshed brands, 
and realise growing benefits from a channel 
marketing strategy.

The refreshed brand identity will continue to 
result in a shift in the level of awareness and 
perception of our brands among current and 
future guests, demonstrating how the 
experience of our product has kept up with 
market trends.

 •  Improved level of awareness of the group’s brands
 •  Increased level of differentiation of the group’s 

offering
 •  Improved digital and social media presence
 •  Increased occupancy

 •  Level of brand awareness
 •  Digital presence
 •  Occupancy %

17.  Fair remuneration 
philosophy

 

There is a global trend towards evaluating income disparity within an organisation and 
benchmarking these to similar industry participants. Further, the introduction of a pay-for-
performance culture aligns employee interests with those of shareholders. 

 •  Extensive evaluation conducted by external specialists
 •  Monitoring and implementation of remuneration philosophy 

is a function of the remuneration committee

18.  Legislative changes 
and compliance 
with laws and 
regulations 

Compliance with new and changing legislation.  •  Continuous monitoring of legislative changes affecting the 
industry and providing commentary when requested to do so

 • Dedicated legal and compliance function

OUR MATERIAL ISSUES AND STRATEGIC PRIORITIES CONTINUED
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MATERIAL ISSUES DESCRIPTION MITIGATING STRATEGY STRATEGIC PRIORITIES/FOCUS OVERVIEW OUTCOME KPI

12. B-BBEE Compliance to legislative requirements and the achievement of revised targets.  •  Regular monitoring and forecasting of BEE targets
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To continue to transform the group  
in line with the B-BBEE Codes  
of Good Practice.

By remaining committed to the principles 
contained in the Codes of Good Practice, the 
group will transform itself, thereby ensuring its 
long-term sustainability.

 •  Increased ownership in the hands of black 
South Africans

 •  Increased representation at all levels in the group
 •  Improved level of skills and experience
 •  Development and support of sustainable supply 

chain
 •  Positive influence on local communities

 •  B-BBEE rating
 •  Various HR targets

13.  Environmental 
sustainability

Development, implementation and maintenance of sustainable environmentally friendly 
business practices.

 •  Regular monitoring and decision-making by the 
environmental sustainability steering committee
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To be a leader within the hospitality sector in 
environmentally sustainable business practices.

By clearly understanding the impact our business 
has on the environment, we are able to change 
the way we operate, and in so doing have a 
positive influence on our planet and its 
sustainability over the short, medium and long 
term. 

 • Increased awareness of environment issues
 • Understanding of the group’s impact on the 

environment
 • Reduced energy and water consumption
 • Minimisation and recycling of waste

 • CO2 footprint
 • Recognised sustainability 

certification
 • Consumption per room 

sold

14.  Reliance on IT 
infrastructure

As a result of the wide distribution of our hotels throughout sub-Saharan Africa, we have an 
established IT infrastructure in order to support our operations. Our hotels are reliant on this 
infrastructure daily in order to perform optimally and securely.

 •  Continuous upgrading and maintenance of IT infrastructure
 •  Implementation of a detailed disaster recovery plan
 • Making use of third-party hosting facilities
 • Regular reviews and updates to IT security infrastructure
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To maintain and implement an innovative 
technology platform.

By remaining aware of current trends and 
introducing innovative IT services to enhance 
our guests’ experiences and drive efficiency.

 • Increased innovation
 • Enhanced guest satisfaction
 • Streamlined processes
 • Secure data and infrastructure

 • Results from reviews and 
testing

 • Guest satisfaction survey %

15.  Changing needs 
of the business 
traveller

Technological advancements result in changing guest expectations, which place additional reliance 
on the IT infrastructure and require the group to be innovative in its offering and refurbishments. 

 •  Dedicated resources engage internally to assess and 
implement new projects

16.  Perception of brand 
and service 
offerings

City Lodge has been offering a consistently good product since its inception. As a result of the 
new capacity created in the industry, consumers are spoilt for choice and may perceive the brand 
unfavourably given its relative age and due to a lack of understanding thereof. Further, the direction 
of the marketing campaigns may influence consumer perceptions. 

 •  A targeted marketing and sales strategy to educate guests 
about the various brand offerings

 •  Regular market research is conducted to understand the 
views and needs of travellers, which informs future 
decision-making

 •  Engaging external specialist branding and marketing 
consultants and keeping up with current consumer trends
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To continue embedding our refreshed brands, 
and realise growing benefits from a channel 
marketing strategy.

The refreshed brand identity will continue to 
result in a shift in the level of awareness and 
perception of our brands among current and 
future guests, demonstrating how the 
experience of our product has kept up with 
market trends.

 •  Improved level of awareness of the group’s brands
 •  Increased level of differentiation of the group’s 

offering
 •  Improved digital and social media presence
 •  Increased occupancy

 •  Level of brand awareness
 •  Digital presence
 •  Occupancy %

17.  Fair remuneration 
philosophy

 

There is a global trend towards evaluating income disparity within an organisation and 
benchmarking these to similar industry participants. Further, the introduction of a pay-for-
performance culture aligns employee interests with those of shareholders. 

 •  Extensive evaluation conducted by external specialists
 •  Monitoring and implementation of remuneration philosophy 

is a function of the remuneration committee

18.  Legislative changes 
and compliance 
with laws and 
regulations 

Compliance with new and changing legislation.  •  Continuous monitoring of legislative changes affecting the 
industry and providing commentary when requested to do so

 • Dedicated legal and compliance function
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 • Spacious air-conditioned room 
with queen-sized bed or twin 
beds

 • Television with M-Net and 
selected DStv channels

 • Bathroom with bath and 
separate shower or maxi-shower

 •   Tea and coffee-making facilities
 • Rooms with sleeper-sofa 
available at selected hotels on 
request

 • Electronic safe large enough 
to accommodate a laptop

 • Desk with lighting and plugs 
for easy connectivity

 • Plush duvets with cotton-rich 
percale linen

 • Internet area
 •    Mini-gym
 •   Boardroom
 •    Convenient locations, close to 
major routes

 • Full English and continental 
breakfast daily

 •  24-hour reception and check-in
 • Sundowner bar
 • 24-hour vending machines stocked 
with snacks and cold beverage 
items

 • Same-day laundry and dry-cleaning 
service

 • Sparkling swimming pool
 •  Free and convenient parking
 •  Free WiFi

 • Bloemfontein
 • Cape Town (GrandWest, Pinelands, 
V&A Waterfront)

 • Durban (Central, Umhlanga Ridge)
 •  Johannesburg (Airport – Barbara 
Road, Bryanston, Fourways, 
Newtown, OR Tambo Airport, 
Sandton – Katherine Street, 
Sandton – Morningside, 
Waterfall City)

 •  Port Elizabeth
 • Tshwane (Hatfield, Lynnwood)
 • Nairobi, Kenya

 •  Spacious rooms with various-
sized beds

 • Television with satellite TV
 • Bathroom with bath and/or 
separate showers

 • Irons and ironing boards
 • Tea and coffee-making facilities
 • Electronic safe large enough to 
accommodate a laptop

 • Desk with lighting and plugs 
for easy connectivity

 • Gym
 • Boardrooms and conference 
facilities

 • Convenient location
 • Full English and continental 
breakfast daily

 • 24-hour reception and check-in
 •  Sundowner bar
 •  A number of onsite restaurants 
and cafés

 • Same-day laundry and dry-
cleaning service

 • Sparkling swimming pool
 • Free and convenient parking
 • Free WiFi

 •  Nairobi, Kenya

 • Studio, one or two-bedroom 
luxury air-conditioned rooms

 •  Well-appointed bathroom(s)
 •   Fully equipped kitchenette
 • Personal electronic safe in 
each room (big enough 
for laptops)

 •   International direct-dial 
telephone

 • Television with M-Net and 
selected DStv channels

 • Cotton-rich percale linen
 • Tea and coffee-making facilities

 • Intimate lounge area
 • Club lounge evening light meal 

offering
 •   24-hour enhanced security
 •   Free, secure parking just metres from 

your door
 •  An elegant boardroom for guest use
 •   Personal use of guest office and 

internet
 •  Sparkling pool in landscaped garden 

setting
 •   Full English and continental breakfast 

daily
 • In-room dining by arrangement with 

local restaurants
 • Same-day laundry and dry-cleaning 

service
 • 24-hour launderette
 • Personalised food shopping service
 • Free WiFi

 • Johannesburg (Eastgate, 
Rosebank, Sandton)

 • Port Elizabeth
 • Tshwane (Arcadia)

OUR SERVICES CURRENT LOCATIONSOUR ROOMS

OUR BRAND OVERVIEW
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OUR SERVICES CURRENT LOCATIONSOUR ROOMS

 • Spacious air-conditioned room 
with double or twin beds

 •  Television with M-Net and 
selected DStv channels

 • Interleading family rooms 
available

 • En-suite bathroom with 
maxi-shower

 • Tea and coffee-making facilities
 • Desk with lighting and plugs for 
easy connectivity

 • Electronic safe large enough to 
accommodate a laptop

 • Convenient locations, close to 
major routes

 • Free, easy and secure parking
 • 24-hour reception and check-in
 • Full English and continental 
breakfast daily 

 • Sundowner bar
 •  24-hour vending machine for 
snacks and beverages 

 • Same-day laundry and  
dry-cleaning service

 • Free WiFi

 •  Bellville
 • George
 •  Johannesburg (Johannesburg 
Airport, Midrand, Roodepoort, 
Sandton – Grayston Drive)

 • Mbombela
 • Polokwane
 • Port Elizabeth
 • Tshwane (Menlo Park)
 • Gaborone, Botswana
 • Nairobi, Kenya
 • Windhoek, Namibia

 • Fully carpeted and air-
conditioned

 •  Television with M-Net and 
selected DStv channels

 • Working desk
 •  En-suite bathroom with shower, 
toilet and hand basin

 •  Rooms with double or twin 
beds, with single sleeper chair 
available in selected rooms

 • A light breakfast is available daily
 • 24-hour vending machines 
stocked with snacks and 
beverages

 •    Free, ample and secure parking
 •    24-hour reception service and 
check-in

 • Free WiFi

 • Bloemfontein Airport
 • Cape Town (N1 City, Cape Town 
International Airport)

 • Centurion
 •   Durban (Central, Umhlanga Ridge)
 •   East London
 •  Johannesburg (Carnival City, 
Germiston, Isando, Johannesburg 
Airport, Randburg, Rivonia, 
Southgate)

 • Kimberley
 •  Mbombela
 • Pietermaritzburg
 •  Port Elizabeth (Port Elizabeth 
Airport, Summerstrand)

 •    Potchefstroom
 •  Richards Bay
 •  Rustenburg
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A TRAVELLER ’S 
OASIS

1 hotel
127 rooms

Apart from comfortable rooms and 
apartments, the hotel also offers 
conferencing, a wine bar, a 
swimming pool and excellent 
dining facilities for all meals.
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OUR BRAND OVERVIEW CONTINUED
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Each of our five Courtyard Hotels has 
its own distinct character and 
personality, but each also has the 
same goal – to provide guests with 
an excellent accommodation 
experience in an elegant 
environment.

SUPERIOR 
SERVICE, 
IMPECCABLE 
STYLE
5 hotels
381 rooms
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OUR BRAND OVERVIEW CONTINUED

 



Spacious en-suite bedrooms and 
inviting swimming pools, they have 
all that guests need to enjoy a 
home-away-from-home experience 
in outstanding locations with ample 
safe parking.

IDEAL FOR 
BUSINESS  
OR LEISURE
18 hotels
3 173 rooms
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CONVENIENCE  
WITH A SMILE

Town Lodges offer affordable  
accommodation in convenient 
locations.

13 hotels
1 650 rooms
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OUR BRAND OVERVIEW CONTINUED
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IDEAL FOR 
BUSINESS 
AND LEISURE 
TRAVELLERS

Superbly located for budget-
conscious business and leisure 
travellers, Road Lodges provide 
incredible value for money without 
scrimping on quality.

22 hotels
2 059 rooms

 



BULELANI  
NGCUKA  64

FRANK  
KILBOURN  57

GEORGE GIDEON 
(DEON) HUYSAMER  55

SIZAKELE  
MARUTLULLE  49 

NDUMI  
MEDUPE  47

BProc, LLB, MA (Webster 
University, Geneva, 
Switzerland)

BCom, LLB, BA Honours 
(Philosophy, cum laude),  
HDip (Tax), LLM  LLB MA (Sociology) Chartered Accountant (SA)

Appointed to the board  
in 2008

Appointed to the board  
in 1996

Appointed to the board  
in 2015

Appointed to the board  
in 2016

Appointed to the board  
in 2006

Skills and expertise 
Legal and general business 
expertise

Serves on the boards of the  
following listed companies:
CSG Holdings Limited 
(chairman)

Other: 
Vuwa Investments  
Proprietary Limited
Buildmax Proprietary Limited
Menzies Aviation  
(South Africa)  
Proprietary Limited
Amadlelo Agri  
Proprietary Limited
BetterGroup Limited
Leapfrog Property Group 
Proprietary Limited

Skills and expertise
Areas of expertise include 
legal, finance, corporate 
finance, private equity, venture 
capital, empowerment, 
investment, mining                
and tourism

Serves on the boards of  
the following companies:
Bright Resources Investments  
Proprietary Limited
Manganese Metal Company  
Proprietary Limited
Strauss & Co (executive 
chairman)

Skills and expertise 
Areas of expertise include legal, 
tourism, management and  
management consulting,  
corporate finance, consulting, 
investment analysis,  
stockbroking and wealth  
management

Serves on the boards of  
the following companies:
Brand South Africa
MAD Charity and Children’s 
Eco Training
Member of Executive  
Committee of the Klaserie  
Private Nature Reserve

Skills and expertise 
Areas of expertise include  
brand communication and 
business leadership

Serves on the board of the 
following company:
Automotive Association of 
South Africa

Skills and expertise 
Areas of expertise include 
audit, risk, governance and 
financial management

Serves on the boards of the 
following companies:
Nexia SAB&T 
Alviva Holdings Limited
Italtile Limited
Cargo Carriers Limited
Etion Limited

Committee member: Committee member: Committee member: Committee member: Committee member:

  ❂ ✪ ✦ ✪ ❂ ✪ ❂ ✪ ✦

LEAD INDEPENDENTCHAIRMAN

WHO GOVERNS US
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✷ Executive director

✪  Independent non-executive

 By invitation – audit committee

  By invitation – remuneration and nomination committee

✼ Kenyan

Committee members key: 

❂ Member of audit committee
✱  Member of executive committee
  Member of remuneration and nominations committee
❖  Member of social and ethics committee
✦  Member of risk committee

STUART  
MORRIS  72

VINCENT  
RAGUE  65 

CLIFFORD  
ROSS  61 

KEITH  
SHONGWE  54 

ANDREW  
WIDEGGER  52

BCom, Chartered  
Accountant (SA)

BA Honours (Economics 
and Statistics)

Dip (Hotel Management), 
Advanced Management 
Programme (Cornell) BSc, MBChB Chartered Accountant (SA)

Appointed to the board  
in 2006

Appointed to the board  
in 2016

Appointed to the board in 1991 
and retired in 2018

Appointed to the board  
in 2002

Appointed to the board 
 in 1994

Skills and expertise 
Areas of expertise include 
strategy, finance, audit, risk, 
accounting, tax, compliance, 
human resources and general 
management

Serves on the boards of the 
following entities:
Bryte Africa Group  
Limited 
Rolex Watch (South Africa)  
Proprietary Limited
Epoch Two Trust

Skills and expertise 
Areas of expertise include  
banking, investment, project 
and corporate finance

Serves on the boards of the 
following companies:
Catalyst Principal Partners, 
Financial Sector  
Deepening Africa
Pan-Africa Infrastructure 
Development Funds
Jambojet

Skills and expertise 
Areas of expertise include  
strategy, management and  
operations within the hotel 
industry

Serves on the following 
tourism boards:
Tourism Business Council  
of South Africa
Federated Hospitality 
Association of Southern Africa
Tourism Enterprise Partnership
STH – UJ School of Tourism and 
Hospitality

Skills and expertise 
Areas of expertise include 
business development, 
consulting, management, 
technology, project 
management and healthcare

Skills and expertise 
Areas of expertise include 
accounting, finance and  
management, property  
development and operations 
within the hotel industry

Committee member: Committee member: Committee member: Committee member: Committee member:

❂ ✦ ✪  ✼ ✦ ✪ ❖ ✦ ✱ ✷  ◆ ✦ ❖ ✪ ❖ ✦ ✱  ✷
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WHO LEADS US

CLIFFORD  
ROSS  61 

ANDREW  
WIDEGGER  52

TONY  
BALABANOFF  
58

ALASTAIR  
DOOLEY  39

ZUKI  
JANTJIES  47

MARCEL  
KOBILSKI  54

Dip (Hospitality 
Management),  
Advanced 
Management 
Programme (Cornell)

Chartered  
Accountant (SA)

BTech (Hospitality 
Management),  
Advanced 
Management 
Programme (Cornell)

Chartered  
Accountant (SA)

HNDip Business and 
Finance (Nottingham 
Trent University), BA 
Honours (Business 
Studies)

Dip (Hospitality 
Management), BBA

31 years with the 
company

25 years with the 
company

32 years with the 
company

Nine years with the 
company Appointed in 2018

22 years with the 
company

Committee member: Committee member: Committee member: Committee member: Committee member: Committee member:

❖  ✦   ✷ ◆ ✱ ❖ ✦ ✱  ✷ ✦ ✦ ✷ ✦ ✦ ✱
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER  
DESIGNATE
previously  
financial  
director

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
(retired)

CHIEF FINANCIAL 
OFFICER  
DESIGNATE
previously  
divisional director  
financial  

DIVISIONAL  
DIRECTOR  
operations 

DIVISIONAL  
DIRECTOR  
human  
resources

DIVISIONAL  
DIRECTOR  
sales and 
marketing

 



  

NAYNESH 
PARBHOO  45

ROSS
PHINN  47

PATRICK
TATE  62

RYAN
RUTHVEN  39

LINDIWE  
SIDDO  51

MELANIE VAN 
HEERDEN  42

Chartered  
Accountant (SA) Dip (Hotel Management) Dip (Hotel Management) 

BCom Honours 
(Informatics) CISA

Dip (Hotel Management), 
BSc (Penn State 
University) BCom LLB

20 years with the 
company

21 years with the 
company

30 years with the 
company

Five years with the 
company

Three years with the 
company

13 years with the 
company

Committee member: Committee member: Committee member: Committee member: Committee member: Committee member:

✦ ✦ ✦ ✦ ✦ ✦

Committee members key: 
✦  Member of executive committee

❖ Member of social and ethics committee

✱ Member of risk committee

 Executive director

✷  By invitation – audit committee

◆  By invitation – remuneration and nominations committee
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DIVISIONAL  
DIRECTOR  
operations

DIVISIONAL  
DIRECTOR  
operations

CHIEF OPERATING 
OFFICER DESIGNATE 
previously  
divisional director 
operations

DIVISIONAL  
DIRECTOR  
IT 

DIVISIONAL  
DIRECTOR   
accounting

GROUP COMPANY 
SECRETARY
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEW

B T Ngcuka – 
Chairman

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEW

Link to City Lodge’s Linkedin profile:
http://www.linkedin.com/company/citylodge

A C WIDEGGER
Chief executive officer

Link to City Lodge’s Facebook page:
http://www.facebook.com/company/citylodge

B T NGCUKA
Chairman
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With effect from 1 July, Andrew Widegger, 
previously financial director, took over 
from Clifford in the newly titled role of 
chief executive officer under a revamped 
operational structure. This provides our 
group with significant continuity as Andrew 
has been a City Lodger since 1993 and was 
financial director from 1994. During this 
time, he worked very closely with both 
Hans and Clifford at a strategic level, and 
is thus well equipped for his new role.

Our previous divisional director: financial, 
Alastair Dooley, took over Andrew’s 
previous role in the newly titled position 
of chief financial officer. Alastair has been 
with the group since 2009, providing 
additional continuity in two of the 
executive director positions.

An exciting part of the new executive team 
was the promotion of Lindiwe Siddo, who 
joined the group in 2015 as a divisional 
director: operations, to the newly created 
position of chief operating officer. She has 
also joined the board of directors.

Further streamlining of our operations has 
also seen the appointment of two new 
general managers: operations – one to 
oversee our east African operations and 
one to focus on our South African 
operations. This helps to sharpen our 
emphasis on running our integrated 
operations as efficiently and as effectively 
as possible. 
 

Being able to adapt to 
various changes is one 
of the hallmarks of a 
dynamic, responsive 

and sustainable 
organisation.

Our executive team is working together to 
galvanise a fresh vision for our group and a 
strategy is being developed to deliver on 
this on a sustainable basis. As part of our 
highly successful and longstanding 
commitment to service excellence, we are 
devising an exciting new programme that 
will focus entirely on the experience which 
all our stakeholders have when dealing 
with us. An important component will be 
an enhanced reward and recognition 
programme for our employees.

There is genuine excitement about our 
future prospects and the important role 
our group can play in providing world-class 
accommodation and related services, and 
growing the economies of the countries in 
which we operate. 

DEAR STAKEHOLDER
The past financial year was certainly one 
of major change for our group, adding 
credence to the term that in the fast-
moving 21st century “the only constant 
is change”.

Being able to adapt to various changes 
is one of the hallmarks of a dynamic, 
responsive and sustainable organisation, 
so we are justifiably proud of our ability to 
embrace change in all of its guises, 
whether they be internally or externally 
focused.

The biggest change that occurred in our 
group during the year was the stepping 
down of our longstanding chief executive, 
Clifford Ross, due to ill health at the end 
of June. At the helm since 2003, when he 
took over the chief executive role from 
group founder Hans Enderle, he was also 
one of our group’s longest serving 
employees, having started his illustrious 
City Lodge career in 1987, two years after 
the group was established.

Clifford played a huge role in guiding our 
group through growing and maintaining 
its strong profile in South Africa and 
expanding its footprint in targeted parts 
of east Africa and southern Africa. Like 
Hans Enderle before him, he has left an 
enduring legacy on which our group can 
build a very bright future. Our group 
is sincerely grateful to him for all his 
commitment and dedication spanning 
more than three decades and wish him 
all the very best in his future endeavours. 

VALUE FOR ALL OUR 
STAKEHOLDERS
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEW CONTINUED

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
Average occupancies at the group’s 
operations decreased by four percentage 
points to 59% in the year to 30 June 2018.

In South Africa, occupancies declined to 
61% from 63% as trading conditions 
continued to be impacted by low business 
and consumer confidence. Expectations 
following new leadership in the ruling 
party have not yet translated into higher 
levels of economic activity. The anxiety 
caused due to a lack of clarity on the 
policy for land expropriation without 
compensation, further impacts investor 
confidence.

Occupancies were also impacted by the 
Day Zero water campaign in the drought-
affected greater Cape Town area which 
caused some travellers to cancel or 
shorten their stays. In general, across the 
country, the length of business travel stays 
has been shortened, partly due to 
budgetary constraints.

Botswana occupancies were in line with 
the prior year, but Kenya occupancies were 
markedly weaker over the year due to the 
re-run of the country’s elections and an 
overhang of hotel accommodation supply 
in Nairobi. There were, however, 
encouraging signs of recovery in the 
second half of the year. 

The 151-room Town Lodge Windhoek 
opened towards the end of 2017. The first 
few months of trading have been slow, 
reflecting the economic recession in 
Namibia.

Group revenue for the year dropped by 
1,0% to R1,5 billion. Against the backdrop 
of lower occupancies and increased levels 
of discounting in the industry, room rates 
reflected below inflation increases. 

On a normalised basis, total operating 
costs increased by 3,8%, while the 
headline EBITDA margin decreased by 
2,8% points to 37,8% resulting in headline 
EBITDA decreasing by 8,2% to 
R566,0 million. Depreciation and 
amortisation rose by 2,4%, interest 
income was R2,6 million lower and 
interest expense was R13,3 million lower 
as a result of borrowing costs being 
capitalised during construction activities.

Normalised headline profit before tax 
decreased by 8,4% to R458,9 million while 
normalised headline earnings decreased 
by 8,6% to R331,1 million. Normalised 
diluted headline earnings per share were 
down by 8,8% to 760,6 cents. 

The process of obtaining approval from 
the Kenya Revenue Authority for the 
Investment Deduction tax allowance on 
the development of City Lodge Hotel 
at Two Rivers Mall in Nairobi, has 
commenced. This will lead to a zero 
normal tax charge for the entire Kenyan 
operation, including Fairview and Town 
Lodge, until such time as the allowance is 
fully utilised. The application is based on 
a claim of 150% of the cost incurred, 
however, only a 100% claim was accounted 
for until it is finally approved. There is 
therefore a cash flow benefit due to the 
suspension of normal tax payments, until 
such time as the allowance is fully utilised.

GROWING OUR FOOTPRINT IN 
EAST AFRICA, SOUTHERN AFRICA 
AND SOUTH AFRICA
The 171-room City Lodge Hotel at Two 
Rivers Mall in Nairobi, which opened its 
first 104 rooms in early 2018, opened its 
remaining 67 rooms in September.

The 147-room City Lodge Hotel Dar es 
Salaam is expected to open by the end 
of October and the 148-room City Lodge 
Hotel Maputo is scheduled to open 
before the end of 2018. 

In South Africa, the expansion of the City 
Lodge Hotel at OR Tambo International 
Airport has been completed. The first 39 of 
62 additional rooms – increasing capacity 
to 365 rooms – were opened in the last 
week of June and the remaining rooms 
were opened in September. Construction 
is under way on the development of the 
154-room Town Lodge Umhlanga Ridge, 
with an estimated completion in August 
2019, and final approvals are awaited for 
the development of the 90-room Road 
Lodge Polokwane.

Once all these hotels are fully operational, 
the group will offer 7 991 rooms at 
63 hotels in six countries in east Africa, 
southern Africa and South Africa.
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Some of our HR highlights in the 2018 
financial year were the promotion of 
28 staff members, including one general 
manager from our Accelerated 
Development and Deployment 
Programme, through internal 
development.

An impressive total of 15 631 training 
interventions were attended by staff, 
while 144 employees are working 
towards attaining their City and Guilds 
qualifications in various disciplines from 
skills programmes up to advanced 
diploma-level qualifications.

MAINTAINING AND ADVANCING 
OUR TECHNOLOGY EDGE
Technology, in its various forms, continues 
to be a major enabling factor within our 
group, but also a very important interface 
for doing business and meeting the 
communications needs of our guests.
Our investment into technology platforms 
continued during the year with a 
significant focus on stabilising the existing 
environment and resources for our 
expansion beyond South Africa, while 
piloting a number of new platforms for 
future consideration. 

These initiatives include:
 • Introduction of enhanced technology 
services for guests and staff

 − Our new hotels in Kenya and Namibia 
provided the ideal opportunity to 
adopt new technologies, providing 
our guests with a richer experience. 
These include larger in-room TVs 

hosted on an Internet Protocol (“IP”) 
basis, allowing for broader channel 
selection, optimal picture quality and 
advanced interactive TVs. Responses 
from our guests have been extremely 
positive and we will continue to invest 
in this service during refurbishments 
of our existing hotels and the 
development of new ones. Legacy 
telephone systems are also being 
replaced by IP telephony.

 • Extension of our guest WiFi and fibre 
contract 

 −  This is based on positive responses 
from our guests over the past three 
years providing the platform from 
which to embrace further 
technologies, such as WiFi calling, 
TV casting and streaming capabilities, 
which we continue to investigate.

 •  Introduction of a mobility platform for 
our guests 

 −  We continue to look into further 
enhancing the guest experience by 
enabling guests to make greater use 
of their mobile devices to interact 
with us.

Since launching our “Lodgix” Property 
Management System and “Rewards” 
loyalty system over the past few years, we 
have also been able to develop our own 
enhanced analytics capability. A new 
Business Intelligence tool has been 
introduced and is being enhanced to 
improve decision-making and proactive 
management in various aspects of our 
business.

In line with the group’s established policy 
of paying out 60% of normalised headline 
earnings, adjusted for unrealised foreign 
exchange gains and losses, a final dividend 
of R2,01 was declared, bringing the total 
dividend for the year to R4,54, which is a 
decrease of 9,2% on the previous year.

On 6 July 2018, the Central Bank of Kenya 
(“CBK”) announced that SBM Bank (Kenya) 
had commenced with the acquisition of 
certain assets and the assumption of 
certain liabilities of Chase Bank Kenya in 
receivership, in line with its announcement 
on 17 April 2018. It also announced that 
this process would be completed by 
17 August 2018. The announcement did 
not, however, give an indication as to when 
the funds held in the bank would become 
available to depositors, although funds 
were made available later in the month. 
No further adjustments were made to the 
impairment previously recognised due to 
the lack of certainty around the timing 
thereof, which given recent developments 
will now be reconsidered in the new year. 

CONTINUING TO DEVELOP 
OUR PEOPLE
As our group is so heavily dependent on its 
people for its ongoing development and 
success, it is extremely gratifying to note 
the ongoing achievements and progress 
guided by our human resources (“HR”) 
department which is fully focused on 
developing individuals whose skills can 
benefit our group and the broader 
economy.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEW 
CONTINUED

SALES AND MARKETING PROVE 
THEIR WORTH
As a growing group in a competitive 
environment, sales and marketing activities 
continue to be important support drivers 
for our business.

It is gratifying to note that social media 
interaction with our guests is increasing 
and that we are attracting more followers 
on our chosen platforms. Online booking 
channels are also increasing in importance 
across our brands.

Brand tracking has become an important 
tool for us to be able to assess our 
strengths and weaknesses and where gaps 
may need to be filled in our product and 
service delivery strategies. Our innovative 
Bid2Stay online auction facility has been 
refreshed, making it more attractive to 
potential users.

In our sales department, we have moved 
to more full-time personnel, 
complemented by some part-time 
positions. From a marketing point of view, 
we have implemented some carefully 
targeted radio and outdoor advertising 
campaigns (some of which are included in 
this report) to increase awareness of our 
brands and the features and benefits they 
offer to guests.

OUTLOOK
Our 34th year of operations started with a 
continuation of the soft trend experienced 
in the 2018 financial year. Within South 
Africa, it is unlikely that there will be a 
meaningful change in consumer and 
business sentiment and confidence until 
after the country has held its general 
election, which is likely to take place in the 
second quarter of 2019. The outlook for 
our hotels located outside of South Africa 
has shown encouraging signs of 
improvement and the group will benefit 
from the opening of our new hotels in 
Kenya, Tanzania and Mozambique.

THANKS
Our thanks once again go to each and 
every one of the special stakeholders who 
have helped us to continue achieving our 
aim of providing quality accommodation 
and services for business and leisure 
travellers from South Africa, elsewhere in 
Africa and around the world. These of 
course include those two very important 
sets of people – our staff and our guests – 
as well as our board, our suppliers, our 
shareholders and the communities in 
which we operate.  
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SEVEN-YEAR FINANCIAL REVIEW

The information provided in this seven-year financial review is considered to include pro forma financial information under the Listings 
Requirements. It is prepared for the purpose of presenting the group’s sustainable earnings history and is for illustrative purposes only. This 
information is the responsibility of the company's directors. Due to its nature, the information provided may not fairly present the financial 
position, changes in equity or results of operations or cash flows. The reporting accountant has provided assurance on the pro forma 
information and the report is available for inspection at the issuer's registered office.

R’m
Reported

2018

Norm-
alised 

adjust-
ments*

Norm-
alised
2018

Normalised

2017  2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Consolidated normalised 
statements of profit and loss
Revenue 1 498,4 – 1 498,4 1 520,4 1 493,2 1 303,1 1 062,8 975,9 875,8

EBITDA 572,7 15,3 588,0 616,4 624,8 547,1 438,2 407,6 368,9
Depreciation and amortisation (105,2) – (105,2) (102,8) (96,4) (86,4) (78,4) (79,0) (78,4)

Operating profit 467,5 15,3 482,8 513,6 528,4 460,7 359,8 328,6 290,5
Net interest (expense)/income (59,8) 57,9 (1,9) (12,6) (16,4) (6,2) 3,3 (5,5) (9,0)
Fair value gain on 
remeasurement of investment 
in joint venture – – – – – 60,0 44,7 – –
Income/(loss) from joint 
ventures – – – – – 1,6 21,3 16,0 (0,1)

Profit before taxation 407,7 73,2 480,9 501,0 512,0 516,1 429,1 339,1 281,4
Taxation (128,3) (4,5) (132,8) (139,0) (138,2) (123,6) (102,2) (86,8) (89,6)

Profit for the year 279,4 68,7 348,1 362,0 373,8 392,5 326,9 252,3 191,8
Determination of normalised 
headline earnings
Normalised profit for the year 279,4 68,7 348,1 362,0 373,8 392,5 326,9 252,3 191,8
Fair value gain on 
remeasurement of investment 
in joint venture – – – – – (60,0) (44,7) – –
Gain on bargain purchase – – – – – – (0,6) – –
(Profit)/loss on sale of 
equipment (21,9) – (21,9) 0,3 (0,2) (0,7) – (0,2) (0,1)
Taxation effect 4,9 – 4,9 (0,1) 0,1 0,3 – 0,1 –

Headline earnings 262,4 68,7 331,1 362,2 373,7 332,1 281,6 252,2 191,7

Number of shares for 
normalised EPS calculations*
Undiluted weighted average 36 543 – 36 543 36 448
BEE shares treated as treasury 
shares – 6 390 6 390 6 390
10th anniversary employees’ 
share trust treated as treasury 
shares – 509 509 509
Normalised undiluted weighted 
average 36 543 6 899 43 442 43 347
Restricted share plan 86 – 86 88
Share appreciation rights – – – 12

Normalised diluted weighted 
average 36 629 6 899 43 528 43 447

* Refer to note 21 on page 150 for more detailed information on the normalised adjustments.
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R’m
Reported

2018

Norm-
alised 

adjust-
ments

Norm-
alised
2018

Normalised

2017  2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
Consolidated normalised 
statements of financial 
position
ASSETS
Non-current assets 2 352,7 32,3 2 385,0 2 010,9 1 929,4 1 809,2 1 535,7 1 295,3 1 149,8
Property, plant and equipment 2 285,4 – 2 285,4 1 917,0 1 844,1 1 740,2 1 453,8 1 068,6 1 092,5
Intangible assets and goodwill 54,7 – 54,7 50,5 45,6 32,6 15,3 – –
Investments and loans 0,2 34,0 34,2 34,2 34,0 31,7 63,0 222,6 54,3
Deferred taxation 12,4 (1,7) 10,7 9,2 5,7 4,7 3,6 4,1 3,0
Current assets 333,0 29,7 362,7 394,8 305,2 221,1 175,7 75,5 142,6

Total assets 2 685,7 62,0 2 747,7 2 405,7 2 234,6 2 030,3 1 711,4 1 370,8 1 292,4

EQUITY
Total shareholders’ funds 1 057,8 811,1 1 868,9 1 711,5 1 607,7 1 439,8 1 238,1 1 051,9 915,2
Share capital and premium 179,5 – 179,5 179,4 168,0 164,0 158,3 154,7 148,8
Incentive scheme shares (525,0) 504,7 (20,3) (22,0) (19,5) (11,0) (22,1) (17,1) (17,1)
Reserves 1 403,3 306,4 1 709,7 1 554,1 1 459,2 1 286,8 1 101,9 914,3 783,5
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities 1 446,6 (745,2) 701,4 549,0 497,9 470,7 376,2 181,8 166,2
Interest-bearing borrowings 450,0 – 450,0 320,0 270,0 250,0 185,0 – –
BEE interest-bearing borrowings 44,1 (44,1) – – – – – – –
BEE preference shares 367,6 (367,6) – – – – – – –
BEE shareholders loan 50,0 (50,0) – – – – – – –
BEE B preference dividend actual 273,5 (273,5) – – – – – – –
Other non-current liabilities 86,3 – 86,3 89,6 102,2 113,4 105,9 113,0 94,6
Deferred taxation 175,1 (10,0) 165,1 139,4 125,7 107,3 85,3 68,8 71,6
Current liabilities 181,3 (3,9) 177,4 145,2 129,0 119,8 97,1 137,1 211,0

Total equity and liabilities 2 685,7 62,0 2 747,7 2 405,7 2 234,6 2 030,3 1 711,4 1 370,8 1 292,4
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2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Ordinary share performance
Shares in issue 000 43 574 43 572 43 407 43 347 43 221 43 123 42 989
Normalised weighted average shares 
in issue 000 43 442 43 347 43 226 43 168 42 875 42 818 42 827
Normalised earnings per share cents 798,9 830,8 861,2 896,2 756,3 585,0 446,1
Normalised headline earnings per share cents 762,1 835,5 864,5 769,2 656,8 588,9 447,5
Normalised diluted headline earnings 
per share cents 760,6 833,6 859,9 759,9 643,1 578,3 442,8
Dividends per share cents 454,0 500,0 517,0 460,0 391,0 351,0 268,0
Normalised dividend cover times 1,7 1,7 1,7 1,7 1,7 1,7 1,7
Normalised net asset value per share cents 4 289 3 928 3 704 3 322 2 865 2 439 2 129
Normalised tangible asset value per 
share cents 6 180 5 405 5 043 4 609 3 924 3 179 3 006
Normalised net operating cash flow 
per share cents 1 078,3 1 107,2 1 172,5 935,6 797,7 815,2 682,9
Profitability and liquidity (normalised)
EBITDA margin % 39,2 40,5 41,9 42,0 41,2 41,8 42,1
EBITDAR margin % 46,3 46,8 47,5 47,7 48,0 48,4 49,0
Operating margin % 32,0 33,8 35,4 35,4 33,9 33,7 33,2
Effective tax rate % 27,2 27,7 27,0 24,0 23,8 25,6 31,9
Return on equity % 18,5 21,8 24,5 24,8 24,6 25,6 21,8
Interest-bearing debt to total 
shareholders’ funds % 24,1 18,7 16,8 17,4 14,9 3,3 13,7
Current ratio :1 2,0 2,7 2,4 1,9 1,8 0,6 0,7
Stock exchange performance
Market price per ordinary share
– Closing Rand 141,82 140,13 155,52 138,99 127,00 120,00 84,95
– Highest Rand 178,50 175,99 173,00 159,00 143,01 134,00  90,00
– Lowest Rand 114,96 132,01 129,00 112,01 107,33 78,00 57,51
Total market capitalisation R’m 6 180 6 106 6 751 6 025 5 489 5 175 3 652
Normalised fully diluted closing  
price-earnings multiple times 18,7 16,8 18,1 18,3 19,8 20,8 19,2
Volume traded
– Ordinary shares 000 17 795 10 251 9 217 14 162 9 397 10 531 13 517
Other
Number of hotels at year-end 59 57 57 55 54 55 52
Number of rooms at year-end 7 391 7 072 7 072 6 834 6 685 6 755 6 440
Group average occupancy % 59 63 66 67 63 62 59
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DEFINITIONS 
Normalised headline earnings
Headline earnings adjusted for the effects of transactions relating 
to BEE or those of a non-recurring/core nature.

Normalised headline earnings per share
Normalised headline earnings divided by the normalised 
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue.

Normalised diluted headline earnings per share
Normalised headline earnings divided by the sum of the 
normalised weighted average number of ordinary shares 
in issue and any outstanding share options in issue.

Normalised earnings per share
Normalised earnings divided by the normalised weighted average 
number of ordinary shares in issue.

Dividend cover
Normalised diluted headline earnings per share divided by 
dividends declared per share.

Normalised tangible asset value per share
Total normalised assets, excluding intangible assets and goodwill 
divided by the number of ordinary shares in issue at the year-end.

Normalised net asset value per share
Total normalised shareholders’ funds divided by the number of 
ordinary shares in issue at the year-end.

Normalised net operating cash flow per share
Net cash inflow from operating activities, before dividends, divided 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue.

EBITDA
Normalised earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and 
amortisation.

EBITDA margin
Normalised EBITDA expressed as a percentage of revenue.

EBITDAR 
Normalised earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation, 
amortisation and rental.

EBITDAR margin
Normalised EBITDAR expressed as a percentage of revenue.

Operating margin
Normalised operating profit expressed as a percentage of revenue.

Effective tax rate
Taxation per the normalised statement of profit and loss 
expressed as a percentage of normalised profit before taxation.

Return on equity
Normalised headline earnings attributable to ordinary 
shareholders expressed as a percentage of normalised average 
ordinary shareholders’ funds.

Interest-bearing debt to total shareholders’ funds
Normalised interest-bearing debt expressed as a percentage 
of total normalised shareholders’ funds.

Current ratio
Normalised current assets divided by normalised current liabilities.

 



City Lodge Hotel Group Integrated Report 2018
50

WWW.CLHG.COM

 



Fresh breakfast, lunch and dinner
at every location.

THIS IS NOT JUST A 
HEALTHY BREAKFAST, 
IT IS YOU AVOIDING THAT 
MID-MORNING GARAGE PIE.
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OUR CAPITALS REPORT

In order to maintain and grow a 
sustainable business for the future, we 
have deployed our various capitals in order 
to drive and generate superior returns for 
our various stakeholders. We believe that 
even though being a “guest centric” 
selected service hotel group for us would 
be presumed, that what really makes 
a difference is the way in which our 
passionate people deliver caring services 
to our guests with kindness. As a result, we 
have developed a base of loyal guests who 
have continued to stay with us over the 
past 33 years. It is with this in mind that we 
analyse our strategic achievements of the 
past year, and look to unpack how we will 
continue to deliver on our long-term 
sustainability to you, our providers of 
capital. 

FINANCIAL AND MANUFACTURED 
CAPITAL

CONSOLIDATION AFRICA
EXPANSION

ENVIRONMENTAL
SUSTAINABILITY

BRAND
IDENTITY

INFORMATION
TECHNOLOGY

TRANSFORMATION

Occupancy performance

The group achieved an average occupancy 
of 59% for the period compared to 63% in 
the prior year. In South Africa, occupancies 
decreased to 61% when compared to the 
prior year of 63%. The positive sentiment 
in the country in early 2018 did not 
translate into higher levels of business 
confidence, ultimately resulting in less 
corporate travel. The subsequent 
weakening of the currency, the value 
added tax (“VAT”) rate increase and rising 
inflation levels have placed further strain 
on the leisure consumer, resulting in 
weakening weekend occupancies. 

Following the extended drought conditions 
in the Western Cape, the region saw a 
decline in both domestic and international 
travellers. While the “Day Zero” campaign 

highlighted the importance of wise water 
usage, it resulted in travellers rethinking 
their travel plans to reduce their impact 
on the available water supply. 

Further afield, while economic conditions 
are slightly more favourable, the lingering 
impact of the Kenyan presidential election 
adversely affected achieved occupancies 
in the country. In Botswana, performance 
was largely in line with that of the prior 
year where mid-week trading is strong and 
similar trends are experienced to South 
Africa over weekends, while trading in 
Namibia remained soft at the newly 
opened Town Lodge Windhoek. Based on 
prior experience, a new hotel typically 
takes between 18 and 24 months from 
opening to reach more sustainable 
occupancy levels. 

Government travel in South Africa has 
seen a slight improvement following the 
February cabinet reshuffle and opening of 
the new budget year. Reservations from 
selected online travel agencies have 
increased in addition to the steady growth 
of the group’s own website reservations. 

The year ahead will continue to be a 
challenging one, as the performance of 
the South African economy is not expected 
to improve in the lead up to the general 
election in 2019. This is largely due to 
the lack of clarity on the policy for land 
expropriation without compensation and 
an economic environment where GDP 
growth of less than 1% is expected in 
the year ahead.

Average daily rates ("ADR")
The group has seen an improvement in 
current achieved room rates, albeit at 
levels below the current inflation rates. 
The consistent rates philosophy of the 
group over the long term results in more 
predictability for corporate travellers, 
with rate reviews taking place twice 
during the year.

In order to drive occupancy growth over 
weekends, the group has a number of 
special rates in place to encourage group 
and family travel. Participating in South 
African Tourism’s Sho’t Left campaign, 
encouraging South African’s to travel at 
home, further exposes our various hotel 
brands to new markets. Our unique 
auction website, www.bid2stay.co.za, 
allows guests to bid online for discounted 
accommodation and other benefits across 
our portfolio in South Africa. These rates 
are particularly competitive for the 
cost-conscious traveller. 

CONSOLIDATION AFRICA
EXPANSION

ENVIRONMENTAL
SUSTAINABILITY

BRAND
IDENTITY

INFORMATION
TECHNOLOGY

TRANSFORMATION

Expanding our footprint

Of the 62 additional rooms to be added to 
the flagship City Lodge at OR Tambo 
Airport, 39 rooms were opened in June 
2018, with the remaining 23 rooms 
completed in September 2018. 
Construction of the 154-room Town Lodge 
Umhlanga Ridge is currently underway, 
with the commencement of the 90-room 
Road Lodge Polokwane construction 
expected to take place following the 
receipt of final approvals to do so. 

The group fully opened its 147-room 
Town Lodge Windhoek, Namibia in 
November 2017, bringing its presence to 
four countries in Africa. The City Lodge 
Hotel Dar es Salaam and City Lodge Hotel 
Maputo are expected to open their doors 
before the end of 2018, bringing the group’s 
total number of rooms to 7 991, across six 
countries in east and southern Africa.

Future expansion
Investigations into opportunities in the 
rest of Africa continued during the course 
of the year with visits to a number of 
countries in Africa, in order to identify 
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suitable locations and investment 
opportunities. Where an opportunity was 
identified, a detailed feasibility was 
prepared taking into account a number of 
factors in order to assess the likelihood of 
a hotel’s success. This process is often a 
lengthy one, and may result in a significant 
amount of effort being lost if the parties 
are not able to reach satisfactory 
agreement on the terms.

It is anticipated that our non-South African 
hotel portfolio will comprise around 20% 
of our total number of rooms available and 
contribute 25% to 30% to our earnings 
once reaching operational maturity.

Keeping our hotels in great shape
Over the years, the group has followed 
a stringent refurbishment programme 
maintaining a high standard in the quality of 
our hotel product. This year saw a new look 
being rolled out into the City Lodge Hotel 
Durban, Town Lodge Johannesburg 
International Airport and Road Lodge 
Isando. In the year ahead, the City Lodge 
Hotel at OR Tambo will receive a minor 
update, with soft furnishing upgrades 
being undertaken at a number of Road 
Lodges in our portfolio. The upgrade to 
our Town Lodge brand hotels will also 
continue with another major refurbishment 
on the cards for this year at Town Lodge 
Menlo Park. 

Continuous focus on quality is maintained 
at all our hotels through our ongoing 
maintenance and minor refurbishment 
programmes.

CONSOLIDATION AFRICA
EXPANSION

ENVIRONMENTAL
SUSTAINABILITY

BRAND
IDENTITY

INFORMATION
TECHNOLOGY

TRANSFORMATION

Maintaining an innovative 
technology platform

The group continued to invest in its various 
technology platforms over the past year, 
with specific focus on stabilising the 

existing environment and resources to 
cater for our expansion beyond the 
borders of South Africa. A number of new 
initiatives were piloted to cater for the 
varying needs of each of our brands and 
their guests.

Introduction of enhanced technology 
services for guests and staff
Our new hotels in Kenya and Namibia 
provided the ideal opportunity to 
introduce newly available technology that 
would provide our guests with a richer 
experience within the property. These 
included larger in-room TVs, hosted on 
an Internet Protocol (“IP”) platform 
(otherwise known as IPTV), allowing for 
broader channel selection, optimal picture 
quality and advanced interactive TV. The 
response from our guests has been 
extremely positive, and the group will 
therefore continue to invest in this service 
during refurbishments of our existing 
hotels. These installations were followed 
by similar installations during the 
refurbishment of Town Lodge 
Johannesburg International Airport 
and in the extension of the City Lodge 
Hotel at OR Tambo Airport.

In addition, the telephony service at the 
abovementioned hotels, for both in-room 
and back office functions, is an IP 
telephony solution which provides clearer 
voice services. This solution has proven 
itself to be effective and cost efficient and 
the group will introduce this service in 
select hotels, thereby removing the legacy 
telephony systems and upgrading the 
hotels to a centrally hosted platform. This 
will result in an operating cost reduction 
for each property, with less on-premise 
equipment to service and manage.

Similar installations will be done in the 
new hotels in Tanzania and Mozambique, 
ensuring guests receive the same quality 
service standard across the continent.

Extension of WiFi offering
Our guests rely on fast, reliable 
connectivity in order to conduct their 
business and keep them entertained. As a 
consequence of our partnership with our 
WiFi provider in southern Africa, we are 
able to meet and often exceed their needs, 
while still looking to include further 
enhancements to the current service 
offering. We believe that this connectivity 
provides the platform for us to embrace 
newer technologies, such as WiFi calling, 
TV casting and streaming capabilities, 
which we have been investigating for 
implementation in the future.

Introduction of mobility platform for our 
guest
Bringing technology to the forefront of 
our guest journey is essential in the 21st 
century. We have investigated and engaged 
with various providers to further enhance 
the guest experience, allowing them to 
engage and interact with us using their 
own mobile devices. The underlying 
systems and technologies previously 
mentioned will form the basis of this, and 
we aim to further streamline processes, 
interact with guests (past and present) 
securely and improve overall satisfaction 
of a guest while staying in any of our 
properties.

Introduction of Business Intelligence 
capability
Since launching our bespoke Property 
Management System “Lodgix” and the 
“CLHG Rewards“ loyalty system, we have 
generated vast volumes of consumer data 
which has allowed us to introduce analytic 
capabilities to enrich our knowledge of 
our guests. A new Business Intelligence 
(“BI”) tool was introduced and this is 
continuously being enhanced to allow for 
improved decision-making and proactive 
management on certain aspects of our 
business.

 



City Lodge Hotel Group Integrated Report 2018
54

OUR CAPITALS REPORT CONTINUED

 
The importance of these initiatives, with 
more information provided in this section 
of our report, was specifically highlighted 
through the recent severe drought 
experienced in the Western Cape of South 
Africa. As a group, we do not, however, 
believe that environmental issues are 
restricted to single hotels or areas, and 
adopt a general approach to responsible 
operations.

Carbon footprint
Measuring and reporting one’s carbon 
footprint has become a globally accepted 
measure of one’s overall impact on the 
environment. While this is not the sole 
indicator of our performance in this area, 
we are proud of our achievements in 
reducing our overall impact on our planet 
since the start of our environmental 
sustainability journey. We have engaged a 

third-party expert to assist us in assessing 
our footprint for the year ended 30 June 
2018. The scope of this year’s assessment 
was consistent with last year. Our total 
greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions emitted 
as a result of operational activities amount 
to 30 352 (2017: 34 321) tonnes of CO

2 
equivalent (“CO2e”). The figure this year 
includes one additional hotel, being Town 
Lodge Windhoek which opened its first 
rooms on 5 October 2017.

The reporting methodology used by 
Promethium Carbon advisers follows 
the reporting principles and guidelines 
provided by three complementary 
international standards, thereby 
enhancing the environmental integrity 
of the carbon footprint.

NATURAL CAPITAL

CONSOLIDATION AFRICA
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BRAND
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TRANSFORMATION

Environmental sustainability

As a group, we understand how important 
it is for our stakeholders that we conduct 
our business in an environmentally friendly 
and responsible way. Over the past few 
years we have developed and 
implemented policies, practices and 
targets to reduce and limit our impact 
on the environment and continually 
encourage some of our stakeholders to do 
the same and to join us on our journey. We 
continue to actively analyse, manage and 
monitor these targets and practices 
throughout all our brands to ensure we 
operate as environmentally responsibly 
as reasonably and feasibly possible. 

2018 2017

 Source of emissions
WBCSD** 

scope
Total CO2e 

(t/year)

Proportion 
of total CO2e 

(%)
Total CO2e 

(t/year)  

Proportion 
of total CO2e 

(%)

Premises – LPG consumption 55 0,2  28  0,1
Premises – Backup diesel generators  75 0,3  108  0,3
Premises – Refrigerant gas loss  1 962 6,4  818  2,4
Premises – Fire extinguishers  26 0,1  63  0,2

Subtotal Scope 1 2 118 7,0  1 017  3,0

Premises – Electricity consumption 25 206 83,0  27 444  80,0

Subtotal Scope 2 25 206 83,0  27 444  80,0

Upstream activities        
Premises – Water consumption 768 2,5  822  2,4
Premises – Waste disposal  454 1,5  464  1,4
Business travel – Flights  170 0,6  207  0,6
Business travel – Employee-owned cars  4 0,01  24  0,07
Downstream activities        
Fuel and energy-related emissions not 
included in Scope 1 and 2  1 552 5,1  4 269  12,4
Downstream transportation and 
distribution  80 0,3  74  0,2

Subtotal Scope 3 3 028 10,0  5 860  17,07

Total*  30 352 100,0  34 321  100,0

* Errors due to rounding.
** World Business Council for Sustainable Development (“WBCSD”).
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Environmental sustainability
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Renewable energy
As previously reported, in February 2017 
the group commenced with a pilot project 
to assess the viability and feasibility of 
solar power generation at our Road Lodge 
Centurion. The duration of the study has 
been extended as part of ongoing 
initiatives to ensure the system operates 
as efficiently as possible. We continue 
to closely monitor and evaluate the 
performance of the system, which 
underwent some tweaking in an attempt 
to enhance system output. Our findings 
will then be worked into the evaluation of 
similar installations at other group hotels 
in the future. 

Water consumption
Reducing water consumption is a joint 
effort between our hotels, staff and their 
guests. Never before has this been more 
evident or important than through the 
recent severe drought conditions 
experienced in South Africa’s Western 
Cape. Through some very innovative 

thinking, hotels operating in this region 
were able to reduce their water 
consumption by almost half, when 
compared to the prior year. No idea 
was too small in ensuring that we made 
every drop count. From implementing 
operational changes such as removing 
excess bed linen and napkins, to changing 
linen and towel exchange criteria. Water 
was harvested from commercial area air- 
conditioners and heat pumps to water 
plants and wash public area floors. Guests 
were encouraged to limit consumption 
through creative messaging throughout 
the hotels and in guest bedrooms. While 
a number of our operations are located in 
water scarce regions, some of the ideas 
developed and learnt in Cape Town have 
become common place across our group.

In designing our hotels, we have reduced 
the number of rooms with baths in our 
newer and refurbished City Lodge Hotels 
to approximately 60%, installed low-flow 
showerheads and taps and looked at other 

ways to reduce overall water consumption. 
Our guests are encouraged to play their 
part in saving water by reusing their towels 
and linen, choosing to shower instead of 
bath and flushing wisely using the 
dual-flush toilet systems. Reducing the 
volume of laundry on a daily basis has 
a direct impact on the volume of water 
consumed. Additionally we have together 
with our laundry chemical suppliers, 
worked at alternative solutions that allow 
for shorter wash cycles, without 
compromising the quality of the linen 
produced by our in-house laundries. 
Housekeeping and laundry remain an 
ongoing area of focus in reducing 
consumption.

All water for supplying guest rooms and for 
use in the laundries and kitchens is drawn 
from municipal supply, with the exception 
of our Kenyan hotels, where the majority 
of water is supplied from boreholes. In 
isolated instances in South Africa, borehole 
water is used to supplement municipal 

Through our ongoing commitment and 
implementation of resource-efficient 
technology, we have successfully 
controlled our GHG emissions and 
carbon footprint over the past year.

Specific sustainability focus areas
Energy consumption
In our South African operations, we mainly 
use electricity generated by the national 
energy provider Eskom, similarly so in 

Botswana, Namibia and Kenya. It is, 
however, important to our guests that we 
ensure security of supply, and therefore 
all hotels have backup diesel generators 
installed for use during power outages.

The majority of our consumption is as a 
result of water heating, air-conditioning, 
lighting and laundry operations, with the 
total energy consumption for the period of 
25,6 million kWh. This contributes towards 

83% of our carbon footprint and remained 
a key focus area as a result. 

By maintaining a sustainable energy 
management programme at each of our 
hotels, we were able to continue our focus 
on operational and technical efficiencies. 
In our South African operations, our 
absolute energy consumption decreased 
by 5,2%. Comparative consumption per 
room night sold was down by 0,4%.

Our electricity consumption per occupied and per available room and the resultant per room cost thereof were as follows: 

Brand  

kWh per
 occupied 

room
 (2017/18)  

kWh per 
occupied

 room
 (2016/17)  

Cost per
 occupied

 room
 (2017/18)  

Cost per 
occupied 

room
 (2016/17)  

kWh per 
available

 room
 (2017/18)  

kWh per
 available

 room 
(2016/17)  

Cost per
 available 

room
 (2017/18)  

Cost per
 available

 room
 (2016/17)

Courtyard  30,0  30,9  R51,01  R51,77  13,5  14,7  R22,85  R24,66
City Lodge  18,4  18,7  R27,21  R26,60  11,2  11,9  R16,62  R16,97
Town Lodge  18,7  17,6  R28,39  R31,06  9,1  9,6  R14,41  R17,00
Road Lodge  12,7  13,2  R23,13  R22,51  8,8  9,1  R15,97  R15,55

 



City Lodge Hotel Group Integrated Report 2018
56

OUR CAPITALS REPORT CONTINUED

supply for garden watering purposes. New 
boreholes have been drilled at our Cape 
Town hotels and feasibility studies are 
currently being finalised to commence a 
process of moving viable sites off the grid. 

This would entail providing filtered and 
treated borehole water for hotel and guest 
use. Similar explorative exercises will be 
conducted at our Port Elizabeth hotels, 
where similar water shortages are being 
predicted. 

Total water consumption for the period 
was 547 635 kilolitres (“kℓ”). This 
represents a decrease of 83 859 kℓ 
(15,31%) when compared to the prior 
period, highlighting the group’s efforts to 
reduce water consumption during the 
recent droughts.

Brand  

kℓ per
 occupied 

room
 (2017/18)  

kℓ per 
occupied

 room
 (2016/17)  

Cost per
 occupied

 room
 (2017/18)  

Cost per 
occupied 

room
 (2016/17)  

kℓ per 
available

 room
 (2017/18)  

kℓ per
 available

 room 
(2016/17)  

Cost per
 available 

room
 (2017/18)  

Cost per
 available

 room
 (2016/17)

Courtyard  0,71  1,09  R22,23  R15,65  0,32  0,52  R9,96  R7,45
City Lodge  0,35  0,38  R10,34  R9,44  0,21  0,24  R6,32  R6,02
Town Lodge  0,34  0,36  R8,08  R8,68  0,16  0,20  R4,13  R4,75
Road Lodge  0,27  0,30  R6,81  R5,30  0,19  0,21  R4,70  R3,66

In addition to conserving water, we have 
a responsibility to manage the quality 
of water discharged by reducing the 
consumption and/or controlling the 
discharge of materials and products that 
may contaminate water. We achieve this 
through the use of biodegradable 
chemicals and products, the installation 
of grease traps and making use of salt 
water chlorinators to maintain hygiene 
in our pools. 

Waste and recycling
While the volume of solid waste generated 
by the group is relatively low given our 
selected service product offering, we do 
leverage opportunities which exist to 
recycle paper, glass, plastics, aluminium 
and steel cans. Hotels in the City Lodge 
Hotel brand ensure the sorting of waste on 
premises and the subsequent recycling 
thereof, with limited waste to landfill being 
generated. Various recycling options are 
currently in operation at our other hotels. 

We continue to work on cost-effective 
solutions to reduce waste to landfill within 
our hotels. 

Compliance
No environmental accidents occurred 
during the year nor were any 
environmental-related fines imposed 
upon the company. 

Our goals for the year ahead
In the year ahead we aim to maintain and 
where possible further reduce energy 
consumption on a per-room-sold basis, 
continuing to investigate the viability of 
additional photovoltaic solutions and 
installations for use in selected hotels. 
Through our water-saving initiatives we 
will endeavour to reduce our water 
consumption on a per-room-sold basis 
and will continue the journey of supplying 
identified hotels with an alternative source 
of water. Additionally we will continue to 
investigate options around grey water reuse 

and water conservation in general, while 
aiming to reduce our total waste to landfill. 

INTELLECTUAL CAPITAL

CONSOLIDATION AFRICA
EXPANSION

ENVIRONMENTAL
SUSTAINABILITY

BRAND
IDENTITY

INFORMATION
TECHNOLOGY

TRANSFORMATION Our group continues to focus 
heavily on sales and marketing 
as a key support process for 
operational activities.

Embedded in the sales and marketing 
department’s DNA is the harnessing of 
important intellectual capital such as the 
maintenance and enhancement of positive 
brand reputation and awareness, a 
constant quest for innovation, improving 
operating efficiencies, and the utilisation of 
standardised operating systems, policies 
and procedures that streamline all that we 
do in our industry.

In a highly competitive environment, it is 
vital for a group such as ours to differentiate 
its brands (Courtyard Hotel, City Lodge 
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Hotel, Town Lodge, Road Lodge and The 
Fairview Hotel), highlight the quality and 
value of offerings, and build a strong base of 
satisfied guests who regard our hotels as 
their “home away from home”.

Monitoring and building our brands
In the City Lodge Hotel group, we have 
always focused on making our booking 
process as streamlined and user-friendly 
as possible. This has been part of our 
growth story over the past four decades.

With the growing trend towards online 
bookings and driving more bookings 
through our own channels, we are working 
to refine online bookings that take place 
on our website www.clhg.com. 

This refinement process is heavily focused 
on enhancing our users’ experience, the 
intention being to make the process as 
easy, intuitive and seamless as possible – 
from selecting a room, to completing 
payment. The specifications for this project 
have been approved and development is 
under way. 

There’s a saying that if you do not know 
where you are going, anywhere or any 
direction will do! In the highly competitive 
and constantly evolving hospitality sector, 
it is vital that you know where you stand in 
the market, how you are perceived by your 
target market and what you need to do to 
get to where you want to be.

Our 2018 brand tracking report has given 
us some extremely valuable insight into 
crucial aspects of our business. By drilling 
down into each of these areas, we are able 
to accurately define, measure and meet 
guests’ needs and identify any gaps that 
may exist in our value propositions.

Our research shows that top of mind 
awareness of our brands has improved, 
but there is still a need for us to do more 
education on differentiating the offerings 
guests can expect from our different 
brands.

From a brand usage and brand 
consideration point of view, our challenge 
is to attract more non-users to our brands 
and to minimise the defection rate away 
from our brands. This has to be based on a 
very clear understanding of what we offer 
and what competitors offer.

By regularly measuring and interpreting 
guests’ needs, we are able to make 
informed decisions that will help us to 
retain guests loyal to our brands and 
attract guests who are currently not 
utilising our brands.

Marketing and selling our brands
Importantly, from a guest loyalty and 
rewards point of view, we are looking into 
enhancing the value proposition that we 
offer our regular guests through our CLHG 
Rewards programme. 

Targeted outdoor and radio advertising 
continues to play a significant role in our 
group’s marketing strategy. During the 
year, a City Lodge Hotel brand campaign 
was rolled out to raise awareness of that 
brand.

For our refreshed Bid2Stay online auction 
offering, an online campaign was devised 
around a theme of “Have you Bid2Stay?”. 
This campaign included various online 
advertising, “Spin to win” competitions 
and in-room table talkers, where the core 
objectives were to drive awareness, 
registrations and bookings. 

Within the sales side of our sales and 
marketing department, the sales team was 
restructured, moving to more full-time 
sales personnel, complemented by some 
part-time personnel in key business 
sourcing areas.

Building and developing relationships 
with travel management companies 
and corporate clients remains key. We 
participated in many of their workshops 
and travel days, creating awareness and 
encouraging trial across all our brands.

Interacting with our guests
In this age of regular interaction made 
possible through the incredible advances in 
social media, it is encouraging to note that 
our social media footprint is constantly 
growing as more and more people use 
channels such as Facebook, Twitter and 
others to communicate with us. Sometimes 
they share their experiences, sometimes 
suggesting possible improvement ideas, 
sometimes just entering a competition, or 
wanting to thank an individual staff member 
for great service – it really is a wide range of 
interactive messaging.

Our aim is definitely to continue growing 
our social media follower footprint as we 
continue to seek ways to interact and build 
ongoing relationships with those very 
special people – our guests. 

The bottom line is that engaging with guests 
is a vital part of our business of “people 
caring for people”. Guest comments are 
received internally by email at info@clhg.com 
and online through the Rate-Us guest 
questionnaire and externally by monitoring 
posts on channels such as Hellopeter.com, 
TripAdvisor, Facebook and Twitter. All matters 
are attended to by the appropriate 
respondents as timeously as possible. 
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As a quality hotel provider, one of the most 
important contributors towards the success 
of our performance is the performance of 
our people. The management of our 
human capital is therefore a significant 
focus area for the group. Our "Investor in 
People" recognition clearly demonstrates 
our ongoing commitment towards growing 
and empowering our people. In terms of 

human capital, we direct our efforts in 
three main areas: leading, supporting and 
improving.

Leading
Our five leadership drivers guide our 
leaders in motivating our people and 
achieving the group’s objectives: 

 • City Lodge Leaders lead by example;
 • City Lodge Leaders innovate and 
own their businesses;

 • City Lodge Leaders empower people 
to engage and act;

 • City Lodge Leaders inspire a shared 
vision; and

 • City Lodge Leaders encourage the heart.

Our leaders are primarily grown within the 
group and our ability to attract and retain 
skilled people, underpinned by the 
provision of an employee value proposition 
that specifically highlights clearly defined 
career pathing and succession planning, is 
key to ensuring a sustainable pipeline of 
leaders for the future. Demonstrating the 
efficacy of this approach is the following 
comparative turnover information, which 
indicates an annual level of turnover that is 
below the industry norm at 7,9%, ensuring 
that high performers and potentials are 
retained.

Year 
Voluntary
 turnover 

Involuntary 
turnover 

% of total 
headcount 

2015/16 62 43 8,71
2016/17 60 37 8,69
2017/18 74 19 7,88

   
   The group talent officer, assisted by line 
management, is responsible for the 
attraction, development and retention of 
high-calibre employees. All employees 
have annual development appraisals with 
ongoing assessments and management 
addressing the skills and knowledge gaps 
identified within current positions. 
Employees suitable for development into 
and within supervisory and management 
levels are acknowledged and proposed 
for inclusion into succession pools or 
developed towards such. By placing an 
emphasis on the development of 
previously disadvantaged individuals, 
the group can also ensure that it works 
progressively towards achieving its 
employment equity targets.

Supporting
Employee and industrial relations ("ER 
and IR")
All ER and IR issues are dealt with in an 
inclusive manner, with the group preferring 
to invite participation on all substantive 
issues that may have an effect on the 
employment relationship or on employees’ 
conditions of work. The group currently 
recognises, and has a recognition 
agreement with one trade union, 
SACCAWU, which is representative of 16% 
of total employees and 18% of those 
occupying positions within the defined 
bargaining unit. 

No days have been lost due to industrial 
action during the period.

The group continues to use its programme 
"high performance people" as the model 
for its ER, and courses are held periodically 
for supervisors and management in this 
regard. This programme is also made 
available to shop stewards from time to 
time to ensure complete understanding 
of the company’s policies and procedures. 
In addition, all levels of management are 
trained in the principles of "managing with 
intent" to ensure that best practice 
management techniques are applied 
within the group.

 



59
City Lodge Hotel Group Integrated Report 2018

Labour utilisation
An analysis of sick and absent days 
recorded in the group indicates a loss of 
1,6% of all working days available due to 
sickness and absence during the year.

Sick leave is monitored on an individual 
basis to ensure that patterns are noted, 
either to offer assistance or to take steps 
where possible abuse is noted. Similarly, 
incidents of absence are monitored and 
dealt with through the group’s disciplinary 
procedures when required.

Health and safety
Although the group’s properties do 
not represent dangerous working 
environments, all necessary precautions 
and measures are taken to ensure the 
safety of our guests and employees. This 
includes the adherence to strict guidelines 
in terms of monitoring and implementing 
health and safety requirements. Each hotel 
has established a health and safety 
committee, as well as appointed 
responsible persons in terms of the 
Occupational Health and Safety Act.

The group utilises the Worktrainer 
software program to record and monitor 
all health and safety compliance. Further, 
adherence to the health and safety policy 
and legislation is reviewed as part of the 
internal audit process. In addition, the 
group maintains its commitment to 
ensuring that levels of hygiene, compliant 
with Hazard Analysis of Critical Control 
Points ("HACCP") legislation, are 
maintained at all hotels.

The group ensures that all contractors 
engaged in the delivery of services to the 
group are equally compliant in terms of 
their adherence to health and safety 
requirements.

The following health and safety incidents were experienced during the year: 

 
Nature of incident 

Number of incidents
2017/18 2016/17 General outcome 

In the kitchen – food preparation and cleaning 8 9 In all instances, staff members either 
received first aid and returned to work 
immediately or were booked off for a 
period and returned to work thereafter 

Incidents on stairs and in built environment 8 10 
Due to carrying and lifting 1 1 
Repairs and maintenance related 2 3 

Total 19 23  

Employment equity
The employment equity consultative 
committee meets at least bi-annually to 
assess progress towards the achievement 
of quantitative goals, as well as to consider 
the qualitative elements which may 
influence the aforesaid achievement of the 
goals. The committee is representative of 
all individuals in the company, and is 

chaired by the divisional director of human 
resources, appointed as the senior 
manager responsible for compliance with 
the Employment Equity Act, and enjoys the 
participation of the representative trade 
union. The lack of a readily available pool 
of skilled candidates from designated 
groups at senior and management levels 
continues to hamper transformation 

efforts. However, the group’s ability to 
develop its own pipeline through 
succession pools and attendant 
development programmes and the 
accelerated development and deployment 
programme (“ADDP”) will mitigate this to 
a degree in the medium to long term.
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The following comparative table displays the company’s South African operations employee profile as at 30 June 2018 and 2017:

Male Female Foreign nationals Total
Occupational level Year African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White Male Female

Top management
2018    1  8  2  1  12
2017   1 7  1    1   10 

Senior management
2018  5  4  32  2  1  19  63
2017  5  3  31  2  1  18  60

Middle management
2018  7  3  2  17  22  5  2  15  1  74
2017  4  4  2  19  21  5  2  16  1  74

Junior management
2018  47  10  2  21  110  25  2  15  1  233
2017  41  11  2  19  105  26  2  17  1  224

Discretionary 
decision-making

 2018  99  15  3  11  194  29  9  54  1  1  416
2017  105  12  3  11  183  27  5  59  2   407

Defined decision-
making

2018  118  12  5  184  36  2  357
2017  116  12  4  174  34   1  341

Total permanent
2018  276  44  8  94  514  96  13  104  3  3  1 155
2017  271  42  8  91  486  93  9  111  3  2  1 116

Non-permanent*
2018  24  2  1  51  1  2  81
2017  8  1  2  57  4  1  2  2  2  79

Grand total
2018  300  46  8  95  565  96  13  105  5  3  1 236
2017  279  43  8  93  543  97  10  113  5  4  1 195

* Including 38 experiential learners.

Improving 
Training and development
The skills development committee meets 
at least bi-annually in order to determine 
the group’s skills development 
requirements.

The committee has been mandated to deal 
with skills development issues, and 
committee members are therefore 
knowledgeable with regard to legislation 
surrounding skills development. The 
committee consists of the divisional 
director of human resources, the group’s 
skills development facilitator, a union 
representative, shop stewards from the 
regions and members of staff from 
different levels and backgrounds elected 
by their constituencies.

The group continues to focus on providing 
learnership opportunities, both internal 
and external, as well as graduate 
internships for students with diploma 
and degree-level hospitality qualifications. 

The group has a registered skills 
development facilitator who submits a 
workplace skills plan annually and reports 
on training achieved against that plan. 
A training coordinator assists the skills 
development facilitator with logistics and 
administration and allows for a greater 
focus by the skills development facilitator 
on ensuring return on investment in 
respect of the training interventions 
provided.

Training interventions covered training 
priorities ranging from legislative 
compliance to management and leadership 
skills, as well as client service and 
employee development.

A total of 42 employees were promoted in 
the group during the year, 67% of whom 
were female.

2017/18 2016/17

African 26 57
Coloured 5 12
Indian 1 0
White 10 13
Total 42 82

The comparative report on the following 
page is aligned with the reporting period 
for the Sector Education and Training 
Authority which requires calendar year 
reporting and organising of training 
activities. 
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1 January 
2017 to 

31 December 
2017 

1 January 
2016 to 

31 December 
2016 

1 January 
2015 to 

31 December 
2015 

% of total payroll spent on training 3,75 3,94  3,95
% of total payroll spent on training previously disadvantaged employees 3,40 3,23  3,4
Total number of interventions attended by all employees 15 631 11 320  9 459
Total number of interventions attended by black employees 14 209 10 041  8 215
Total number of interventions attended by black female employees 9 494 6 441  5 586
Total spend on training and development R10,5 million R9,7 million  R9,0 million 

With regards to training considered as 
eligible for the pivotal grant, the following 
highlights are noted:

 • Work integrated learning – This 
opportunity was provided to 80 hotel 
school students from hotel schools 
across South Africa, to gain practical 
experience in the group’s hotels, 
pursuant to the completion of their 
formal learning programmes. This 
programme not only serves to provide 
students with the opportunity to gain 
experience, but also allows the group 
to assess these students as potential 
employees for the future. 

 • City and Guilds qualifications – The 
group provides its permanent 
employees with the opportunity to 
attend these programmes and thereby 
obtain an internationally recognised 
qualification. This contributes to the 
group building a pool of skills for 
succession planning and assists in career 
pathing. A total of 52 employees wrote 
and passed their City and Guilds exams 
during the first half of the financial year, 
obtaining various certificates, diplomas 
and advanced diplomas while a further 
64 employees were enrolled during 
the second half of the financial year.

 • The group also provides learnership 
opportunities to employed and 
unemployed individuals and is currently 
involved in providing learnerships for 
disabled learners in partnership with the 
South African Disability Development 
Trust. We are currently hosting five 
disabled and previously unemployed 
learners, some of whom we again hope 
to absorb into our operations upon 
successful completion of their 
programme.
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Broad-based black economic 
empowerment (“B-BBEE”)

Over the past few years, the B-BBEE 
landscape within South Africa has seen 
some significant changes, with an 
increased level of awareness shown by 
our guests and suppliers. Through our BEE 
committee, the group continues to remain 
abreast of the latest developments and 
identifies key focus areas for the future, 
to highlight to the executive and board. 

The group achieved an overall Level 4 
B-BBEE contributor rating under the 
amended Tourism Sector Codes during the 
year, previously being a Level 5, having 
achieved the sub-minimum scores in all 
the priority elements. The scores obtained 
are presented in the following table and 
the required submissions were made 
to the BEE Commission following the 
publication of the group’s BEE scorecard, 
who have confirmed the group’s current 
compliance. In addition, the BEE 
Commission also confirmed the group’s 
compliance for the prior year. 

During the year, the group continued to 
place significant emphasis and resources 
on supplier and enterprise development 
initiatives. Under the guidance of the 
transformation steering committee, the 
beneficiaries of this programme continued 
to receive support and mentorship to 
varying degrees. A further enterprise 
development interest-free loan was 
granted to a company servicing the 
tourism sector in the Western Cape. 
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Following the support received last year, 
our fresh produce suppliers purchased 
farm land north of Johannesburg, and 
commenced with small-scale farming 
operations. The funds were deployed to 
fence the property, build a pack house 
and cold storage facilities and hydroponic 
growing tunnels. By connecting our 
beneficiary to some of our suppliers, they 
have managed to secure additional funding 
to increase their land investment and grow 
their own production of fresh vegetables, 
being sold to us and large retail customers.

With regards to ownership, the net value 
created in the hands of black people is 
influenced by the closing share price on 
the measurement date. Given the period 
of time which has passed since the 
implementation of the group’s 2008 BEE 

transaction, the full value of outstanding 
debt is taken into account when measuring 
the benefits attributed to the beneficiaries. 
Given the current performance of the 
company’s share price, the termination 
date of the BEE funding deal was extended 
to January 2021, with an option of early 
settlement should the circumstances allow 
for an exit, which delivers meaningful value 
to the beneficiaries.

The employment equity consultative 
committee meets at least bi-annually to 
assess progress towards the achievement 
of quantitative goals, as well as to consider 
the qualitative elements which may 
influence the aforesaid achievement of 
the goals. The committee is representative 
of all individuals in the company, and is 
chaired by the divisional director of human 

resources, appointed as the senior 
manager responsible for compliance with 
the Employment Equity Act, and enjoys the 
participation of the representative trade 
union. The lack of a readily available pool 
of skilled candidates from designated 
groups at senior and management levels 
continues to hamper transformation 
efforts. However, the group’s ability to 
develop its own pipeline through 
succession pools, attendant development 
programmes and the ADDP will mitigate 
this to a degree in the medium to long 
term.

While the majority of our transformation 
targets are driven centrally, there is a link 
to our performance appraisal linked ("PAL") 
bonus scheme, creating accountability at 
an operational level too.

Scorecard element Weighting 
Score

2017/18 
Score 

2016/17 

Ownership* 27,00 19,45 18,43Δ 
Management control 19,00 9,46 11,66 
Skills development* 20,00 14,78 17,84 
Enterprise and supplier development* 40,00 30,40 26,82Δ

Socio-economic development 5,00 8,00 8,00 

Total B-BBEE score 111,00 82,09 82,75 

* Priority element.
Δ Sub-minimum score not achieved, resulting in a one level penalty to overall rating.
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The group currently has an overall black 
ownership percentage of 21,46%, with 
10,85% being held by black women. It is 
mindful of the impact the winding up of 
the BEE funding deal may have on this 
ownership and will strive to minimise a 
potential decline in black ownership given 
that the amended Codes have a black 
ownership target of 30%. 

SOCIAL AND RELATIONSHIP 
CAPITAL
Continuously making a difference 
Living out our “people caring for people” 
philosophy, means that we do not just give 
handouts to needy communities, we get 
involved and engage with them too. 
Whether it’s supporting girl learners in 
Kenya, or providing young expectant 
mothers with care packages in 
Johannesburg, over the past year 
R4,0 million was donated to our various 
CSI initiatives. By booking online on our 

group’s website, we made contributions of 
R230 000 on behalf of our guests to our 
online beneficiaries, Food and Trees for 
Africa and Hospice. In addition, as part of 
the Cuppa for CANSA campaign, our guests 
did not just buy a cup of coffee at our Road 
Lodge brand hotels, but they contributed 
to the R210 000 donation to this 
worthwhile cause. 

Guest satisfaction
The Rate-Us questionnaire received 
approximately 19 000 responses during 
the year, yielding an average customer 
satisfaction score of 86% (2017: 86%). 
Using this instant feedback mechanism, 
our guests are able to share their 
experiences directly, allowing us to give 
them more of what they want, and 
addressing any concerns which they 
may have. 

Awards
While our major award or reward is 
achieving guest satisfaction, it is very 
special to be acknowledged by other 
service providers.

Online booking channel Hotels.com 
recognised several of our hotels for 
delivering exceptional service and an 
outstanding guest experience in 2017. 
Online booking channel Agoda presented 
City Lodge Hotel V&A Waterfront and City 
Lodge Hotel at OR Tambo Airport with its 
2017 Gold Circle Awards. 

Since 2011, the TripAdvisor Certificate 
of Excellence has honoured hospitality 
businesses that deliver consistently great 
service. This designation is presented to 
approximately 10% of total businesses on 
TripAdvisor that have consistently achieved 
great reviews over the past year. In total, 
12 of our hotels received this accolade 
during the past year, representing around 
20% of our hotel footprint. 
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
Sound corporate governance and an 
ongoing commitment to upholding the 
highest levels of integrity and business 
ethics serves as the foundation upon which 
the City Lodge Hotels Group conducts its 
business. This, together with a strong 
culture of compliance, plays a critical role 
in delivering sustainable value to the 
benefit of the company’s stakeholders.

The board is the focal point for and 
custodian of the group’s corporate 
governance system and is ultimately 
accountable and responsible for the 
performance and affairs of the company. 
It strives to keep abreast of regulatory 
developments, continually enhance the 
company’s governance system, monitor 
and ensure compliance with applicable 
laws, promote a positive ethical culture 
and monitor and ensure compliance with 
applicable legislation, non-binding rules, 
codes, standards and frameworks, 
including: 

 • King Report on Corporate 
Governance™* for South Africa 2016 
(“King IV");

 • the JSE Listings Requirements (“Listings 
Requirements”);

 • the Companies Act, 71 of 2008 (“the 
Act”); and

 • the International Integrated Reporting 
Framework.

 

King IV advocates a qualitative approach to 
implementing the recommended practices 
to achieve the principles and realise the 
intended governance outcomes. Practices 
are therefore implemented as are 
appropriate to demonstrate the group’s 
governance in terms of King IV.

The board is satisfied that the company 
has satisfactorily applied the principles 
and recommended practices of King IV, 
details of which are available on the 
company’s website, www.clhg.com.  
(Stakeholder Relations/King IV Governance 
Register)

GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK AND 
DEVELOPMENTS
The board carries out its responsibilities 
within a framework of policies, procedures, 
controls and powers of execution which 
ensure that governance objectives are 
properly implemented, managed, reviewed 
and adjusted to ensure they are 
appropriately aligned and to identify areas 
that need to be addressed, further 
entrenched or improved upon, where 
necessary. This in turn ensures responsible 
corporate citizenship through adherence 
to applicable legislation, non-binding rules, 
codes, standards and frameworks, effective 
and ethical leadership and ongoing value 
creation.

The board is of the opinion that the 
governance framework in place 
contributes to ongoing value creation.

Initiatives undertaken to enhance the 
governance framework during the 
reporting period included:

 • a review of the board and committee 
charters with a view to aligning them 
with the principles and 
recommendations contained in King IV; 

 • enhanced disclosures in the Integrated 
Report, particularly around 
remuneration; 

 • formalised terms of reference for the 
executive committee; and 

 • review of the remuneration philosophy 
and policy to ensure that it remains 
relevant and aligned with best practice.

Areas of focus for the year ahead include:
 • King IV: continue efforts to address gaps 
as identified as requiring improvement;

 • ongoing advancement of the group’s 
ethics management, particularly in 
terms of ethics awareness;

 • revision of the combined assurance plan 
to ensure that adequate mitigating 
strategies are in place and assurance 
providers identified; 

 • review of the corporate governance 
framework;

 • continue to enhance reporting; and
 • PoPI and GDPR: compliance audit, 
privacy policy formation and 
implementation.

* Copyright and trademarks are owned by the Institute of Directors in Southern Africa NPC and all of its rights are reserved.
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CITY LODGE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

Seven
independent 

non-executive 
directors

Two
executive 
directors

Unitary 
board

Non-
executive 
chairman 

B T Ngcuka

Board and
statutory

committees
Management 
committees

F W J Kilbourn (lead independent), 
G G Huysamer, M S P Marutlulle, N Medupe, 

S G Morris, V M Rague, K I M Shongwe
C Ross (chief executive) 
A C Widegger (financial director)

Risk (board)
N Medupe (chairman), 

G G Huysamer, S G Morris, V M Rague, C Ross, 
K I M Shongwe, A C Widegger,

 M S Kobilski (divisional  director)

Remuneration and nominations (board)
F W J Kilbourn (chairman), 

S G Morris, B T Ngcuka

Social and ethics (statutory and board)
K I M Shongwe (chairman), 

C Ross, A C Widegger 

Mandasco
Chaired by chief executive

Transformation committee

Environmental sustainability steering committee

Audit (statutory and board)
S G Morris (chairman), F W J Kilbourn,

G G Huysamer, N Medupe

Exco
Chaired by chief executive
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ETHICS
The company:

 • conducts its business within the 
framework of applicable laws, 
regulations, non-binding rules and codes 
of good practice; and

 • is committed to maintaining a high 
standard of ethical and business 
conduct, which it has achieved through 
the adoption of certain values and 
principles, including personal integrity 
and fair play. 

The code of ethics and business conduct 
(“the Code”), which applies to all directors 
and employees, is available on the 
company’s website, www.clhg.com , 
and has been designed to raise awareness 
around ethics by providing clear guidelines 
on what is considered acceptable values 
and behaviour to guide day-to-day 
decision-making.

The Code is communicated to all 
employees during their induction. In 
addition to accepting the Code, all 
employees undertake to declare 
conflicts of interest and gifts received.

The company applies a zero tolerance 
approach to violations of the Code and 
responds to violations by taking the 
necessary action, which can include 
disciplinary, civil and/or criminal action and 
effecting improvements to the control 
environment. Reports are submitted to the 
social and ethics committee demonstrating 
the action taken.

To facilitate the reporting of activities that 
violate or appear to violate the Code, the 
company, in addition to the internal 
reporting mechanisms in place, operates 
a whistleblower alertline which is 
independently managed by Whistle 
Blowers Proprietary Limited through 
which stakeholders can anonymously and 

confidentially report perceived cases of 
unethical or corrupt behaviour. The service 
is available seven days a week, 24 hours a 
day. Details of the facility are available on 
the company’s website, www.clhg.com . 
All reported incidents are recorded in a 
register, investigated and, where 
appropriate, action is taken. 

Twenty calls were logged during the 
year under review, three of which were 
duplicates in that they related to previously 
reported issues. All calls were investigated 
and the majority were found to be internal 
grievances and were dealt with in 
accordance with the company’s internal 
grievance procedure. Of the remaining 
calls, none indicated a material breach in 
the required standard of ethical behaviour.

The main area of focus during the year was 
creating awareness of the Code through 
the group’s e-learning platform. 

Going forward the company wishes to 
implement a process for all South African 
employees to annually acknowledge their 
adherence to the Code.

THE BOARD
Charter
The board operates in accordance with
a formally approved charter that sets out 
the processes and practices that have 
been adopted to assist it in the effective 
discharge of its responsibilities. The 
charter ensures that board activities 
conform to sound corporate governance 
principles and comply with applicable 
legislation. It also sets out the division of 
responsibilities to ensure a balance of 
power and authority so that no one 
individual has unfettered powers of 
decision-making. The charter was revised 
during the year under review so as to align 
with the principles of King IV.

All board members are aware of their 
collective, as well as individual, 
responsibilities. The charter supports a 
work plan against which agendas are 
prepared and which gives guidance as to 
the timelines against which the board is 
required to discharge its responsibilities.

Primary areas of focus include monitoring, 
reviewing and implementing matters 
of a strategic, financial, non-financial 
(including governance, compliance, ethics, 
sustainability and social responsibility) and 
operational nature.

The board takes the lead in guiding the 
company’s strategic direction, ethics, 
governance processes, operating, financial, 
as well as non-financial performance.

Composition
The unitary board comprises 10 directors, 
eight of whom are classified as non- 
executive directors (“NED”) and two as 
executive directors. Seven of the eight 
NEDs are considered independent. In total, 
50% of the board comprises members of 
colour, with females making up 20% of the 
board. The chief executive and financial 
director serve as the two executive 
directors on the board. Each of the NEDs 
are individuals of high calibre, with sound 
credibility, who possess the requisite 
knowledge, skills and experience to make a 
meaningful contribution to and ensure the 
effective leadership of the company. All 
directors participate actively in board 
deliberations and decision-making 
processes.

The strong representation of tourism 
industry expertise and experience blends 
well with the diversity of experience in 
other areas and serves to strengthen the 
board’s collective business acumen. As 
such the board is satisfied that it possesses 
the appropriate mix of knowledge, skills, 
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experience, diversity and independence to 
discharge its responsibilities. 

On 30 June 2018, Clifford Ross stepped 
down as chief executive due to ill health. 
Alastair Dooley and Lindiwe Siddo were 
respectively appointed to the roles of chief 
financial officer and chief operating officer 
with effect from 1 July 2018, and Andrew 
Widegger succeeded Clifford Ross as chief 
executive officer. Subsequent to the 
changes, the board comprises 11 
members, six (55%) of whom are persons 
of colour and three (27%) of whom are 
female. While no voluntary targets have 
been set, the remuneration and 
nominations committee will annually 
consider race and gender diversity at 
board level and make recommendations in 
respect thereof.

Appointment, rotation and retirement 
Procedures for appointments to the board 
are formal and transparent and a matter 
for the board as a whole, assisted where 
appropriate by Remcom. Appointments 
are based on leadership skills, experience 
and expertise required, with diversity and 
gender being taken into account. All 
potential board appointees are subject to 
a fit and proper test, in accordance with 
the JSE Listings Requirements, and all 
appointments are subject to shareholder 
approval.

NEDs have no fixed term of appointment 
or service contract. In accordance with the 
company’s memorandum of incorporation 
(“MoI”), at least one-third of the NEDs 
retire by rotation at the company’s annual 
general meeting. The directors so retiring 
may, if eligible, offer themselves for 
re-election.

Executive directors are full-time salaried 
employees engaged on the company’s 
standard terms and conditions of 
employment, which may be terminated on 

three months’ notice. Termination of an 
executive director’s employment contract 
will result in resignation from the board 
and its committees.

Executive directors do not receive fees for 
their services as a director on the board 
or member of the board and statutory 
committees and do not retire by rotation 
at the annual general meeting.

Newly appointed directors retire at the 
first annual general meeting following their 
appointment and make themselves 
available for re-election by shareholders.

The retirement age for a NED is 70 years, 
subject to review at the discretion of the 
board, and 65 years for an executive 
director.

Despite him having reached retirement 
age, the board wishes to continue to avail 
itself of the services of Mr S G Morris, as 
he continues to be a valuable member of 
the board and contributes meaningfully to 
board and committee deliberations and on 
the basis that his independence, which is 
reviewed annually, continues.

Having considered the suitability of the 
directors retiring by rotation and being 
available for re-election, the board has 
resolved to put the directors, whose brief 
curricula vitae are set out on pages 36 and 
37 to shareholders for re-election.
 
Independence
The board evaluates the independence 
of the NEDs, particularly long-serving 
directors on an annual basis. In addition to 
evaluating participation and effectiveness 
at meetings, consideration is given to the 
directors’ independence of behaviour and 
judgement, paying close attention to his/ 
her interest and/or involvement with other 
companies, number of other directorships, 
relationships with, inter alia, suppliers and 

competitors and interests in material 
contracts with the company, as well as any 
other factors which could have a bearing 
on his/her ability to act independently.

The evaluation process includes disclosure 
by each director of external associations 
and/or relationships for purposes of 
determining, inter alia, potential conflicts 
of interest and possibility that 
independence may be impaired.

At its most recent assessment, the board
concluded that:

 • the chairman, Mr Bulelani Ngcuka is, 
not considered independent due to his 
substantial interest in one of the 
company’s BEE shareholders; and

 • Messrs Kilbourn and Morris, Dr Shongwe 
and Mrs Medupe continue to contribute 
to board deliberations in a manner that 
is objective, meaningful and unbiased 
and that their independence in 
character and judgement is in no way 
affected or impaired by their length of 
service or age and there is no interest, 
position, relationship or circumstance 
that is likely to, or could appear to, affect 
their independence. In fact, if one has 
regard to the cyclical and specialist 
nature of the tourism industry it could 
be argued that requiring directors to 
resign after nine years is not only 
impractical but not in shareholders’ best 
interest.

Board leadership
Responsibility for running the board and 
for running the company’s business are 
two critical functions. The role of the 
chairman is distinct from that of the chief 
executive. Separation of these roles 
ensures a clear division of responsibilities, 
which is necessary to ensure a balance of 
power and authority, so that no one 
individual has unfettered powers of 
decision-making.
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Chairman of the board and lead 
independent director (“LID”)
The chairman of the board is responsible 
for setting the ethical tone for the 
company, ensuring the integrity and 
effectiveness of the board’s governance 
processes, acting as the link between the 
board and management and providing 
leadership and vision in a manner that will 
serve to enhance shareholder value and 
ensure the long-term sustainability of the 
company. The board has, in line with the 
recommendations in King IV and the 
Listings Requirements, appointed a LID to 
provide leadership and advice to the board 
in matters where there may be an actual 
or perceived conflict of interest.

The chairman and LID are elected annually. 
The board is comfortable that Messrs 
Ngcuka and Kilbourn are able to effectively 
carry out their respective duties and has 
accordingly re-elected them as chairman 
and LID for the ensuing year.

Chief executive
The board is responsible for the 
appointment of the chief executive to 
whom it has delegated responsibility for 
the day-to-day management of the 
company.

The chief executive’s functions and 
responsibilities include, inter alia:

 • implementation of the board-approved 
strategies, objectives and decisions 
within the framework of the delegated 
authorities, values, operational planning 
and policies of the company;

 • developing and recommending the 
annual business plan and budget;

 • monitoring and reporting on company 
performance;

 • ensuring key management roles are 
occupied by individuals with the 
necessary competence and authority 
and that the functions are appropriately 
resourced; and

 • serving as the link between 
management and the board.

Board meetings and procedures
Meeting dates are established in advance 
in respect of each calendar year. The board 
works to a formal agenda prepared by the 
company secretary, in consultation with 
the chairman. Board packs containing the 
meeting agenda and relevant supporting 
documentation are circulated well enough 
in advance of each meeting to allow 
sufficient time for preparation.

Where a director is not able to attend a 
meeting he/she informs the chairman of 
the board or relevant committee, as well 
as the company secretary of this, together 
with the reason for his/her absence.

Directors may, when they are unable to 
attend in person, participate via video and/ 
or teleconferencing facilities and, where 
appropriate, make submissions on matters 
to be tabled for discussion, which 
submissions are recorded at the meeting. 
Decisions taken between scheduled board 
meetings, as provided in the company’s 
MoI, are tabled for noting at the 
subsequent board meeting.
 

Details of the type and number of meetings held during the year under review, as well as individual director attendance, are set out in the 
table below.

Board and committee meeting schedule and attendance

Board

Annual 
general 

meeting
Audit 

committee

Remuneration
 and 

nominations
 committee

Risk 
committee

Social and
 ethics 

committee
BEE 

committee

Special 
board

 meeting
Number of meetings 4 1 3 3 3 2 3 1
G G Huysamer 4 1 3 – 3 – 3 1
F W J Kilbourn 4 1 3 3 – – 3 1
N Medupe 3Δ 1 3 – 3 – – 1
B T Ngcuka 4 1 – 3 – – – 1
M S P Marutlulle 3Δ 1 – – – – – 1
S G Morris 4 1 3 3 3 – 3 1
V M Rague 4 1 – – 3 – – 1
C Ross 4 1 3* 3* 3 2 – 1
K I M Shongwe 4 1 – – 3 2 – 1
A C Widegger 4 1 3* 1* 3 2 – 1
* By invitation.
– Not a member.
Δ Apologies.
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Meeting dates
15 August 2017.
9 November 2017.
14 February 2018.
16 May 2018.

Special board meeting
9 November 2017.

Purpose: To receive an update from KPMG 
regarding matters in the public domain with 
a view to determining whether to 
recommend that KPMG be retained as the 
company’s external auditor at the AGM.

Annual general meeting date
9 November 2017.

Induction and ongoing training and 
development
To assist them in the effective discharge of 
their responsibilities, directors are afforded 
the benefit of an induction programme 
tailored to their individual needs and aimed 
at broadening their understanding of the 
company and the business environment 
within which it operates. 

The company shares the responsibility of 
ensuring directors are equipped with the 
necessary skills to effectively carry out their 
duties and, when it is deemed appropriate, 
directors can avail themselves of continuing 
professional development programmes.

Succession plan
The board:

 • is responsible for its own succession 
planning and aims to balance the fresh 
perspectives from new members with the 
experience and knowledge of those with 
longer tenure; and

 • annually reviews the succession plans in 
place for the executive directors and other 
senior executives.

 
Information and communication
Directors have:

 • access to the advice and services of the 
company secretary and may, where 
necessary, and in accordance with 
the board-approved policy, seek 

independent professional advice at 
the company’s expense; and

 • unrestricted access to all company 
information and senior management to 
assist them in the discharge of their duties 
and responsibilities.

Company strategy
Strategy, risk, performance and sustainability 
are inseparable. The board assumes 
responsibility for:

 • formulating, developing and adopting the 
company’s strategic plans and providing 
effective leadership and oversight of 
performance against targets and 
objectives;

 • satisfying itself that the strategy and 
business plans do not give rise to risks 
that have not been thoroughly assessed 
by management;

 • ensuring that the strategy will result in 
sustainable outcomes;

 • considering sustainability as a business 
opportunity that guides strategic 
formulation; and

 • monitoring management in implementing 
board plans and strategies.

Progress on the implementation and 
achievement of the company’s strategic 
objectives is monitored on an ongoing 
basis and is reported on at each meeting 
of the board and Exco.

Evaluation of the board, chairman, chief 
executive and company secretary
Board effectiveness is considered every 
two years and takes the form of a self-
assessment. Where a director’s performance 
is not considered satisfactory, the board will 
not recommend him/her for re-election.

The board is satisfied that it operates 
effectively, is suitably constituted, possesses 
the appropriate skills, experience and 
expertise and that it has discharged its 
responsibilities as detailed in the board 
charter and annual work plan. The next 
assessment, which will not be externally 
facilitated, is scheduled to take place during 
the 2018 financial year, the last having taken 
place in 2016.
 

The chairman
The LID assesses the performance and 
leadership of the chairman in an informal 
manner.

The chief executive
The chairman of the board, in consultation 
with the NEDs, assesses the performance of 
the chief executive.

Company secretary
The appointment and removal of the 
company secretary is a matter for the board 
as a whole.

The group company secretary ensures 
statutory and legal compliance, as well as 
adherence to the Listings Requirements and 
relevant governance principles. She 
is responsible for guiding the board in 
discharging its responsibilities, assumes 
responsibility for administering the 
proceedings and affairs of the board, 
monitors directors’ dealings in securities, 
ensures adherence to closed periods, 
communicates with stakeholders and liaises 
with the company’s transfer secretary and 
sponsor.

Melanie van Heerden is an admitted 
attorney, notary and conveyancer, holding 
BCom and LLB degrees, with 16 years’ 
post-qualification experience. Her academic 
and professional qualifications were 
externally verified prior to appointment.

In accordance with both the Listings 
Requirements and King IV the performance 
and independence of the company secretary 
is evaluated annually. The board, while 
evaluating her performance and interactions 
with the directors and board as a whole 
concluded that Mrs van Heerden is suitably 
qualified and experienced and is satisfied 
that she demonstrates the requisite 
competence to continue to hold the office 
of group company secretary. The board is 
satisfied that the arrangements in place for 
providing corporate governance services are 
effective.
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The board furthermore concluded that 
there is an arm’s-length relationship 
between itself and the group company 
secretary, taking into account that she is 
neither a director serving on the board nor 
related to a director, and that as a result, 
the potential for conflict of interest is 
minimised.

BOARD, STATUTORY AND 
MANAGEMENT COMMITTEES
Certain duties are delegated to various 
board, statutory and management 
committees to assist it in the discharge 
of its responsibilities, promote continued 
good governance, improve internal 
controls and provide in-depth focus in 
specific areas. Delegation in no way 
relieves the board from discharging
its duties and it remains ultimately 
accountable for the performance and 
affairs of the company.

Each board and statutory committee 
operates within approved terms of 
reference, which are updated from time to 
time to ensure that they are aligned with 
governance best practice, as well as 
internal, market, legislative and regulatory 
requirements, and against an approved 
work plan, which provides members with 
an understanding of their roles as
well as guidance as to when various 
responsibilities need to be discharged. 
The charters of the respective committees 
were amended during the year so as to 
align with King IV.

Each committee, with the exception of 
the management committees, is chaired 
by an independent non-executive director 
who reports on the activities and 
recommendations made by the committee 
at the board meeting immediately 

following the committee meeting. Minutes 
of all board and statutory committee 
meetings, save for Remcom, are tabled for 
noting by the board. The group company 
secretary serves as secretary for all the 
committees.

Additional meetings may be convened 
when necessary to address urgent matters 
falling within the committee’s scope of 
responsibility. No such meetings were held 
during the year.

The board regularly assesses the 
composition of the committees to ensure 
that they each possess the appropriate 
balance of skills, knowledge and 
experience, as well as the need for 
additional committees, to assist it in 
carrying out its duties and meeting its 
statutory and other legal requirements. 
There were no changes in committee 
composition during the year under review. 
Post-year-end, Alastair Dooley and Lindiwe 
Siddo were respectively appointed to the 
risk and social and ethics committees, to 
fill the vacancies resulting on these 
committees following Clifford Ross’ 
stepping down. 

As with the board, the effectiveness of 
each committee is considered every two 
years and entails a self-assessment. Any 
areas identified as requiring improvement 
are considered and the appropriate 
measures put in place.

The board is satisfied that each committee 
operates effectively and has discharged the 
responsibilities detailed in their respective 
terms of reference, at the intervals 
indicated in the annual work plan.

The chairmen of the respective 
committees attend the annual general 
meeting to respond to any questions 
shareholders may raise with regard to 
matters falling within their respective 
committee mandates.
 
The chief executive chairs the executive 
and management development and 
succession committees established 
to assist him in the discharge of the 
responsibilities delegated to him 
by the board.

Audit committee
The audit committee is a statutory 
committee of the board and serves as the 
audit committee for the group subsidiary 
companies. Members are elected annually 
in accordance with the Companies Act 
and King IV by shareholders, on the 
recommendation of the board. It assists 
the board in the discharge of its statutory 
duties as well as other duties assigned to it 
by the board.

Composition
The committee comprises four 
independent non-executive directors all of 
whom are financially literate and have the 
necessary business and financial acumen 
to carry out the committee’s 
responsibilities.

The chief executive, financial director, 
divisional director: financial, lead external 
audit partner and internal audit partner 
attend committee meetings by invitation 
and participate in discussions, but do not 
vote on any matters tabled for decision.

The internal and external auditors have 
unrestricted access to the committee 
through the chairman.
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The chairman of the board is not a 
member of the committee. He may, 
however, attend meetings by invitation.

Role and responsibilities
The committee’s responsibilities, in 
addition to its statutory responsibilities, 
as detailed in its terms of reference
include:

 • safeguarding the company’s assets, the 
operation of systems, control processes 
and the preparation of accurate financial 
reports and statements in compliance 
with relevant legal requirements and 
accounting standards;

 • evaluating the adequacy and efficiency 
of internal control systems, accounting 
practices, information as well as the 
auditing thereof;

 • consideration of the internal and 
external audit process and accounting 
principles and policies;

 • ensuring the independence of the 
external and internal audit functions; 
and

 • ensuring legislative and regulatory 
compliance and compliance with 
applicable codes.

Meetings and activities
The three meetings held during the year 
focused on:

 • examining and reviewing reports to 
shareholders, including financial and 
sustainability reports;

 • reviewing the annual financial 
statements, interim reports, 
accompanying reports to shareholders, 
preliminary results announcement and 
any other announcement regarding the 
company’s results or other financial 
information to be made public, prior to 
submission and approval by the board;

 • reviewing the internal control structures, 
including financial control, accounting 
systems and reporting;

 • nominating the registered auditor, 
including the lead audit partner, having 
executed its responsibilities as set out in 
3.84(g) of the Listings Requirements, 
reviewing and approving the scope of 
work, the external audit budget and 
nature and extent of non-audit services;

 • monitoring and supervising the 
effectiveness of the internal audit 
function, including the performance 
of  the internal audit partner;

 • ensuring that the roles and functions 
of external and internal audit are 
sufficiently clarified and coordinated;

 • reviewing and approving the annual 
internal audit plan and fee, and receiving 
internal audit’s written assessment of 
operational controls;

 • receiving reports and noting the minutes 
from the risk committee with regard to 
the policy and plan for risk management 
and its implementation;

 • overseeing the implementation of the 
IT governance framework and ensuring 
that it aligns with the company’s 
performance and sustainability 
objectives; 

 • monitoring and evaluating significant 
IT investments and expenditure;

 • ensuring that IT forms an integral part of 
the company’s risk management process 
and that information assets are 
managed effectively;

 • overseeing financial reporting risks, 
internal financial controls, fraud risks as 
they relate to financial reporting and IT 
risks as they relate to financial reporting;

 • formalising and approving the policy for 
the provision of non-audit services by 
external audit;

 • pre-approving and monitoring the 
extent of non-audit services provided, 
which for the year under review 
represented 29% (2017: 23%) of the 
total audit fee paid;

 • considering the recoverability of Chase 
Bank and revenue recognition, which 
were highlighted as key audit matters 
in relation to the annual financial 
statements;

 • reviewing and responding to the JSE’s 
report on the pro-active monitoring of 
the annual financial statements;

 • monitoring legislative and regulatory 
compliance and compliance with 
governance codes and accounting 
standards (local and international);

 • considering and approving the material 
issues facing the company, against which 
reporting will take place;

 • approving the annual work plan against 
which the agenda for committee 
meetings will be prepared and 
monitoring progress against it; and

 • considering and satisfying itself as to the 
independence of the external auditors 
and determining that the reporting 
accountant is accredited in accordance 
with the provisions of the Listings 
Requirements.

The external and internal auditors and 
representatives from senior management 
meet, at least annually, with the 
committee independently of one another 
to report back and discuss any issues 
relevant to the audit process. During 
its meeting with management, the 
committee, in addition to discussing issues 
relevant to the audit, considered the 
quality and effectiveness of the external 
audit function and concluded that it was 
satisfied with the performance and level of 
services rendered by the external auditor. 

On the basis that the auditor does not 
function in the role of management, does 
not audit its own work or serve in an 
advocacy role for the company, the 
committee concluded that the non-audit 
work performed did not impair the 
independence of the auditors. 
Furthermore, notwithstanding that KPMG 
has served as the company’s auditors since 
1986, the committee is satisfied that KPMG 
has acted with unimpaired independence. 
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The board, on the recommendation of the 
audit committee, has therefore nominated 
KPMG Inc. for reappointment as the 
company’s registered auditor for the 
ensuing year, with Mr Dwight Thompson, 
who has served as the company’s 
engagement partner for one year, as the 
engagement partner, at the forthcoming 
annual general meeting.

Both the external and internal audit 
partners attend the annual general 
meeting to respond to any questions 
shareholders may raise.

Confirmation of the expertise of the 
financial director
The audit committee has considered and 
confirmed that the finance function is 
adequately resourced with suitably skilled 
and technically competent individuals and 
in particular confirms that it is satisfied 
that the company’s financial director, 
previously Mr Andrew Widegger and going 
forward Mr Alastair Dooley, is equipped 
with the necessary expertise 
and experience to fulfil the requirements 
and responsibilities associated with 
the position.

Further information is contained in the 
report of the audit committee on page 116.

Remuneration and nominations 
committee (“Remcom”)
Composition
Remcom comprises three NEDs, two of 
whom are independent. The LID chairs the 
committee. The chief executive attends 
meetings by invitation, but does not have 
a vote on matters to be decided upon nor 
does he participate in the decision-making 
process relevant to his remuneration.

The chairman of the board drives the 
nomination process and leads the 
nomination portion of meetings.

+

Role and responsibilities
The committee has been established to:

 • ensure the board and its committees are 
appropriately constituted so as to 
effectively discharge their duties and 
responsibilities;

 • identify individuals qualified to become 
board and committee members and 
ensure their appointment through a 
formal process;

 • set the direction for how remuneration 
should be approached and addressed on 
an organisation-wide basis; and

 • assist the board in discharging its 
responsibilities in relation to the 
company’s remuneration policy and 
practices and to report annually to 
shareholders as required by applicable 
rules and regulations. 

Remcom is responsible for:
 • ensuring that the directors and 
executives are fairly and responsibly 
remunerated and that the disclosure 
in respect thereof is accurate and 
transparent. Remcom does this by 
overseeing the implementation of 
remuneration policies in relation to 
NEDs, executive directors and other 
senior executives and reviewing the 
outcomes of the implementation of 
these policies and evaluating whether 
they promote the achievement of the 
company’s strategic objectives and 
encourage individual performance. 
Where circumstances necessitate, 
Remcom will recommend the necessary 
improvements to the board;

 • reviewing other remuneration-related 
matters, as the board may from time 
to time direct;

 • considering the appropriate 
composition, in terms of size, mix, 
knowledge and experience for the board 
and its committees;

 • ensuring there is a formal process in 
place for the appointment of directors;

 • ensuring that induction and ongoing 
training and development of directors 
takes place; and

 • ensuring that formal succession plans 
for the board, chief executive and senior 
executives are in place.

Meetings and activities
The committee met three times during the 
year and focused on:

 • aligning its terms of reference to King IV;
 • enhancing remuneration disclosure 
by taking the principles and 
recommended practices of King IV 
into account;

 • reviewing the Exco’s remuneration 
packages in accordance with the 
company’s approved remuneration 
policy, which included mandating 
third-party service providers to conduct 
a benchmarking exercise and assist in 
the formulation of a recommendation 
to the board;

 • determining, following review of 
associated performance criteria, the 
short-term and long-term incentive 
awards;

 • considering the succession plans in 
place for the Exco and approving the 
company’s revised organisational 
structure, which saw the introduction 
of the role of chief operating officer;

 • receiving and approving the committee’s 
annual work plan against which the 
agenda for committee meetings is 
prepared to ensure that the committee 
attends to all matters falling within its 
mandate;

 • considering management’s proposal 
regarding NEDs’ fees, for 
recommendation to the board and 
subsequent approval by shareholders; 
and
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 • reviewing the company’s remuneration 
policy and report, for tabling at the 
annual general meeting of the company 
by way of separate non-binding advisory 
votes.

Details on how the Remcom discharged 
its responsibilities can be found in the 
remuneration report on pages 82 to 110. 

Risk committee
Risk appetite and tolerance are 
fundamental concepts setting the context 
for determining the group’s strategic 
objectives and are informed by the group’s 
risk culture, and details the risks the group 
can or is prepared to take and which are to 
be avoided.

The board determines the group’s risk 
appetite and tolerance levels, while 
management assumes responsibility for 
implementing and monitoring the 
processes of risk management and for the 
integration thereof into the day-to-day 
activities of the company.

The group’s enterprise risk management 
process encompasses the review, 
identification, quantification, prioritisation, 
response to and monitoring of the 
consequences of both internal and 
external risks and also accounts for new 
and emerging risks and opportunities. It 
also promotes ownership of risk areas and 
accountability for risk management. Risk 
and control procedures are developed, and 
enhanced upon, on an ongoing basis to 
improve risk identification, assessment and 
monitoring. Risks are assessed in terms of 
potential impact and likelihood. Inherent 
risk is determined with reference to an 
evaluation of impact and probability and 
its significance to the business, while 
residual risk is determined with reference 
to the mitigating strategies in place.

+

Composition
The committee comprises eight members, 
five of whom are independent non- 
executive directors, two executive directors 
and a divisional director. All members have 
the necessary risk management skills and 
experience required to discharge the 
committee’s responsibilities

The chairman of the board is not a 
member of the committee.

Role and responsibilities
The risk committee assists the board in 
discharging its responsibilities associated 
with risk management by reviewing the 
effectiveness of the processes and 
procedures adopted by management 
in relation to identifying, evaluating, 
documenting, managing, monitoring and 
reporting on risks and the assurance 
provided thereon.

It is the committee’s responsibility to 
ensure that an effective policy and plan for 
risk management, that will enhance the 
company’s ability to achieve its strategic 
objectives, has been implemented.

Responsibilities include:
 • Overseeing the development of a policy 
and plan for enterprise risk management 
in the form of a group risk register 
(taking market risk, credit risk, liquidity 
risk, operational risk and commercial risk 
into account) and annually reviewing 
and recommending its approval to the 
Board.

 • Continually monitoring the 
implementation of the policy and plan 
through risk management systems and 
processes.

 • Evaluating the nature and extent of the 
risks that the company is willing to take 
to achieve its strategic objectives and 

making recommendations to the board 
concerning the levels of tolerance and 
risk appetite and monitoring that risks 
are managed within these levels, as 
approved by the board. 

 • Reviewing the nature, extent and 
parameters of the company’s risk/
reward strategy, in terms of the risk 
appetite and tolerance relative to 
reward, as well as the limit of potential 
loss, which the company can accept and 
ensuring that risks are quantified where 
practicable. 

 • Reviewing and approving the scope of 
work of the risk management function, 
the systems and/or research required 
and planned activities, and satisfying 
itself that the function is sufficiently 
resourced to provide adequate 
assurance to the committee and 
specifically that appropriate resources 
are directed towards areas of high risk.

 • Monitoring that management creates 
and maintains an effective internal 
control and risk management 
environment and that risk is properly 
identified, managed and monitored.

 • Monitoring and reviewing the 
implementation and execution of risk 
management within the business on an 
ongoing basis.

 • Reviewing the effectiveness and 
efficiency of the enterprise risk 
management (“ERM”) system and being 
assured that material risks are identified 
and that appropriate risk management 
processes are in place, including the 
formulation and subsequent updating 
of appropriate company policies.

 • Regularly receiving a register of the 
company’s key risks and potential 
material risk exposures. Reporting to 
the board any material changes to and/
or divergence from the risk profile of the 
company.
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 • Considering the deliberations of 
management, the social and ethics 
committee, audit committee, as well 
as the board to ensure appropriate 
consideration of key risks facing the 
company.

 • Periodically reviewing insurance and 
other risk transfer arrangements and 
considering the adequacy of the 
coverage in place.

 • Expressing the committee’s formal 
opinion on the effectiveness of the 
system and process of risk management, 
including instances where the 
determined tolerance levels have been 
exceeded or deviated from materially, 
in the Integrated Report.

 • Considering internal audit’s statement 
regarding the adequacy, effectiveness 
and efficiency of internal controls, 
governance and risk management.

 • Reviewing the impact that significant 
litigation could have on the group.

 • Reviewing reporting concerning risk 
management for inclusion in the 
Integrated Report for timeliness, 
comprehensiveness and relevance.

 • Reviewing and approving of the 
combined assurance model.

 • Liaising closely with the audit committee 
to exchange information relevant to risk, 
financial control and reporting.

 • Overseeing that the risk management 
plan is distributed throughout the 
company and integrated in the day-to-
day activities of the company.

 • Monitoring the implementation of 
operational and corporate risk 
management plans.

 • Considering the need to receive periodic 
independent assurance on the 
effectiveness of risk management.

 • Reviewing the risks within the combined 
assurance model and ensuring 
coordination with the audit committee 
who is ultimately be responsible for 
combined assurance.

 • Reviewing the compliance monitoring 
plans and policies and determining 
whether adequate and effective controls 
are in place to ensure regulatory 
compliance.

Key focus areas include the management, 
rather than elimination, of risk, and 
ensuring comprehensive, timely and 
relevant disclosure with regard to risks 
facing the company as no risk management 
system or combined assurance provided 
can give absolute certainty that the risks 
the company faces are fully understood 
and can be avoided. While the committee 
assumes responsibility for overseeing the 
risk management programme in place for 
the group, management is responsible for 
identifying and evaluating strategic and 
operational risks and opportunities, putting 
the necessary mitigating strategies in 
place, allocating responsibility, formulation 
of a risk management plan and monitoring 
compliance against the plan.

Exco supports the committee in 
discharging its responsibilities.

Meetings and activities
Three meetings were held during the year 
with particular focus being given to:

 • performing the annual review of the 
group risk register, which includes:

 − considering whether any issues have 
come to light that impact the risk 
profile of the company which would 
result in an amendment of the risk 
register;

 − identifying opportunities where 
effective risk management can be 
turned into a competitive advantage;

 − revising the combined assurance 
framework to a four level assurance 
model;

 − assessing whether there are 
appropriate controls in place to 
manage the risks down to 
an acceptable level; and

 − approving the risks identified on a 
qualitative basis, according to 
probability and severity and where 
appropriate re-ranking of existing risks;

 • confirming its satisfaction with the 
effectiveness of the risk management 
system and processes in place and that 
the risks facing the company are being 
addressed appropriately;

 • receiving the chief executive’s report on 
the status with regard to the company’s 
key risks;

 • considering the governance, legal and 
compliance reports, incorporating calls 
to the whistleblower alertline, at 
intervals where the social and ethics 
committee does not sit;
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 • considering uninsured and uninsurable 
risks and adequacy of cover;

 • aligning the committee’s terms of 
reference to King IV; and

 • approving the committee’s annual 
work plan against which meeting 
agendas are prepared.

The material issues on pages 18 to 23 
provide further detail on the material 
risks the company faces.

Managing the changes in the risk 
environment particularly insofar as they 
relate to cyber security, data privacy, 
sustainability and legal compliance will 
continue to be areas of focus going 
forward.

The committee confirms its satisfaction 
that the group’s risks are being managed 
appropriately and is comfortable with the 
risk management processes adopted by 
management.

Social and ethics committee (“SEC”)
The SEC is constituted as a statutory 
committee for purposes of discharging the 
duties contemplated in Regulation 43 of 
the Act, which apply only to the company 
and its South African subsidiaries and 
as a board committee in respect of the 
responsibilities delegated to it by the 
board.

+

The report detailing how the committee 
has discharged its responsibilities in this 
regard appears on pages 111 to 113.

BEE committee
The BEE committee was an ad hoc 
sub-committee of the board mandated to 
consider the options regarding the BEE 
funding, which was due for redemption on 
31 December 2017, and to propose a way 
forward.

The committee comprised three members, 
namely Messrs Huysamer, Kilbourn and 
Morris, with Mr Kilbourn serving as 
chairman. Mr Widegger attended meetings 
as an invitee.

Three meetings were held to consider the 
various options available, including the 
associated processes, costs and potential 
advantages and disadvantages.

Based on the advice received from various 
tax and legal experts and engagement with 
the company’s JSE sponsor as well as the 
three SPVs, the committee resolved to 
recommend the extension of the 
company’s BEE shareholders’ funding 
arrangement with the Standard Bank 
of South Africa to 31 January 2021.

Executive committee (“Exco”)
The 12 member Exco is the most senior 
executive decision-making body within the 
group and assists the chief executive in 
managing the group’s operations and 
discharging the obligations delegated to 
him by the board. 

+

Zuki Jantjies was appointed as divisional 
director: sales and marketing and to Exco 
with effect from 15 January 2018 and 
following the resignation of Ryan Ruthven, 
which took effect on 14 September 2018, 
Neda Smith was appointed as divisional 
director: IT and member of Exco, effective 
27 August 2018.

Exco is specifically responsible for: 
 • the implementation of strategies and 
policies adopted by the board; 

 • managing the day-to-day activities of 
the company; 

 • prioritising and allocating the company’s 
capital, technical and human resources; 

 • establishing best management practices 
and functional standards; 

 • senior management appointments and 
monitoring the performance of senior 
management; 

 • maintaining a group-wide system of 
internal control to manage all group 
risks to support the board in discharging 
its responsibility in respect of the 
effective management of the risks 
associated with the group’s operations 
and in so doing supporting the creation 
and preservation of shareholder wealth; 

 • maintaining a group-wide legal 
compliance structure; 

 • setting the appropriate ethical tone and 
creating an ethical environment;

 • the development and implementation of 
business plans, policies, procedures and 
budgets, as approved by the board;

 • monitoring the company’s operational 
and financial performance;
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 • development and implementation of 
transformation initiatives;

 • development and implementation of 
corporate responsibility initiatives, 
including sustainability;

 • identifying, managing and developing 
talent;

 • managing the internal control 
environment and preparing reports for 
presentation to the audit committee;

 • the integrity of management 
information and financial reporting 
systems; and

 • development of company policy 
guidelines, including the code of ethics 
and business conduct;

as detailed in its terms of reference which 
were formalised and adopted during the 
year.

Exco met four times during the year.

Management development and 
succession committee (“Mandasco”)
Mandasco comprises seven members,
all of whom are Exco members, and is
responsible for ensuring that:

 • effective management development 
practices are in place and that they are 
aligned with the group’s business needs 
and human capital requirements;

 • the company is able to meet its 
employment equity and transformation 
objectives through the attraction and 
retention of the appropriate level of 
talent; and

 • an adequate succession pool and talent 
pipeline is maintained.

Four meetings were convened during 
the year under review for purposes of 
discharging its responsibilities in relation to:

 • maintaining an adequate succession 
pool and talent development plan 
through:

 − the identification of suitable 
candidates to populate the respective 
succession pools and for participation 
in the accelerated development and 
deployment programme (“ADDP”);

 − the compilation, execution and 
monitoring of individual development 
plans for succession pool and ADDP 
members to enable them to reach 
their full potential and develop the 
requisite skills and expertise necessary 
to suitably qualify them for the 
position for which they are being 
developed; and

 − the deployment of succession pool 
and ADDP members to fill positions 
for which they have been developed, 
as and when they become available;

 • transformation initiatives, specifically 
the achievement of the targeted 
employment equity levels, by identifying 
individuals for participation in the 
succession pools and ADDP, and 
monitoring the progress of existing 
candidates.

The various programmes in place saw the 
following appointments being made during 
the year under review:

 • General manager: one ADDP candidate 
and one succession pool candidate.

 • Assistant general manager: three 
succession pool candidates.

IT governance (“ITG”)
Information and technology is integrated 
into the business and is an important 
enabler both in the enhancement and 
advancement of the company’s objectives 
and position as a leader in its field.

The board is ultimately responsible for ITG 
and the strategic alignment of IT with the 
company’s performance and achievement 
of its strategic objectives. It has delegated 
responsibility to implement the ITG 
framework to management under the 
oversight of the audit committee. ITG is 
a standing point on the audit committee 
agenda.

The divisional director: IT, who reports 
directly to the chief executive, is 
responsible for IT operations within the 
group and specifically the implementation 
of business-focused IT strategies and 
ensuring proper system security, data 
integrity and business continuity. He is 
furthermore responsible for consolidating 
feedback relating to the performance of 
IT within the company, so that reactive or 
proactive steps may be taken to ensure 
that the company derives the maximum 
value from IT, while at the same time 
managing its risks and ensuring that the 
IT function is focused on IT investment 
initiatives, internal engagement to 
promote collaborative IT planning and the 
promotion of IT effectively to capitalise on 
economies of scale across the group.

 



77
City Lodge Hotel Group Integrated Report 2018

Areas of focus included:
 • continued investment into technology 
platforms with a view to stabilising the 
current environment;

 • introduction of enhanced technology 
services for guests and staff;

 • renegotiation of WiFi contract; 
 • investigation of a guest app;
 • introduction of business intelligence 
capability within existing platforms.

Save for the WiFi contract, these will 
remain areas of focus for the foreseeable 
future.

The board is satisfied that ITG is being 
addressed appropriately and is suitably 
aligned to the achievement of the 
company’s objectives and that the systems 
of internal control over IT are adequate 
and effective and that there has not been a 
material breakdown in the functioning of 
the internal control systems during the 
year under review.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION
The internal audit function supports the 
audit committee, board as well as all 
operations within the group by evaluating 
significant business, strategic and control 
risks. This assists management in the 
development and implementation 
of effective internal controls, the 
identification of financial reporting risks 
and in ensuring the adequacy of controls 
to address the risk of material 
misstatement of financial results. 

KPMG Services Proprietary Limited 
performs the company’s internal audit 
function. The head of internal audit reports 
functionally to the audit committee and 
administratively to the divisional director: 
financial. Internal audit has unrestricted 
access to the chief executive, the financial 
director, as well as the chairman of the 
audit committee.

Audits are conducted in accordance with 
the International Standards for the 
Professional Practice of Internal Auditing, 
with hotels being audited once every three 
years, unless circumstances dictate 
otherwise. Reports are presented at each 
audit committee meeting and are prepared 
in accordance with a defined set of audit 
criteria which highlight audit area ratings 
per hotel and summarise internal audit 
activities. Corrective action is taken where 
significant internal control weaknesses are 
identified and follow-up audits may be 
conducted if deemed necessary.

Based on the results of the 19 internal 
audit reviews completed during the year, 
which yielded an overall average level of 
compliance with the key controls tested 
of 91% (2017: 93%), the internal audit 
function and the audit committee 
concluded that the overall internal control 
effectiveness is excellent.

The audit committee reviews the 
effectiveness of the internal audit function 
to ensure that adequate, objective internal 
audit assurance standards and procedures 

exist and annually approves the internal 
audit plan and budget for the ensuing year.

Where mandated by the audit 
committee, internal audit carries out 
special assignments. 

The audit committee :
 • having confirmed the quality and 
effectiveness of the internal audit 
processes and taking cognisance of 
management’s views, concluded that 
the internal audit function operates 
effectively; and

 • upon assessing the independence of the 
internal audit function has concluded 
that, notwithstanding KPMG acting as 
internal and external auditors to the 
company and taking the ratio of fees 
between non-audit services and audit 
services into account, is satisfied that 
the independence of the function has 
not been compromised.

NON-AUDIT SERVICES
The board formally adopted a policy for 
the provision of non-audit services by 
external audit.

The policy provides guidelines on the 
audit, audit-related, tax and other 
non-audit services that the external 
auditor may provide, as well as the services 
that may not be provided by external 
audit.

All non-audit services performed by the 
external auditor must be pre-approved by 
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the audit committee in order to ensure 
that the provision of such services does 
not impair the external auditor’s 
independence.

DEALING IN SECURITIES AND 
INSIDER TRADING
The company has a board-approved policy 
on dealing in company securities, which 
requires directors and the group company 
secretary to obtain prior written clearance 
from the chairman of the board before 
dealing in City Lodge shares during an 
open period. The chairman of the board 
requires prior written clearance from any 
other designated director.

All dealings in securities are effected 
through the office of the group company 
secretary who assumes responsibility for 
the enforcement of the policy, maintains 
a record of requests for dealing and 
clearances which, with regard to directors’ 
dealings, is tabled at each meeting of the 
board, and arranges for the publication of 
the relevant announcement via the 
company’s sponsor on the JSE’s Stock 
Exchange News Service.

Directors, the group company secretary 
and senior employees are prohibited from 
dealing in the company’s securities during 
closed periods as defined by the Listings 
Requirements and at any time when those 
persons possess inside information.

General investor interaction during closed 
periods is limited to discussions on strategy 
and/or historical, publicly available 
information.

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST AND 
OTHER DIRECTORSHIPS
In addition to the annual declaration, 
declaration of interests in contracts and 
details of other directorships, is a standing 
item on the board agenda.
 
Directors are required to recuse 
themselves from discussions on those 
matters where they are, or may potentially 
be, conflicted after they have provided any 
material information relating to the matter 
or known to them or if requested to make 
any observations or pertinent insights 
relating to the matter, by the other 
directors.

Executive directors may, with the 
chairman’s permission, having due regard 
to whether the appointment may conflict 
with the business of the company and/or 
have a negative impact on the director’s 
ability to effectively meet their 
responsibilities, accept external board 
appointments.

While no limitations are imposed on the 
number of other appointments directors 
may accept, they are required to engage 
with the chairman with regard to their 

external appointments in order
to ensure that acceptance of the additional 
appointments will not impact his/her 
ability to devote sufficient time to the 
company.

The chairman of the board is satisfied that 
the NEDs have devoted the requisite 
amount of time to discharge their 
responsibilities to the company and that 
no director has a material interest in any 
contract entered into by the company.
 
Declaration of interests in other 
companies, board memberships and 
interests in contracts is also a standing 
item on the Exco agenda in addition to 
making an annual written declaration in 
this regard.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
The company acknowledges the 
importance of acting with integrity towards 
its various stakeholders and supports 
stakeholder engagement and strategies 
that facilitate timely and transparent 
communication and the dissemination 
of consistent, relevant and credible 
information.

To promote the achievement of the 
company’s business objectives and support 
economic, socially and environmentally 
sustainable practices continuous 
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engagement with key stakeholders takes 
place. The board, as ultimate custodian of 
stakeholder relations, has accordingly 
delegated responsibility for pro-actively 
dealing with the group’s various 
stakeholders, details of which are provided 
on pages 14 to 15 to the executive and  
divisional directors, group company 
secretary, hotels and outsourced public 
relations function.

Various methods of engagement have 
been adopted and include face-to-face 
meetings, results presentations with major 
institutional shareholders after the release 
of results, hosting investor and analyst 
sessions, the annual general meeting, 
engaging with the broader stakeholder 
community through its marketing efforts, 
advertising via various social media 
platforms, directly with guests via guest 
questionnaires and with local communities 
through various corporate social initiatives.
 
LITIGATION
The company is, in the ordinary course 
of business, subject to legal proceedings, 
which for a number of reasons, including 
risks and uncertainties, cannot be reliably 
predicted.

+

The company is not and has not during the 
year under review, been involved in any 
legal or arbitration proceedings that will 
or may have a material effect on the 
operations or financial position of the 
company, nor are there any such known 
proceedings pending.

SPONSOR
The company’s sponsor, Nedbank 
Corporate and Investment Banking, advises 
the board on compliance with the Listings 
Requirements. 

COMPLIANCE
The company is committed to complying 
with applicable laws, regulations and codes 
of best practice. A regulatory universe has 
been developed to assist with the group’s 
compliance initiatives and delegated to 
appropriate compliance owners, each of 
whom is responsible for monitoring 
compliance within their area of operation.

Compliance risk is monitored by the risk 
committee and compliance with applicable 
laws and regulations and consideration to 
non-binding rules, codes and standards is 
reviewed by the SEC bi-annually and the 
audit committee, as it applies to their 
respective mandates. 

The board is informed of regulatory 
changes, non-binding standards and codes 
that may have an impact on the group.

Areas of focus during the year included:
 • the Protection of Personal Information 
Act (“PoPI Act”), General Data Protection 
Regulation ("GDPR"), training and 
awareness; 

 • ongoing maintenance of the regulatory 
universe, including ongoing 
identification and compliance 
monitoring, which includes, inter alia, the 
review of legislation, its impact on the 
company, the associated compliance 
requirements, implementation of 
policies and procedures based on 
applicable laws and regulations and 
creating awareness.

Planned areas of focus for the forthcoming 
year include:

 • ongoing compliance training in identified 
areas; and

 • effecting improvements to the legal 
compliance framework with reference to 
emerging risks and reviewing and 
updating existing policies.
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PART 1 – BACKGROUND 
STATEMENT
Dear shareholders
I am pleased to present the report for the 
remuneration and nominations committee 
(“Remcom”) for the financial year ended 
30 June 2018, highlighting the key issues 
considered during this period. The 
Remcom has considered the 
recommendations provided in the King IV 
Report on Corporate Governance for South 
Africa™*, 2016 (“King IV”) as well as the 
amended JSE Listings Requirements, and 
has incorporated a number of the 
recommended practices in this report. 
As we implement the principles and 
recommended practices of King IV, we are 
pleased to note that many aspects of our 
remuneration policy already align with the 
spirit of King IV.

This remuneration report is aligned to the 
reporting structure recommended in King IV 
and is presented in three parts, namely:

 • Part 1: this background statement;
 • Part 2: an overview of the remuneration 
policy; and 

 • Part 3: the implementation of the policy 
for the last 12 months from 1 July 2017 
to 30 June 2018. 

We trust it will provide clarity on how the 
company’s remuneration policy informs 
actual pay and awards received by the 
executive directors, prescribed officers and 
senior management and how it supports 
the company’s strategy to attract and 
retain talent.

Notwithstanding constrained consumer 
spending, challenging trading conditions, 
including a decline in government travel, 
political uncertainty, negative investor 
sentiment given the current political and 
economic climate, depressed business 
confidence, drought, competitor activity 
including aggressive discounting, travel 
advisories and union demands, the 
company performed credibly.

Remcom contracted the services of PwC 
for the purpose of obtaining independent 
external advice on the company’s 

remuneration policy and report and 21st 
Century Pay Solutions to assess and 
benchmark executive director and 
prescribed officer remuneration, and is 
of the view that both service providers 
were independent and objective.

Key areas of focus and decisions taken 
during the reporting period included:

 • Revision of the remuneration policy and 
remuneration report to align with King IV.

 • Revision of the Remcom terms of 
reference to align with King IV.

 • Benchmarking of executive committee 
(“Exco”) remuneration to compare levels 
of pay to companies of comparable size 
and complexity, taking affordability, 
performance and economic conditions 
into account.

 • Approved increases to executive director 
and prescribed officer guaranteed 
packages, as well as the general salary 
increase for the remaining employees.

 • Approved short-term incentive 
payments.

 • Set the performance targets applicable 
to the long-term incentive (“LTI”) 
schemes and approved awards to 
eligible management employees.

 • Performance testing and approval of 
vesting of the 2014 Share Appreciation 
Rights (“SAR”) and 2014 Restricted Share 
Plan (“RSP”).

 • Considered management’s 
recommendations for non-executive 
director fees, and the fees for board 
sub-committees, prior to recommending 
to the board and then to shareholders 
for approval.

 • Reviewed the executive succession 
plan and structure and approved the 
revised structure and reporting lines, 
including executive director 
appointments to the board.

 • Reviewed and approved the 
remuneration report for inclusion in 
the integrated report.

There have been no deviations from the 
remuneration policy and no substantial 
changes have been effected to the 
remuneration policy since it was last 

* Copyright and trademarks are owned by the Institute of Directors Southern Africa NPC and all of its rights are reserved.

presented. There have, however, been 
enhancements specifically in respect of 
disclosure of certain pay elements. 

Future areas of focus:
 • Continue to review remuneration 
practices with a view to ensuring that 
employees are fairly, equitably and 
responsibly remunerated and that the 
critical skills required to deliver on the 
company’s strategic objectives and 
promote positive outcomes over the 
short, medium and long-term, are 
retained.

 • Engaging with shareholders on 
remuneration.

 • Benchmarking the remuneration policy 
against best practice.

 • Review of the short and long-term 
incentive schemes for relevance.

In alignment with a value creation and pay 
for performance culture, the company 
places a greater emphasis on variable pay 
for executive directors (“ED”) and Exco, 
which the Remcom monitors on a 
continuous basis.

The committee remains committed to 
remunerating its employees fairly and 
responsibly. 

King IV states that the remuneration of 
executive management should be fair 
and responsible in the context of overall 
employee remuneration. City Lodge is 
sensitive to the wage differential between 
executive and lower-income employees 
and acknowledges the need to address 
the gap between the remuneration of 
executives and lower level employees. The 
Remcom is cognisant of this concern as 
is evident from the award of higher 
percentage increases to employees at the 
lower end of the pay scale when compared 
with the average increase awarded to the 
ED and prescribed officers. Minimum wage 
earners have for the past three years 
received a higher increase than the 
average increase for Exco. City Lodge’s 
minimum wage is 2,32 times more than 
the statutory minimum for the industry.
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In an effort to find a balance between the 
interests of executives and shareholders, 
a significant portion of their pay is at risk 
and subject to stretching performance 
conditions. 

However, given the challenges our industry 
faces, the committee recognises that in 
order to ensure a focused drive to meeting 
shareholder expectations, the company’s 
top talent must be presented with a 
competitive value proposition in terms 
of total remuneration. 

We are conscious of the importance of 
employee wellbeing in the workplace and 
consistently and continuously assess and 
review the remuneration policies in place. 
Part of our review involved the movement 
of the Group Life and Disability cover 
which resulted in enhanced employee 
benefits in terms of additional funeral, 
dread disease and educational cover. 
Benefits are reviewed annually to ensure 
the company is offering the best benefits, 
bearing affordability in mind.  

At the annual general meeting held on 
9 November 2017, 97,5% of shareholders 
represented or present, voted in favour 
of the remuneration policy.  

In compliance with King IV and the JSE 
Listings Requirements, the remuneration 
policy and the implementation report 
respectively set out in parts 2 and 3 will be 
tabled at the forthcoming annual general 
meeting, scheduled for 8 November 2018, 
for separate non-binding advisory votes. 
In the event that the remuneration policy 
and/or implementation report are voted 
against by 25% or more of the voting rights 
exercised, we will undertake to engage 
with our shareholders in order to 
determine how to address their legitimate 
and reasonable concerns. 

The Remcom is of the view that:
 • it has discharged its obligations as 
detailed in its terms of reference 
responsibly and that the principles 
advocated by King IV, the Companies 

Act, 2008 and the JSE Listings 
Requirements as well as the 
remuneration policy have been applied;

 • the remuneration policy and its 
implementation are appropriately 
aligned with the company’s strategic 
objectives and stakeholder interests; and

 • the principles adopted are appropriate 
for guiding its decisions to fairly and 
responsibly remunerate executive 
directors and prescribed officers.

Assessed against King IV and the JSE 
Listings Requirements, the Remcom is 
satisfied with remuneration compliance.

F W J Kilbourn
Chairman of the remuneration committee

15 October 2018

PART 2 – OVERVIEW OF 
THE REMUNERATION 
PHILOSOPHY AND POLICY
This report details the activities of the 
Remcom and provides an overview of the 
company’s philosophy, principles and 
approach with regards to remuneration, 
specifically highlighting remuneration 
applicable to ED, Exco and non-executive 
directors (“NED”), as well as its 
implementation during the year. The 
remuneration policy will be put forward to 
shareholders in order to obtain a non-
binding vote at the next annual general 
meeting. The full remuneration policy is 
available online at www.clhg.com 

GOVERNANCE AND THE ROLE OF 
THE REMCOM
The Remcom is responsible for overseeing 
the governance of remuneration matters. 
It is specifically responsible for ensuring 
that the company remunerates its EDs and 
senior executives fairly and responsibly, 
and that the remuneration policies in place 
serve the company’s long-term interests. 

In discharging its responsibility, Remcom 
reviews the remuneration policy and its 
implementation on an annual basis.

Remcom also considers management’s 
recommendations, and in turn makes 
recommendations to the board on the 
fees payable to the NEDs, which 
recommendation is subject to 
shareholder approval.

Specifics with regard to the composition, 
role and responsibilities of the Remcom, 
activities undertaken during the year and 
the remuneration policy are disclosed on 
pages 72 and 73. 

REMUNERATION POLICY
Reward philosophy and strategy 
statement
The company’s policy is to pay its staff at a 
market rate comparable to similar roles 
within the market. On the basis that the 
ED and Exco’s guaranteed package is 
benchmarked across industries, with 
reference to size and turnover, and in 
order to attract scarce and critical skills to 
implement the company’s strategy and 
retain high-calibre individuals at this level, 
the company aims to set its guaranteed 
pay at the upper quartile. In respect of the 
remaining employees, the company aims 
between the mean and upper quartile 
within a normal distribution range of the 
relevant industry (hotels and hospitality).

City Lodge is committed to developing, 
implementing and upholding total reward 
strategies and practices which:

 • are fair and responsible and consistent 
with, and aligned to the vision, mission, 
values and business objectives of the 
company and to promote the 
achievement thereof;

 • pursue the best interests of the 
company, its shareholders and its 
internal and external stakeholder base;

 • offer an appropriate mix of fixed 
remuneration and variable 
remuneration, which includes short- 
term and long-term incentives;

 • are market-related;
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 • are driven by, and show a commitment 
to, rewarding performance, integrity and 
quality innovation;

 • offer competitive benefits; and
 • articulate a distinctive value proposition 
for current and prospective employees.

Total reward strategy 
The total reward strategy is aimed at:

 • providing an integrated approach for 
reward management that effectively 
attracts, motivates, engages and retains 
the talent required to achieve the 
desired business results;

 • aligning reward practices with business 
strategy through a process of analysis, 
thereby ensuring that they serve the 
business objectives; and

 • adhering to legal, ethical and best 
practice standards, and reflecting good 
corporate governance and citizenship by 
complying with and exceeding industry 
and statutory minimum standards.

Remuneration structure
The various components of remuneration applicable to South African employees are as follows:

Element of pay 
type Purpose

Performance 
period Performance measures Settlement Application

Fixed
Total guaranteed 
pay (“TGP”) 
(monthly salary, 
retirement funding 
based on 
pensionable salary, 
medical aid, death 
and disability 
cover)

The basis of the 
company’s ability to 
attract and retain 
the required skills.

Reflects the 
individual’s role and 
position.

Annually – 
1 August to 
31 July.

Reviewed annually, having regard to 
the approved increase mandate, 
benchmark data received from 
independent remuneration 
consultants, where applicable, 
macro-economic factors, inflation, 
affordability, scarcity of skills, 
complexity of role, experience 
and performance.

Payment takes place 
monthly and 
comprises a mix of 
cash salary as well 
as compulsory and 
discretionary 
benefits.

 • Employees below 
manager level*/**

 • General managers*
 • Senior and 

head office 
management*

 • Exco
 • ED

Variable
Short-term 
incentive
Performance 
appraisal linked 
(“PAL”) bonus

Drive a “pay for 
performance” 
culture and reward 
the achievement of 
business objectives.

Bi-annually – 
1 July to 
31 December and 
1 January to 
30 June.

To create a performance culture and 
reward employees for achieving 
strong annual results when 
compared against predetermined 
targets and in so doing, aligning 
employee focus and shareholder 
experience.

Cash settlement 
capped at a 
percentage of GP 
depending on 
individual’s role. 

The standard payout 
level is generally 
expressed as a 
percentage of salary 
and then moderated 
by the performance 
score.

 • Assistant general 
managers

 • General managers
 • Senior and head 
office managers

The merit of putting a 
qualifying employee 
forward for 
participation is 
debated between the 
divisional director of 
operations or head of 
division and the chief 
executive (“CE”), and 
once reviewed by the 
external auditors, 
qualifying candidates 
are recommended to 
Remcom for approval.

* Thirteenth cheque over and above base pay and benefits.
**  Employees’ share ownership opportunities exist through the 10th Anniversary Employees’ Share Trust and Injabulo Staff Trusts, subject to qualification criteria being met.
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Element of pay 
type Purpose

Performance 
period Performance measures Settlement Application

Variable
(continued)

Short-term 
incentive 
(continued)
Executive 
committee 
performance 
management 
scheme (“ECPMS”)

Drive a “pay for 
performance” 
culture and reward 
the achievement of 
business objectives 
and in so doing 
aligns employee 
focus with 
shareholder 
expectations while 
simultaneously 
promoting retention 
through share 
ownership.

Financial 
measure: 
Bi-annually – 
1 July to 
31 December and 
1 January to 
30 June.

Non-financial 
measure:
Annually – 1 July 
to 30 June.

Financial targets (65% weighting) are 
measured bi-annually with reference 
to the group average achieved for 
PAL.

Non-financial measures (35% 
weighting) comprise individual key 
performance areas (“KPA”), which in 
turn have reference to the group’s 
strategic objectives.

Targets for measuring the 
achievement of the non-financial 
performance criteria are individually 
tailored and are predetermined 
prior to the commencement of an 
incentive period, in consultation 
with the CE.

Achievement of these targets 
incrementally trigger awards.

A point scale of 0 to 7 points per KPA 
is utilised to measure achievement 
against each set and agreed KPA:

 • Below target threshold: 0 points
 • Target threshold: 1 point
 • On-target: 5 points; and
 • Stretch target: 7 points

Financial measure: 
February and August

Non-financial 
measure: August

 • Exco
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Element of pay 
type Purpose

Performance 
period Performance measures Settlement Application

Variable
(continued)
Short-term 
incentive 
(continued)
Executive director 
incentive scheme 
(“EDIS”)

Drive a “pay for 
performance” 
culture and reward 
the achievement of 
business objectives 
and in so doing 
aligns employee 
focus with 
shareholder 
expectations while 
simultaneously 
promoting retention 
through share 
ownership.

Annually – 1 July 
to 30 June.

Financial drivers (65% weighting) 
comprise the weighting assigned 
to the group pool drivers, namely 
normalised group EBITDA (70%) and 
normalised fully diluted HEPS (30%) 
with the percentage threshold 
performance scale reflecting a 
bonus rating of 75% if the 
percentage target achieved is 85% 
for EBITDA and 90% for HEPS.

The percentage target performance 
scale will reflect a bonus rating of 
100% if the percentage target 
achieved is 100% for both EBITDA 
and HEPS.

The stretch performance scale will 
reflect a bonus rating of

 • 175% if the percentage target 
achieved is:
 – 110% for EBITDA; and  
 – 115% for HEPS.

 • 250% if the percentage 
target achieved is:
 – 115% for EBITDA; and 
 – 130% for HEPS.

Non-financial measures (35% 
weighting) include, but are not 
limited to, the achievement of, 
alternatively progress made towards 
the achievement of, strategic 
objectives, group performance 
against peers/competitor, increase 
in profit, completing projects within 
budget and/or prior to deadline and 
other key performance drivers of 
the business, eg ROE.

Scale used in evaluating 
achievement:

 • Threshold target percentage 
achieved = 80% of each driver.

 • On-target percentage achieved = 
100% of each driver.

 • Stretch target percentage 
achieved = 120% of each driver.

August  • ED
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Element of pay 
type Purpose

Performance 
period Performance measures Settlement Application

Variable (continued)
Long-term 
incentive 
(“RSP” and “SAR”)

Aligns employee 
interests with 
shareholders’ 
interests.

Annual awards 
with three-year 
vesting periods 
and subject to 
vesting conditions 
being met.

RSP: earning of a bonus in the 
preceding financial year.

SAR: achievement of threshold or 
target performance conditions, 
measured over a three-year period 
and vesting only to the extent 
performance conditions are met.

Settlement takes 
place as directed by 
participant.

RSP:
 • General managers
 • Senior and head 

office management
 • Exco
 • ED

SAR:
 • Senior management
 • Exco
 • ED

Re-pricing, re-granting and backdating of awards are prohibited. No awards are allocated or exercised during closed periods.

Bonus tables
The bonus achievable for each of the STI schemes are reflected in the tables below:

Bonus achievable percentage – PAL

Scale (total PAL score of 100%)

Assistant general 
managers – bonus %
 – half-yearly annual salary

General managers – 
bonus % 
– half-yearly annual salary

Head office management –
 bonus %
 – half-yearly annual salary

65% – 69% 2,5 5 Group average up to a 
maximum of 40%

70% – 74% 5 10

75% – 79% 8,75 17,5

80% – 84% 12,5 25

85% – 89% 16,25 32,5

90% – 95%+ 20 40

Bonus achievable – ECPMS

Overall PAL scale Bonus % of half-annual TGP Exco – bonus %

65% – 68% 10 Financial element (65% of TGP): measured bi-annually with 
reference to the PAL group average
Non-financial element (35% of TGP): measured annually
Total STI capped at 50%

69% – 72% 12,5

73% – 76% 16,25

77% – 80% 24,5

+80% 32,5

Table explanation:
 • If the group achieves an average PAL score below 65% then the payout percentage is 0% of 50% of total guaranteed package (“TGP”).
 • If the group achieves an average 65% to 68% PAL score for the relevant six-month period then the payout percentage is 10% of 50% of TGP.
 • If the group achieves an average 69% to 72% PAL score for the relevant six-month period then the payout percentage is 12,5% of 50% of TGP.
 • If the group achieves an average 73% to 76% PAL score for the relevant six-month period then the payout percentage is 16,25% of 50% of TGP.
 • If the group achieves an average 77% to 80% PAL score for the relevant six-month period then the payout percentage is 24,5% of 50% of TGP.
 • If the group achieves an average 80% PAL score or greater for the relevant six-month period then the payout percentage is 32,5% of 50% of TGP.

Bonus achievable – EDIS
 • Financial element (65% of TGP) achievement of HEPS/EBITDA.
 • Non-financial element (35% of TGP) comprises strategic objectives and other key performance drivers.
 • Bonus capped at 120% of TGP.
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Long-term incentive (“LTI”)

Share Appreciation Rights 
(“SAR”) Scheme Restricted Share Plan (“RSP”)

Description Participants receive a 
conditional right to receive 
shares in the company, equal 
to the difference between 
the exercise price and the 
grant price multiplied by 
the number of SAR awards 
exercised.

Participants will receive a full share and become a shareholder on the 
award date, but subject to forfeiture in the event that the employee leaves 
the employment of the company within a specified period. These shares 
entitle participants to share in dividends and to exercise voting rights. 
However, the participant cannot sell or encumber the shares prior to 
vesting.

Purpose To attract, retain and 
incentivise employees.

To attract, retain and incentivise employees. 
To provide selected employees with the opportunity of receiving shares in 
the company.
The RSP was initially used as a retention mechanism or as a tool to attract 
prospective employees, but is now being used as a tool to incentivise and 
retain employees.

Eligibility ED
Exco
Senior management

ED
Exco
Senior management
Head office management
General managers

Company limit The aggregate number of shares which may be allocated under the SAR and RSP at any time may not exceed    
2 997 074 shares. This limit excludes shares purchased in the market and shares forfeited.

Individual limit The maximum number of shares which may be allocated to any one individual in respect of unvested SAR 
and RSP awards may not exceed 428 154 shares.

Settlement method The rules of the LTI plans cater for the following:
 • Market purchase of shares.
 • Issue/subscription of new shares.

However, the company’s preference is to settle all awards under the SAR and RSP from a market purchase 
of shares. 

The rules of the RSP have been drafted more broadly to also include the use of treasury shares as a 
settlement method. As a fall-back provision, the employee may be paid cash in lieu of shares (“SARs”).

Termination of employment Participants terminating employment prior to the vesting date of a particular award will be classified as a 
good or bad leaver.

Bad leavers will forfeit all awards on the date of termination of employment.

In the case of good leavers, a pro rata portion of all unvested awards will vest on the date of termination of 
employment. The pro rata portion will reflect the number of months served since the date of grant and the 
extent to which the performance conditions (if any) have been met. The balance of the awards will lapse. In 
the case of the SAR, all vested awards should be exercised within six months from the date of termination 
of employment.

Change of control In the case of a change of control, a pro rata portion of all unvested awards will vest on the date of change of 
control.

The pro rata portion will reflect the number of months served since the date of grant and the extent to which the 
performance conditions (if any) have been met and are to be exercised within a period determined by Remcom.

Variation in share capital In the event of a variation in share capital, the participants will continue to participate in the various LTI 
plans. Remcom may, however, where the company’s value has been materially affected, make an 
adjustment to the number of awards to give a participant an equivalent fair value of the equity capital as 
to which he/she would have been entitled prior to the event.
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Share Appreciation Rights 
(“SAR”) Scheme Restricted Share Plan (“RSP”)

Allocation methodology Annual, subject to the 
discretion of the Remcom. 

SAR awards = (SAR face value 
% of TGP x TGP)/grant price.

Restricted shares: ad hoc, as determined by Remcom.

Bonus shares: annually, subject to the discretion of Remcom and subject to 
the earning of a cash bonus as measured against the defined performance 
criteria of the STI.

Value of bonus = bonus match % x total bonus.

Bonus shares = (individual bonus/total bonus)/number of bonus shares 
acquired.

Grant price The volume weighted 
average share price for the 
10 business days prior to the 
date of grant.

N/A

Vesting period Three years Three years

Lapse period Seven years N/A

Performance conditions Growth in normalised, fully 
diluted, headline earnings 
per share (“HEPS”). Two 
HEPS targets will be set:

 • Threshold – consumer 
price index (“CPI”) over 
the three-year 
performance period;

 • Target – CPI + 2 
percentage points per 
annum over the three-
year performance period.

25% will vest if threshold 
performance is achieved and 
100% will vest if target 
performance is achieved. 
Linear vesting will occur 
between the threshold and 
the target.

The earning of an STI, which is subject to defined performance criteria, is 
the proxy for participation. No other performance conditions, save for 
continued employment, are imposed.
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PACKAGE DESIGN FOR EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND PRESCRIBED OFFICERS
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Due to the leveraged nature of the SAR and the difficulty in predicting the value thereof, it has been excluded 
from the LTI component.

Employee share ownership – City Lodge 
10th Anniversary Employees’ Share Trust 
(“10th Anniversary Trust”) and Injabulo 
Staff Share Scheme (“Injabulo Trust”)
All employees not participating in the 
company’s LTI plans and who, at the 
relevant date, being the first day of the 
month following that during which the 
company pays its final dividend, have been 
in the full-time employ of the company for 
at least 12 months, are eligible to 
participate in the 10th Anniversary Trust 
and when it unwinds, the Injabulo Trust.

10th Anniversary Trust
The 10th Anniversary Trust holds 
approximately 1,17% of the company’s 
issued share capital, which was acquired 
through an interest-free loan from the 
company, the details of which can be 
found in the directors’ report on page 117.

The Injabulo Trust
The Injabulo Trust was established with the 
implementation of the City Lodge black 
economic empowerment transaction 
whereby the Vuwa special-purpose vehicle 
(“SPV”) and the University of Johannesburg 
School for Tourism and Hospitality (“the 
Hotel School”) together with the Staff Trust 
SPV acquired 15% of the company’s issued 
share capital. The Injabulo Trust is the sole 
shareholder of the Staff Trust SPV, which 
holds 5,87% of the company’s issued share 
capital. The note on page 144 provides 
more information in this regard.

Subject to the provisions of the respective 
trust deeds, including, inter alia, funding 
arrangements, beneficiaries are entitled to 
the following:

 • A proportion of all dividends received.
 • A proportion of the growth in the value 
of the shares held, distributed in the 
form of shares.

No income and/or growth distributions will 
be made under the Injabulo Trust until the 
loan in respect of the shares held by the 
Staff Trust SPV has been repaid in full.
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Service contracts and notice periods
There are no contractual arrangements 
applicable to the appointments and 
termination of the EDs or Exco. 

All employees are issued with a letter of 
appointment detailing their remuneration 
as well as notice period, which is one 
month for all staff, except for general 
manager, head office managers and heads 
of departments where two months’ notice 
applies and Exco and EDs where three 
months’ notice applies.

With regards the ED and Exco:
 • no sign on, retention or restraint 
payments are made, save for in 
exceptional circumstances; and 

 • on early termination of employment, 
 o there is no automatic entitlement to:
 – bonus; and
 – share-based payments.
 o good leavers will be entitled to:
 – leave pay; and
 –  pro-rated vesting of long-term 

incentives, if applicable.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 
(“NED”) REMUNERATION
Appointment and term
The appointment of directors is subject 
to election or re-election at the annual 
general meeting and is a matter for the 
board as a whole, assisted where 
appropriate by Remcom, and subject at all 
times to the approval of shareholders. 
Board appointments are governed by the 
Companies Act 2008, JSE Listings 
Requirements and the company’s MoI, 
which provide for at least one-third of the 
NEDs to retire by rotation at the company’s 
annual general meeting. The directors so 
retiring may, if eligible, offer themselves 
for re-election. Termination of office may 
occur at retirement age, alternatively will 

occur if a director is prohibited by law from 
being a director, fails to be re-elected, is 
found to be guilty of misconduct or fails to 
attend meetings without good reason, or 
poor performance.

NEDs do not have service contracts, but 
are issued with letters of appointment 
detailing, among other things, their 
responsibilities. 

They do not participate in the company’s 
STI and LTI schemes.

Fees and basis of remuneration
Fees payable to the NEDs are reviewed 
annually and are not linked to the 
company’s share price or performance.

In recognition of their ongoing 
responsibilities and contribution outside 
of meetings, as well as historically good 
meeting attendance, NEDs receive an 
annual fee, not a base fee and fee per 
meeting attended. The same applies to 
sub-committees, with a premium being paid 
to the chairmen. The fee paid to the 
chairman of the board is inclusive of all 
board and committee attendances as well 
as other responsibilities across the group. 
Exceptional circumstances may present 
themselves which merit the establishment 
of a sub-committee of the board to 
investigate and advise the full board on 
a matter and justify payment of fees in 
addition to those paid to directors for their 
services. In compliance with the Companies 
Act, the company would, without the prior 
approval of shareholders, not be able 
to remunerate the members of the 
temporary/ad hoc committee for the 
extraordinary services rendered. 
Accordingly provision is made for payment 
of such fees.

In accordance with Binding General Rules 
40 and 41 issued by SARS on 10 February 
2017, effective 1 June 2017, NED fees will 
not be classified as remuneration and will 
therefore not be subject to mandatory PAYE 
and NEDs receiving cumulative NED fees in 
excess of R1 million in a 12 month period, 
will be obliged to register for and charge 
VAT on the fees earned.

The fee structure is as far as possible 
aligned with the market, taking cognisance 
of the size and market capitalisation of the 
various companies included in the sample, 
as well as macro-economic factors, CPI, 
the financial position of the company and 
additional responsibilities placed on board 
members by new legislation and corporate 
governance principles.

Based on management’s recommendations 
on fees, Remcom and in turn the board 
review and propose the same to 
shareholders at the annual general meeting.
Fees are:

 • paid quarterly, in arrears, in cash; and
 • pro-rated in line with the period served 
in the case of appointments or 
resignations during a financial year.

The fee structure, as approved by 
shareholders, remains in place for the 
financial year.

Expenses
Travel, hotel and other expenses 
reasonably and necessarily incurred on 
company business is covered by the 
company, subject to production of the 
appropriate supporting documentation in 
accordance with the documented travel 
policy.

Premiums for directors and officers’ 
insurance cover are also paid by the 
company.
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PART 3 –
IMPLEMENTATION 
REPORT
GUARANTEED PAY REVIEW AND 
INCREASES
Guaranteed pay is reviewed annually 
taking the approved increase mandate, 
macro-economic factors and performance 
into account. Mandated increases take 
effect on 1 August.

Exco members are formally graded 
using the 21st Century Pay Solutions 
Execumeasure system (“Execumeasure”), 
as well as in terms of the Patterson grading 
model in an effort to ensure effective 
benchmarking.

The annual review of Exco’s fixed 
remuneration, which takes place between 
May and July of each year, is benchmarked 
to the market. In carrying out its mandate 
to promote fair and responsible 
remuneration, Remcom engaged the 
services of 21st Century Pay Solutions 
to benchmark and advise on the level 
of pay for Exco.

Remcom authorised Exco total cost of 
employment increases, effective 1 August 
2018, of between 5% and 37,2% (2017: 
between 6% and 8%), which averaged out 
at 13,5%, with higher increases being 
awarded to certain packages which were 
either found to be lagging the market or 
following a change in responsibilities or 
promotion.

The board further, on recommendation 
of Remcom, approved a general salary 
increase of 6% for manager level 

employees (2017: 6,5%), 7% (2017: 7,25%) 
for minimum wage earners and 6,5% 
(2017: 7%) for the balance, with effect 
from 1 August 2018.
 
ACHIEVEMENT OF STI OUTCOMES
PAL bonus 
Hotel performance averaged at 71,08% 
and 66,57% respectively for the two 
measurement periods, with only a few 
units achieving scores in excess of 80%. 
This translated into a group average pay 
out of 12,04% and 9,21% of half-annual 
salary respectively, reflective of challenging 
operating conditions.

ECPMS 
Achievement of non-financial measures 
averaged at 16,25% of TGP.

EDIS 
ED performance yielded an average bonus 
percentage payable of 14% of TGP for the 
year under review.

THE LONG-TERM INCENTIVES 
GRANTED AND AWARDED
There have been no changes to policies 
regarding SAR and RSP. The details of the 
allocations made during the financial year 
are set out as follows:

SAR Scheme 
Annual awards are made with reference 
to the face value of the award and 
determined using the below formula:

 • TGP x set multiple = number of SARs 
to be allocated.

 • 126 768 awards were granted to 
11 participants during the year ended 
30 June 2018.

The following performance conditions 
were imposed: 
Performance conditions

 • Threshold performance condition 
average annual percentage growth 
in normalised fully diluted headline 
earnings per share (“HEPS”) (as reported 
in the published annual financial 
statements for the year ended 30 June 
2017, being 833,6 cents) over a 
three-year period exceeds the average 
annual growth in the consumer price 
index (“CPI”) per annum over the same 
three-year period.

 • Target performance condition average 
annual percentage growth in normalised 
fully diluted HEPS (as reported in the 
published annual financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2017, being 
833,6 cents) over a three-year period 
exceeds the average annual growth in 
CPI + 2 percentage points per annum 
over the same three-year period.

RSP 
The RSP operates in conjunction with the 
STI. There are no performance criteria 
other than the earning of a cash bonus as 
measured against the defined performance 
criteria of the STI and continued 
employment with the company.

In total, 29 943 shares were allocated to 
53 participants during the financial year.

Employee share ownership – 10th 
Anniversary Share Trust 
In total, 958 employees received a cash 
distribution of R2 090 from the 10th 
Anniversary Trust during the reporting 
period (2017: 925 employees received a 
cash distribution amounting to R2 485).
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LTI VESTING OUTCOMES 
Vesting of 2015 SAR Award
Following the non-achievement of the performance conditions imposed in respect of the 2015 grant, the Remcom confirmed that the 
performance conditions have not been achieved and as a result the 2015 SAR award did not vest.

TOTAL REMUNERATION OUTCOMES
The composition of remuneration outcomes during the 2018 financial year for the executive directors and prescribed officers are represented 
graphically below.
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TERMINATION OF OFFICE PAYMENTS
No termination payments were made during the year.

DETAILS OF REMUNERATION PAID 
The remuneration of executive directors and prescribed officers of City Lodge for the past two financial years is displayed in the following 
tables on pages 94 and 95.
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DETAILS OF REMUNERATION PAID
2017

R000
Basic 

salary

Perform-
ance

 bonus

Fringe 
benefits 

and 
allowances

Pension 
fund 

contri-
butions

Total 
annual

remuner-
ation

LTI 
reflected1, 2

Total 
single 

figure of 
remuner-

ation

Executive directors
C Ross  4 478  1 801  439  717  7 435  2 036  9 471 
A C Widegger  3 467  1 387  34  555  5 443  1 431 6 874

 7 945  3 188  473  1 272  12 878  3 467  16 345 
Prescribed officers
A J Balabanoff  1 839 365 185 294  2 683  305  2 988 
A W Dooley  1 549  590  32  163  2 334  370  2 704 
Z Jantjies  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   
M S Kobilski  1 565  374  133  250  2 322  283  2 605 
N R B Parbhoo  1 338  415  29  214  1 996  282  2 278 
R V Phinn  1 747  257  27  279  2 310  250  2 560 
R Ruthven  1 176  257  58  123  1 614  203  1 817 
L G Siddo  1 562  340  5  164  2 071  136  2 207 
P M Schoeman 1 033 109 10 108  1 260  44  1 304 
P Tate 1 863 365 17 298  2 543  305  2 848 
M van Heerden 1 311 430 61 138  1 940  285  2 225 

 14 983  3 502  557  2 031  21 073  2 463  23 536 
1  The SARs granted on 1 September 2014 with performance period ended on 30 June 2017 are included in the LTIP reflected for 2017 at the intrinsic value of R26,97 per share based 
on 100% of the awards vesting.

2 The value of the bonus shares awarded in 2017 on the basis of performance for the 2017 financial year is reflected in the 2017 single figure of remuneration. 
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2018

R000
Basic 

salary

Perform-
ance 

bonus

Fringe 
benefits 

and 
allowances

Pension 
fund 

contri-
butions

Total 
annual 

remuner-
ation

LTI 
reflected3, 4

Total 
single 

figure of 
remuner-

ation
Executive directors
C Ross  4 756 701 63  761  6 281  351  6 632 
A C Widegger  3 679 701 37  589  5 006  351  5 357 

 8 435  1 402 100  1 350  11 287  702  11 989 
Prescribed officers
A J Balabanoff  1 953 347  41  313  2 654  139  2 793 
A W Dooley  1 645 486  32  173  2 336  194  2 530 
Z Jantjies  390 100 10  23  523  40  563 
M S Kobilski  1 660 375 2  266  2 303  150  2 453 
N R B Parbhoo  1 427 271 29  228  1 955  109  2 064 
R V Phinn  1 861 340  173  298  2 672  136  2 808 
R Ruthven  1 269 422  58  133  1 882  169  2 051 
L G Siddo  1 686 242 9  177  2 114  97  2 211 
P Tate  1 977 371 17  316  2 681  148  2 829 
M van Heerden  1 413 338 61  148  1 960  135  2 095 

 15 281  3 292 432  2 075  21 080  1 317  22 397
3  The SARs granted on 1 September 2015 with performance period ended on 30 June 2018 are included in the LTIP reflected for 2018 at the intrinsic value of Rnil per share based on 
0% of the awards vesting.

4 The value of the bonus shares awarded in 2018 on the basis of performance for the 2018 financial year is reflected in the 2018 single figure of remuneration.
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SCHEDULE OF UNVESTED AWARDS AND CASH FLOW ON SETTLEMENT
2017 2018

Awards per grant date

Opening 
number on 
1 July 2016

Granted 
during

2017

Forfeited/ 
lapsed 
during 

2017

Exercised/ 
settled 
during 

2017 

Closing 
number on 

30 June 
2017

Cash value 
received 

during the 
year8

Closing 
estimated 

fair value at 
30 June 

20178, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13

Granted 
during

2018

Forfeited/
 lapsed 
during 

2018

Exercised/ 
settled 
during 

2018

Closing 
number on 

30 June 
2018

Cash value 
received 

during the 
year8

Closing 
fair value 

at 30 June 
201814, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards ZAR ZAR

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards ZAR ZAR
Executive director
C Ross
Share appreciation rights5

1/9/2011  79 163  –    –   (79 163)  –    7 234 707 
1/9/2012  92 313  –    –   (92 313)  –    6 400 983 
1/9/20136  39 929  –    –    –    39 929 –  1 170 247  –    –   (39 929)  –    1 458 606 
1/9/20147  42 108  –    –    –    42 108  –    1 135 577  –    –   (42 108)  –    1 439 673 
1/9/2015  39 081  –    –    –    39 081  –    1 607 892  –   (2 171)  –    36 910  –    –   
1/9/2016  36 812  –    –    36 812  –    1 407 260  –   (14 316)  –    22 496  –    410 640 
1/9/2017  47 111 (34 025) –  13 086  –    659 924 

Restricted Share Plan – 
bonus shares5

6/9/2013  10 221  –    –    (10 221)  –    1 665 512 
8/10/2014  11 386  –    –    –    11 386  59 207  1 709 474  –    –    (11 386)  –    1 551 570  –   
4/9/2015  11 488  –    –    –    11 488  59 738  1 724 788  –    –    –    11 488  55 257  1 734 099 
5/9/2016  10 210  –    –    –    10 210  27 771  1 532 911  –    –    –    10 210  49 110  1 541 187 
15/9/2017      6 337  –    –    6 337  16 033  956 562 

Executive Share Incentive 
Scheme
9/11/2006  52 650  –    –    (52 650)  –    4 947 287 
8/5/2007  28 000  –    –   (28 000)  –    2 132 002 
Total  22 527 207  10 288 149  4 570 249  5 302 412

5 Vesting will be assessed three years from the grant of the awards. 
6 The SARs granted on 1 September 2013 vested during the 2017 financial year. 
7 The SARs granted on 1 September 2014 vested during the 2018 financial year.
8 The cash value received includes the value participants receive on the vesting/exercise of awards as well as dividends received on outstanding awards. 
9 The SARs granted on 1 September 2013 are included at an intrinsic value of R29,31 per instrument which includes an estimate of 100% of performance conditions being met.

10 The SARs granted on 1 September 2014 are included at an intrinsic value of R26,97 per instrument which includes an estimate of 100% of performance conditions being met.
11   The SARs granted on 1 September 2015 are included at an estimated fair value based on an indicative valuation at R41,14 per instrument which includes an estimate of 100% of 

performance conditions being met.
12   The SARs granted on 1 September 2016 are included at an estimated fair value based on an indicative valuation at R38,23 per instrument which includes an estimate of 100% of 

performance conditions being met.
13  The restricted bonus shares granted in 2014, 2015 and 2016 are included at the 20-day VWAP of R150,14 at year-end and an estimated 100% vesting.
14  The SARs granted on 1 September 2013 are included at an intrinsic value of R30,12 per instrument which includes an estimate of 100% of performance conditions being met.
15  The SARs granted on 1 September 2014 are included at an intrinsic value of R27,78 per instrument which includes an estimate of 100% of performance conditions being met.
16  The SARs granted on 1 September 2015 are included at an intrinsic value of Rnil per instrument which includes an estimate of 0% of performance conditions being met.
17   The SARs granted on 1 September 2016 are included at an estimated fair value based on an indicative valuation at R18,25 per instrument which includes an estimate of 50% of 

performance conditions being met.
18   The SARs granted on 1 September 2016 are included at an estimated fair value based on an indicative valuation at R50,43 per instrument which includes an estimate of 100% of 

performance conditions being met.
19  The restricted bonus shares granted in 2015, 2016 and 2017 are included at the 20-day VWAP of R150,95 at year-end and an estimated 100% vesting.
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SCHEDULE OF UNVESTED AWARDS AND CASH FLOW ON SETTLEMENT
2017 2018

Awards per grant date

Opening 
number on 
1 July 2016

Granted 
during

2017

Forfeited/ 
lapsed 
during 

2017

Exercised/ 
settled 
during 

2017 

Closing 
number on 

30 June 
2017

Cash value 
received 

during the 
year8

Closing 
estimated 

fair value at 
30 June 

20178, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13

Granted 
during

2018

Forfeited/
 lapsed 
during 

2018

Exercised/ 
settled 
during 

2018

Closing 
number on 

30 June 
2018

Cash value 
received 

during the 
year8

Closing 
fair value 

at 30 June 
201814, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards ZAR ZAR

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards ZAR ZAR
Executive director
C Ross
Share appreciation rights5

1/9/2011  79 163  –    –   (79 163)  –    7 234 707 
1/9/2012  92 313  –    –   (92 313)  –    6 400 983 
1/9/20136  39 929  –    –    –    39 929 –  1 170 247  –    –   (39 929)  –    1 458 606 
1/9/20147  42 108  –    –    –    42 108  –    1 135 577  –    –   (42 108)  –    1 439 673 
1/9/2015  39 081  –    –    –    39 081  –    1 607 892  –   (2 171)  –    36 910  –    –   
1/9/2016  36 812  –    –    36 812  –    1 407 260  –   (14 316)  –    22 496  –    410 640 
1/9/2017  47 111 (34 025) –  13 086  –    659 924 

Restricted Share Plan – 
bonus shares5

6/9/2013  10 221  –    –    (10 221)  –    1 665 512 
8/10/2014  11 386  –    –    –    11 386  59 207  1 709 474  –    –    (11 386)  –    1 551 570  –   
4/9/2015  11 488  –    –    –    11 488  59 738  1 724 788  –    –    –    11 488  55 257  1 734 099 
5/9/2016  10 210  –    –    –    10 210  27 771  1 532 911  –    –    –    10 210  49 110  1 541 187 
15/9/2017      6 337  –    –    6 337  16 033  956 562 

Executive Share Incentive 
Scheme
9/11/2006  52 650  –    –    (52 650)  –    4 947 287 
8/5/2007  28 000  –    –   (28 000)  –    2 132 002 
Total  22 527 207  10 288 149  4 570 249  5 302 412

5 Vesting will be assessed three years from the grant of the awards. 
6 The SARs granted on 1 September 2013 vested during the 2017 financial year. 
7 The SARs granted on 1 September 2014 vested during the 2018 financial year.
8 The cash value received includes the value participants receive on the vesting/exercise of awards as well as dividends received on outstanding awards. 
9 The SARs granted on 1 September 2013 are included at an intrinsic value of R29,31 per instrument which includes an estimate of 100% of performance conditions being met.

10 The SARs granted on 1 September 2014 are included at an intrinsic value of R26,97 per instrument which includes an estimate of 100% of performance conditions being met.
11   The SARs granted on 1 September 2015 are included at an estimated fair value based on an indicative valuation at R41,14 per instrument which includes an estimate of 100% of 

performance conditions being met.
12   The SARs granted on 1 September 2016 are included at an estimated fair value based on an indicative valuation at R38,23 per instrument which includes an estimate of 100% of 

performance conditions being met.
13  The restricted bonus shares granted in 2014, 2015 and 2016 are included at the 20-day VWAP of R150,14 at year-end and an estimated 100% vesting.
14  The SARs granted on 1 September 2013 are included at an intrinsic value of R30,12 per instrument which includes an estimate of 100% of performance conditions being met.
15  The SARs granted on 1 September 2014 are included at an intrinsic value of R27,78 per instrument which includes an estimate of 100% of performance conditions being met.
16  The SARs granted on 1 September 2015 are included at an intrinsic value of Rnil per instrument which includes an estimate of 0% of performance conditions being met.
17   The SARs granted on 1 September 2016 are included at an estimated fair value based on an indicative valuation at R18,25 per instrument which includes an estimate of 50% of 

performance conditions being met.
18   The SARs granted on 1 September 2016 are included at an estimated fair value based on an indicative valuation at R50,43 per instrument which includes an estimate of 100% of 

performance conditions being met.
19  The restricted bonus shares granted in 2015, 2016 and 2017 are included at the 20-day VWAP of R150,95 at year-end and an estimated 100% vesting.
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SCHEDULE OF UNVESTED AWARDS AND CASH FLOW ON SETTLEMENT continued
2017 2018

Name

Opening 
number on 
1 July 2016

Granted 
during

2017

Forfeited/ 
lapsed 
during 

2017

Exercised/ 
settled 
during 

2017 

Closing 
number on 

30 June 
2017

Cash value 
received 

during the 
year8

Closing 
estimated 

fair value at 
30 June 

20178, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13

Granted 
during

2018

Forfeited/
 lapsed 
during 

2018

Exercised/ 
settled 
during 

2018

Closing 
number on 

30 June 
2018

Cash value 
received 

during the 
year8

Closing 
fair value 

at 30 June 
201814, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards ZAR ZAR

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards ZAR ZAR

Executive director
A C Widegger
Share appreciation rights5

1/9/2010  39 155  –    –   (39 155)  –    3 147 279 
1/9/2011  53 905  –    –    –    53 905  –    4 664 303  –    –   (53 905)  –    4 894 035 
1/9/2012  62 110  –    –    –    62 110  –    4 004 741  –    –   –  62 110  –    4 055 084 
1/9/20136  26 136  –    –    –    26 136 –  765 999  –    –    –    26 136  –    787 183 
1/9/20147  27 359  –    –    –    27 359  –    737 823  –    –    –    27 359  –    759 999 
1/9/2015  25 207  –    –    –    25 207  –    1 037 080  –    –    –    25 207  –    –   
1/9/2016  23 633  –    –    23 633  –    903 449  –    –    –    23 633  –    431 395 
1/9/2017  30 245  –   –  30 245  –    1 525 249 

Restricted Share Plan – 
bonus shares5

6/9/2013  8 253  –    –   (8 253)  –    1 344 826 
8/10/2014  9 020  –    –    –    9 020  46 904  1 354 247  –    –    (9 020)  –    1 229 155     
4/9/2015  9 016  –    –    –    9 016  46 883  1 353 646  –    –    –    9 016  43 367  1 360 954 
5/9/2016 –  7 902  –    –    7 902  21 493  1 186 392  –   – –  7 902  38 009  1 192 797 
15/9/2017      4 882  –    –    4 882  12 351  736 932 

Executive Share Incentive 
Scheme
9/11/2006  31 590  –    –    (31 590)  –    2 985 571 
8/5/2007  16 800  –    –   (16 800)  –    1 254 624 
Total  8 847 580  16 007 680  6 216 917  10 849 593
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SCHEDULE OF UNVESTED AWARDS AND CASH FLOW ON SETTLEMENT continued
2017 2018

Name

Opening 
number on 
1 July 2016

Granted 
during

2017

Forfeited/ 
lapsed 
during 

2017

Exercised/ 
settled 
during 

2017 

Closing 
number on 

30 June 
2017

Cash value 
received 

during the 
year8

Closing 
estimated 

fair value at 
30 June 

20178, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13

Granted 
during

2018

Forfeited/
 lapsed 
during 

2018

Exercised/ 
settled 
during 

2018

Closing 
number on 

30 June 
2018

Cash value 
received 

during the 
year8

Closing 
fair value 

at 30 June 
201814, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards ZAR ZAR

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards ZAR ZAR

Executive director
A C Widegger
Share appreciation rights5

1/9/2010  39 155  –    –   (39 155)  –    3 147 279 
1/9/2011  53 905  –    –    –    53 905  –    4 664 303  –    –   (53 905)  –    4 894 035 
1/9/2012  62 110  –    –    –    62 110  –    4 004 741  –    –   –  62 110  –    4 055 084 
1/9/20136  26 136  –    –    –    26 136 –  765 999  –    –    –    26 136  –    787 183 
1/9/20147  27 359  –    –    –    27 359  –    737 823  –    –    –    27 359  –    759 999 
1/9/2015  25 207  –    –    –    25 207  –    1 037 080  –    –    –    25 207  –    –   
1/9/2016  23 633  –    –    23 633  –    903 449  –    –    –    23 633  –    431 395 
1/9/2017  30 245  –   –  30 245  –    1 525 249 

Restricted Share Plan – 
bonus shares5

6/9/2013  8 253  –    –   (8 253)  –    1 344 826 
8/10/2014  9 020  –    –    –    9 020  46 904  1 354 247  –    –    (9 020)  –    1 229 155     
4/9/2015  9 016  –    –    –    9 016  46 883  1 353 646  –    –    –    9 016  43 367  1 360 954 
5/9/2016 –  7 902  –    –    7 902  21 493  1 186 392  –   – –  7 902  38 009  1 192 797 
15/9/2017      4 882  –    –    4 882  12 351  736 932 

Executive Share Incentive 
Scheme
9/11/2006  31 590  –    –    (31 590)  –    2 985 571 
8/5/2007  16 800  –    –   (16 800)  –    1 254 624 
Total  8 847 580  16 007 680  6 216 917  10 849 593
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SCHEDULE OF UNVESTED AWARDS AND CASH FLOW ON SETTLEMENT continued
2017 2018

Name

Opening 
number on 
1 July 2016

Granted 
during

2017

Forfeited/ 
lapsed 
during 

2017

Exercised/ 
settled 
during 

2017 

Closing 
number on 

30 June 
2017

Cash value 
received 

during the 
year8

Closing 
estimated 

fair value at 
30 June 

20178, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13

Granted 
during

2018

Forfeited/
 lapsed 
during 

2018

Exercised/ 
settled 
during 

2018

Closing 
number on 

30 June 
2018

Cash value 
received 

during the 
year8

Closing 
fair value 

at 30 June 
201814, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards ZAR ZAR

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards ZAR ZAR

Divisional director
A J Balabanoff
Share appreciation rights5

1/9/2010  9 000  –    –   –  9 000  –    679 664  –    –   (9 000)  –    559 260 
1/9/2012  9 000  –    –   –  9 000  –    580 304  –    –   –  9 000 –  587 599 
1/9/20136  5 633  –    –    –    5 633  –    165 093  –    –    –    5 633  –    169 659 
1/9/20147  5 912  –    –    –    5 912  –    159 436  –    –    –    5 912  –    164 228 
1/9/2015  5 413  –    –    –    5 413  –    222 705  –    –    –    5 413  –    –   
1/9/2016  5 075  –    –    5 075  –    194 009  –    –    –    5 075  –    92 639 
1/9/2017  6 495 – –  6 495  –    327 541 

Restricted Share Plan – 
bonus shares5

6/9/2013  1 277  –    –   (1 277)  –    208 087 
8/10/2014  1 594  –    –    –    1 594  8 289  239 320  –    –    (1 594)  –    217 214    
4/9/2015  2 242  –    –    –    2 242  11 658  336 610  –    –    –    2 242  10 784  338 427 
5/9/2016 –  1 492  –    –    1 492  4 058  224 006  –    –    –    1 492  7 177  225 216 
15/9/2016      1 027  –    –    1 027  2 598  155 024 

Executive Share Incentive 
Scheme
8/5/2007  6 800  –    –   (6 800)  –    497 869 
15/8/2007  2 200  –    –   (2 200)  –    186 437 
Total  916 398  2 801 147  797 033  2 060 333
Divisional director
A W Dooley
Share appreciation rights5

1/9/20136  4 651  –    –    –    4 651 –  136 312  –    –   4 651  –    199 109 
1/9/20147  4 973  –    –    –    4 973  –    134 113  –    –   4 973  –    201 257 
1/9/2015  4 552  –    –    –    4 552  –    187 281  –    –    –    4 552  –    –   
1/9/2016  4 268  –    –    4 268  –    163 158  –    –    –    4 268  –    77 908 
1/9/2017  5 462 – –  5 462  –    275 447 

Restricted Share Plan – 
bonus shares5

6/9/2013  969  –    –   (969) –  157 899 
8/10/2014  1 432  –    –    –    1 432  7 446  214 998  –    –   (1 432)  –    195 139    
4/9/2015  1 824  –    –    –    1 824  9 485  273 852  –    –    –    1 824  8 773  275 331 
5/9/2016 –  1 085  –    –    1 085  2 951  162 900  –    –    –    1 085  5 219  163 779 
15/9/2017  1 661  –    –    1 661  4 202  250 726 
Total  177 781  1 272 614  613 699  1 043 191
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SCHEDULE OF UNVESTED AWARDS AND CASH FLOW ON SETTLEMENT continued
2017 2018

Name

Opening 
number on 
1 July 2016

Granted 
during

2017

Forfeited/ 
lapsed 
during 

2017

Exercised/ 
settled 
during 

2017 

Closing 
number on 

30 June 
2017

Cash value 
received 

during the 
year8

Closing 
estimated 

fair value at 
30 June 

20178, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13

Granted 
during

2018

Forfeited/
 lapsed 
during 

2018

Exercised/ 
settled 
during 

2018

Closing 
number on 

30 June 
2018

Cash value 
received 

during the 
year8

Closing 
fair value 

at 30 June 
201814, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards ZAR ZAR

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards ZAR ZAR

Divisional director
A J Balabanoff
Share appreciation rights5

1/9/2010  9 000  –    –   –  9 000  –    679 664  –    –   (9 000)  –    559 260 
1/9/2012  9 000  –    –   –  9 000  –    580 304  –    –   –  9 000 –  587 599 
1/9/20136  5 633  –    –    –    5 633  –    165 093  –    –    –    5 633  –    169 659 
1/9/20147  5 912  –    –    –    5 912  –    159 436  –    –    –    5 912  –    164 228 
1/9/2015  5 413  –    –    –    5 413  –    222 705  –    –    –    5 413  –    –   
1/9/2016  5 075  –    –    5 075  –    194 009  –    –    –    5 075  –    92 639 
1/9/2017  6 495 – –  6 495  –    327 541 

Restricted Share Plan – 
bonus shares5

6/9/2013  1 277  –    –   (1 277)  –    208 087 
8/10/2014  1 594  –    –    –    1 594  8 289  239 320  –    –    (1 594)  –    217 214    
4/9/2015  2 242  –    –    –    2 242  11 658  336 610  –    –    –    2 242  10 784  338 427 
5/9/2016 –  1 492  –    –    1 492  4 058  224 006  –    –    –    1 492  7 177  225 216 
15/9/2016      1 027  –    –    1 027  2 598  155 024 

Executive Share Incentive 
Scheme
8/5/2007  6 800  –    –   (6 800)  –    497 869 
15/8/2007  2 200  –    –   (2 200)  –    186 437 
Total  916 398  2 801 147  797 033  2 060 333
Divisional director
A W Dooley
Share appreciation rights5

1/9/20136  4 651  –    –    –    4 651 –  136 312  –    –   4 651  –    199 109 
1/9/20147  4 973  –    –    –    4 973  –    134 113  –    –   4 973  –    201 257 
1/9/2015  4 552  –    –    –    4 552  –    187 281  –    –    –    4 552  –    –   
1/9/2016  4 268  –    –    4 268  –    163 158  –    –    –    4 268  –    77 908 
1/9/2017  5 462 – –  5 462  –    275 447 

Restricted Share Plan – 
bonus shares5

6/9/2013  969  –    –   (969) –  157 899 
8/10/2014  1 432  –    –    –    1 432  7 446  214 998  –    –   (1 432)  –    195 139    
4/9/2015  1 824  –    –    –    1 824  9 485  273 852  –    –    –    1 824  8 773  275 331 
5/9/2016 –  1 085  –    –    1 085  2 951  162 900  –    –    –    1 085  5 219  163 779 
15/9/2017  1 661  –    –    1 661  4 202  250 726 
Total  177 781  1 272 614  613 699  1 043 191
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SCHEDULE OF UNVESTED AWARDS AND CASH FLOW ON SETTLEMENT continued
2017 2018

Name

Opening 
number on 
1 July 2016

Granted 
during 

2017

Forfeited/ 
lapsed 
during 

2017

Exercised/ 
settled 
during 

2017 

Closing 
number on 

30 June 
2017

Cash value 
received 

during the 
year8

Closing 
estimated 

fair value at 
30 June 

20178, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13

Granted 
during

2018

Forfeited/
 lapsed 
during 

2018

Exercised/ 
settled 
during 

2018

Closing
number on 

30 June 
2018

Cash value 
received 

during the 
year8

Closing 
fair value 

at 30 June 
201814, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards ZAR ZAR

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards ZAR ZAR
Divisional director
M S Kobilski
Share appreciation rights5

1/9/20136  4 726  –    –    –    4 726  138 511  –    –    –    4 726  –    142 341 
1/9/20147  4 937  –    –    –    4 937  –    133 142  –    –    –    4 937  –    137 144 
1/9/2015  4 519  –    –    –    4 519  –    185 923  –    –    –    4 519  –    –   
1/9/2016  4 237  –    –    4 237  –    161 973  –    –    –    4 237  –    77 342 
1/9/2017  5 423  –   –  5 423  –    273 481 

Restricted Share Plan – 
bonus shares5

6/9/2013  1 056  –    –   (1 056)  –    172 075 
8/10/2014  1 455  –    –    –    1 455  7 566  218 451  –    –   (1 455)  –    198 273 
4/9/2015  1 622  –    –    –    1 622  8 434  243 524  –    –    –    1 622  7 802  244 839 
5/9/2016  1 377  –    –    1 377  3 745  206 740  –    1 377  6 623  207 856 
15/9/2017      1 054  –    –    1 054  2 667  159 100 

Executive Share Incentive 
Scheme
8/5/2007  4 200  –    –   (4 200)  –    276 822 
15/8/2007  1 400  –    –   (1 400)  –    97 482 

Total  566 124  1 288 264  215 365  1 242 103
Divisional director
N R B Parbhoo
Share appreciation rights5

1/9/2010  6 000  –    –    –    6 000  –    453 109  –    –   (6 000)  –    373 020 
1/9/2012  6 000  –    –    –    6 000  –    386 869  –    –   –  6 000  –    391 732 
1/9/20136  4 117  –    –    –    4 117  –    120 662  –    –    –    4 117  –    123 999 
1/9/20147  4 301  –    –    –    4 301  –    115 990  –    –    –    4 301  –    119 476 
1/9/2015  3 936  –    –    –    3 936  –    161 937  –    –    –    3 936  –    –   
1/9/2016  3 691  –    –    3 691  –    141 101  –    –    –    3 691  –    67 375 
1/9/2017  4 745  –    4 745  –    239 289 

Restricted Share Plan – 
bonus shares5

6/9/2013  898  –    –   (898)  –    146 329 
8/10/2014  1 267  –    –    –    1 267  6 588  190 225  –    –    (1 267)  –    172 654     
4/9/2015  1 256  –    –    –    1 256  6 531  188 574  –    –    –    1 256  6 041  189 592 
5/9/2016  962  –    –    962  2 617  144 433  –    –    –    962  4 627  145 213 
15/9/2017  1 168  –    –    1 168  2 955  176 308 

Executive Share Incentive 
Scheme
15/3/2007  4 000  –    –    (4 000)  –    320 280 
Total  482 345  1 902 900  559 297  1 452 984
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SCHEDULE OF UNVESTED AWARDS AND CASH FLOW ON SETTLEMENT continued
2017 2018

Name

Opening 
number on 
1 July 2016

Granted 
during 

2017

Forfeited/ 
lapsed 
during 

2017

Exercised/ 
settled 
during 

2017 

Closing 
number on 

30 June 
2017

Cash value 
received 

during the 
year8

Closing 
estimated 

fair value at 
30 June 

20178, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13

Granted 
during

2018

Forfeited/
 lapsed 
during 

2018

Exercised/ 
settled 
during 

2018

Closing
number on 

30 June 
2018

Cash value 
received 

during the 
year8

Closing 
fair value 

at 30 June 
201814, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards ZAR ZAR

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards ZAR ZAR
Divisional director
M S Kobilski
Share appreciation rights5

1/9/20136  4 726  –    –    –    4 726  138 511  –    –    –    4 726  –    142 341 
1/9/20147  4 937  –    –    –    4 937  –    133 142  –    –    –    4 937  –    137 144 
1/9/2015  4 519  –    –    –    4 519  –    185 923  –    –    –    4 519  –    –   
1/9/2016  4 237  –    –    4 237  –    161 973  –    –    –    4 237  –    77 342 
1/9/2017  5 423  –   –  5 423  –    273 481 

Restricted Share Plan – 
bonus shares5

6/9/2013  1 056  –    –   (1 056)  –    172 075 
8/10/2014  1 455  –    –    –    1 455  7 566  218 451  –    –   (1 455)  –    198 273 
4/9/2015  1 622  –    –    –    1 622  8 434  243 524  –    –    –    1 622  7 802  244 839 
5/9/2016  1 377  –    –    1 377  3 745  206 740  –    1 377  6 623  207 856 
15/9/2017      1 054  –    –    1 054  2 667  159 100 

Executive Share Incentive 
Scheme
8/5/2007  4 200  –    –   (4 200)  –    276 822 
15/8/2007  1 400  –    –   (1 400)  –    97 482 

Total  566 124  1 288 264  215 365  1 242 103
Divisional director
N R B Parbhoo
Share appreciation rights5

1/9/2010  6 000  –    –    –    6 000  –    453 109  –    –   (6 000)  –    373 020 
1/9/2012  6 000  –    –    –    6 000  –    386 869  –    –   –  6 000  –    391 732 
1/9/20136  4 117  –    –    –    4 117  –    120 662  –    –    –    4 117  –    123 999 
1/9/20147  4 301  –    –    –    4 301  –    115 990  –    –    –    4 301  –    119 476 
1/9/2015  3 936  –    –    –    3 936  –    161 937  –    –    –    3 936  –    –   
1/9/2016  3 691  –    –    3 691  –    141 101  –    –    –    3 691  –    67 375 
1/9/2017  4 745  –    4 745  –    239 289 

Restricted Share Plan – 
bonus shares5

6/9/2013  898  –    –   (898)  –    146 329 
8/10/2014  1 267  –    –    –    1 267  6 588  190 225  –    –    (1 267)  –    172 654     
4/9/2015  1 256  –    –    –    1 256  6 531  188 574  –    –    –    1 256  6 041  189 592 
5/9/2016  962  –    –    962  2 617  144 433  –    –    –    962  4 627  145 213 
15/9/2017  1 168  –    –    1 168  2 955  176 308 

Executive Share Incentive 
Scheme
15/3/2007  4 000  –    –    (4 000)  –    320 280 
Total  482 345  1 902 900  559 297  1 452 984
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SCHEDULE OF UNVESTED AWARDS AND CASH FLOW ON SETTLEMENT continued

2017 2018

Name

Opening 
number on 
1 July 2016

Granted 
during 

2017

Forfeited/ 
lapsed 
during 

2017

Exercised/ 
settled 
during 

2017 

Closing 
number on 

30 June 
2017

Cash value 
received 

during the 
year8

Closing 
estimated 

fair value at 
30 June 

20178, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13

Granted 
during

2018

Forfeited/
 lapsed 
during 

2018

Exercised/ 
settled 
during 

2018

Closing 
number on 

30 June 
2018

Cash value 
received 

during the 
year8

Closing 
fair value 

at 30 June 
201814, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards ZAR ZAR

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards ZAR ZAR
Divisional director
R V Phinn
Share appreciation rights5

1/9/20136  5 048  –    –    –    5 048 –  147 948  –    –    –    5 048  –    152 039 
1/9/20147  5 448  –    –    –    5 448  –    146 923  –    –    –    5 448  –    151 339 
1/9/2015  5 056  –    –    –    5 056  –    208 017  –    –    –    5 056  –    –   
1/9/2016  4 785  –    –    4 785  –    182 922  –    –    –    4 785  –    87 345 
1/9/2017  6 152  –   –  6 152  –    310 244 

Restricted Share Plan – 
bonus shares5

6/9/2013  1 009  –    –   (1 009)  –    164 417 
8/10/2014  1 428  –    –    –    1 428  7 426  214 397  –    –   (1 428)  –    194 594 
4/9/2015  2 094  –    –    –    2 094  10 889  314 389  –    –    –    2 094  10 072  316 087 
5/9/2016  1 362  –    –    1 362  3 705  204 488  –    –    –    1 362  6 551  205 592 
15/9/2017  723  –    –    723  1 829  109 136 
Total  186 437  1 419 084  213 046  1 331 782

Divisional director
R Ruthven
Share appreciation rights5

1/9/20136  3 957  –    –    –    3 957 –  115 973  –    –   3 957  –    169 399 
1/9/20147  3 711  –    –    –    3 711  –    100 079  –    –   3 711  –    150 184 
1/9/2015  3 421  –    –    –    3 421  –    140 749  –    –    –    3 421  –    –   
1/9/2016  3 326  –    –    3 326  –    127 147  –    –    –    3 326  –    60 713 
1/9/2017  4 317  –   –  4 317  –    217 705 

Restricted Share Plan – 
bonus shares5

8/10/2014  414  –    –    –    414  2 153  62 157  –    –   (414)  –    56 416     
4/9/2015  607  –    –    –    607  3 156  91 134  –    –    –    607  2 920  91 626 
5/9/2016  496  –    –    496  1 349  74 469  –    –    –    496  2 386  74 871 
15/9/2017  –    723  –    –    723  1 829  109 136 
Total  6 658  711 708  383 134  554 051
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SCHEDULE OF UNVESTED AWARDS AND CASH FLOW ON SETTLEMENT continued

2017 2018

Name

Opening 
number on 
1 July 2016

Granted 
during 

2017

Forfeited/ 
lapsed 
during 

2017

Exercised/ 
settled 
during 

2017 

Closing 
number on 

30 June 
2017

Cash value 
received 

during the 
year8

Closing 
estimated 

fair value at 
30 June 

20178, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13

Granted 
during

2018

Forfeited/
 lapsed 
during 

2018

Exercised/ 
settled 
during 

2018

Closing 
number on 

30 June 
2018

Cash value 
received 

during the 
year8

Closing 
fair value 

at 30 June 
201814, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards ZAR ZAR

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards ZAR ZAR
Divisional director
R V Phinn
Share appreciation rights5

1/9/20136  5 048  –    –    –    5 048 –  147 948  –    –    –    5 048  –    152 039 
1/9/20147  5 448  –    –    –    5 448  –    146 923  –    –    –    5 448  –    151 339 
1/9/2015  5 056  –    –    –    5 056  –    208 017  –    –    –    5 056  –    –   
1/9/2016  4 785  –    –    4 785  –    182 922  –    –    –    4 785  –    87 345 
1/9/2017  6 152  –   –  6 152  –    310 244 

Restricted Share Plan – 
bonus shares5

6/9/2013  1 009  –    –   (1 009)  –    164 417 
8/10/2014  1 428  –    –    –    1 428  7 426  214 397  –    –   (1 428)  –    194 594 
4/9/2015  2 094  –    –    –    2 094  10 889  314 389  –    –    –    2 094  10 072  316 087 
5/9/2016  1 362  –    –    1 362  3 705  204 488  –    –    –    1 362  6 551  205 592 
15/9/2017  723  –    –    723  1 829  109 136 
Total  186 437  1 419 084  213 046  1 331 782

Divisional director
R Ruthven
Share appreciation rights5

1/9/20136  3 957  –    –    –    3 957 –  115 973  –    –   3 957  –    169 399 
1/9/20147  3 711  –    –    –    3 711  –    100 079  –    –   3 711  –    150 184 
1/9/2015  3 421  –    –    –    3 421  –    140 749  –    –    –    3 421  –    –   
1/9/2016  3 326  –    –    3 326  –    127 147  –    –    –    3 326  –    60 713 
1/9/2017  4 317  –   –  4 317  –    217 705 

Restricted Share Plan – 
bonus shares5

8/10/2014  414  –    –    –    414  2 153  62 157  –    –   (414)  –    56 416     
4/9/2015  607  –    –    –    607  3 156  91 134  –    –    –    607  2 920  91 626 
5/9/2016  496  –    –    496  1 349  74 469  –    –    –    496  2 386  74 871 
15/9/2017  –    723  –    –    723  1 829  109 136 
Total  6 658  711 708  383 134  554 051
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SCHEDULE OF UNVESTED AWARDS AND CASH FLOW ON SETTLEMENT continued
2017 2018

Name

Opening 
number on 
1 July 2016

Granted 
during 

2017

Forfeited/ 
lapsed 
during 

2017

Exercised/ 
settled 
during 

2017 

Closing 
number on 

30 June 
2017

Cash value 
received 

during the 
year8

Closing 
estimated 

fair value at 
30 June 

20178, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13

Granted 
during

2018

Forfeited/
 lapsed 
during 

2018

Exercised/ 
settled 
during 

2018

Closing 
number on 

30 June 
2018

Cash value 
received 

during the 
year8

Closing 
fair value 

at 30 June 
201814, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards ZAR ZAR

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards ZAR ZAR

Divisional director
L G Siddo
Share appreciation rights5

1/9/2016  8 136  –    –    8 136  –    311 025  –    –    –    8 136  –    148 514 
1/9/2017  5 535  –   –  5 535  –    279 129 

Restricted Share Plan – 
bonus shares5

5/9/2016  595  –    –    595  1 618  89 332  –   – –  595  2 862  89 814 
15/9/2017  957  –    –    957  2 421  144 458 
Total  1 618  400 357  5 283  661 915

Divisional director
P Tate
Share appreciation rights5

1/9/2010  9 000 (9 000)  –    692 010 
1/9/2011  9 000  –    –   (9 000)  –    791 100 
1/9/2012  9 000  –    –    9 000  –    –    –    –    9 000 –  587 599 
1/9/20136  5 633  –    –    –    5 633  –    165 093  –    –    –    5 633  –    169 659 
1/9/20147  5 912  –    –    –    5 912  –    159 436  –    –    –    5 912  –    164 228 
1/9/2015  5 413  –    –    –    5 413  –    222 705  –    –    –    5 413  –    –   
1/9/2016  5 075  –    –    5 075  –    194 009  –    –    –    5 075  –    92 639 
1/9/2017  6 495  –    6 495  –    327 541 

Restricted Share Plan – 
bonus shares5

6/9/2013  1 249  –    –    (1 249)  –    203 525 
8/10/2014 1 594  –    –    –    1 594  8 289  239 320  –    –   (1 594)  –    217 214  –   
4/9/2015  2 143  –    –    –    2 143  11 144  321 746  –    –    –    2 143  10 308  323 483 
5/9/2016  1 306  –    –    1 306  3 552  196 080  –   – –  1 306  6 282  197 139 
15/9/2017  1 027  –    –    1 027  2 598  155 024 

Executive Share Incentive 
Scheme
8/5/2007  6 800  –    –    (6 800)  –    481 372 
15/8/2007  2 200  –    –    (2 200)  –    163 922 
Total  2 354 914  1 498 389  236 402  2 017 312
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SCHEDULE OF UNVESTED AWARDS AND CASH FLOW ON SETTLEMENT continued
2017 2018

Name

Opening 
number on 
1 July 2016

Granted 
during 

2017

Forfeited/ 
lapsed 
during 

2017

Exercised/ 
settled 
during 

2017 

Closing 
number on 

30 June 
2017

Cash value 
received 

during the 
year8

Closing 
estimated 

fair value at 
30 June 

20178, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13

Granted 
during

2018

Forfeited/
 lapsed 
during 

2018

Exercised/ 
settled 
during 

2018

Closing 
number on 

30 June 
2018

Cash value 
received 

during the 
year8

Closing 
fair value 

at 30 June 
201814, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards ZAR ZAR

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards ZAR ZAR

Divisional director
L G Siddo
Share appreciation rights5

1/9/2016  8 136  –    –    8 136  –    311 025  –    –    –    8 136  –    148 514 
1/9/2017  5 535  –   –  5 535  –    279 129 

Restricted Share Plan – 
bonus shares5

5/9/2016  595  –    –    595  1 618  89 332  –   – –  595  2 862  89 814 
15/9/2017  957  –    –    957  2 421  144 458 
Total  1 618  400 357  5 283  661 915

Divisional director
P Tate
Share appreciation rights5

1/9/2010  9 000 (9 000)  –    692 010 
1/9/2011  9 000  –    –   (9 000)  –    791 100 
1/9/2012  9 000  –    –    9 000  –    –    –    –    9 000 –  587 599 
1/9/20136  5 633  –    –    –    5 633  –    165 093  –    –    –    5 633  –    169 659 
1/9/20147  5 912  –    –    –    5 912  –    159 436  –    –    –    5 912  –    164 228 
1/9/2015  5 413  –    –    –    5 413  –    222 705  –    –    –    5 413  –    –   
1/9/2016  5 075  –    –    5 075  –    194 009  –    –    –    5 075  –    92 639 
1/9/2017  6 495  –    6 495  –    327 541 

Restricted Share Plan – 
bonus shares5

6/9/2013  1 249  –    –    (1 249)  –    203 525 
8/10/2014 1 594  –    –    –    1 594  8 289  239 320  –    –   (1 594)  –    217 214  –   
4/9/2015  2 143  –    –    –    2 143  11 144  321 746  –    –    –    2 143  10 308  323 483 
5/9/2016  1 306  –    –    1 306  3 552  196 080  –   – –  1 306  6 282  197 139 
15/9/2017  1 027  –    –    1 027  2 598  155 024 

Executive Share Incentive 
Scheme
8/5/2007  6 800  –    –    (6 800)  –    481 372 
15/8/2007  2 200  –    –    (2 200)  –    163 922 
Total  2 354 914  1 498 389  236 402  2 017 312
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SCHEDULE OF UNVESTED AWARDS AND CASH FLOW ON SETTLEMENT continued
2017 2018

Name

Opening 
number on 
1 July 2016

Granted 
during  

2017

Forfeited/ 
lapsed 
during 

2017

Exercised/ 
settled 
during 

2017 

Closing 
number on 

30 June 
2017

Cash value 
received 

during the 
year8

Closing 
estimated 

fair value at 
30 June 

20178, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13

Granted 
during

2018

Forfeited/
 lapsed 
during 

2018

Exercised/ 
settled 
during 

2018

Closing 
number on 

30 June 
2018

Cash value 
received 

during the 
year8

Closing 
fair value 

at 30 June 
201814, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards ZAR ZAR

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards ZAR ZAR
Group company secretary
M van Heerden
Share appreciation rights5

1/9/20136  3 965  –    –    –    3 965  116 207  –    –    –    3 965  –    119 421 
1/9/20147  4 200  –    –    –    4 200  –    113 266  –    –    –    4 200  –    116 671 
1/9/2015  3 899  –    –    –    3 899  –    160 415  –    –    –    3 899  –    –   
1/9/2016  3 689  –    –    3 689  –    141 024  –    –    –    3 689  –    67 339 
1/9/2017  4 788  –   –  4 788  –    241 458 

Restricted Share Plan – 
bonus shares5

6/9/2013  396  –    –    (396)  –    64 528 
8/10/2014  480  –    –    –    480  2 496  72 066  –    –   (480)  –    65 410 
4/9/2015  686  –    –    –    686  3 567  102 995  –    –    –    686  3 300  103 551 
5/9/2016  557  –    –    557  1 515  83 627  –    –    –    557  2 679  84 078 
15/9/2017    1 211  –    –    1 211  3 064  182 799 
Total  72 106  789 600  74 453  915 317

Divisional director
P Schoeman – resigned 
during the year
Share appreciation rights5

1/9/20136  4 726  –    –   (4 726)  –    187 528  –   
1/9/20147  4 937  –   (4 937)  –    –    –    –   
1/9/2015  4 519  –   (4 519)  –    –    –    –   
1/9/2016  –    4 237 (4 237)  –    –    –    –   

Restricted Share Plan – 
bonus shares5

6/9/2013  1 046  –    –    (1 046)  –    170 446 
8/10/2014  1 337  –   (1 337)  –    –    3 316 
4/9/2015  1 650  –   (1 650)  –    –    4 092 
5/9/2016  1 155 (1 155)  –    –    –    –   
15/9/2017    

Executive Share Incentive 
Scheme
8/5/2007  4 200  –    –   (4 200)  –    339 234  –   
Total  704 616  –   
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SCHEDULE OF UNVESTED AWARDS AND CASH FLOW ON SETTLEMENT continued
2017 2018

Name

Opening 
number on 
1 July 2016

Granted 
during  

2017

Forfeited/ 
lapsed 
during 

2017

Exercised/ 
settled 
during 

2017 

Closing 
number on 

30 June 
2017

Cash value 
received 

during the 
year8

Closing 
estimated 

fair value at 
30 June 

20178, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13

Granted 
during

2018

Forfeited/
 lapsed 
during 

2018

Exercised/ 
settled 
during 

2018

Closing 
number on 

30 June 
2018

Cash value 
received 

during the 
year8

Closing 
fair value 

at 30 June 
201814, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards ZAR ZAR

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards

Number 
of 

awards ZAR ZAR
Group company secretary
M van Heerden
Share appreciation rights5

1/9/20136  3 965  –    –    –    3 965  116 207  –    –    –    3 965  –    119 421 
1/9/20147  4 200  –    –    –    4 200  –    113 266  –    –    –    4 200  –    116 671 
1/9/2015  3 899  –    –    –    3 899  –    160 415  –    –    –    3 899  –    –   
1/9/2016  3 689  –    –    3 689  –    141 024  –    –    –    3 689  –    67 339 
1/9/2017  4 788  –   –  4 788  –    241 458 

Restricted Share Plan – 
bonus shares5

6/9/2013  396  –    –    (396)  –    64 528 
8/10/2014  480  –    –    –    480  2 496  72 066  –    –   (480)  –    65 410 
4/9/2015  686  –    –    –    686  3 567  102 995  –    –    –    686  3 300  103 551 
5/9/2016  557  –    –    557  1 515  83 627  –    –    –    557  2 679  84 078 
15/9/2017    1 211  –    –    1 211  3 064  182 799 
Total  72 106  789 600  74 453  915 317

Divisional director
P Schoeman – resigned 
during the year
Share appreciation rights5

1/9/20136  4 726  –    –   (4 726)  –    187 528  –   
1/9/20147  4 937  –   (4 937)  –    –    –    –   
1/9/2015  4 519  –   (4 519)  –    –    –    –   
1/9/2016  –    4 237 (4 237)  –    –    –    –   

Restricted Share Plan – 
bonus shares5

6/9/2013  1 046  –    –    (1 046)  –    170 446 
8/10/2014  1 337  –   (1 337)  –    –    3 316 
4/9/2015  1 650  –   (1 650)  –    –    4 092 
5/9/2016  1 155 (1 155)  –    –    –    –   
15/9/2017    

Executive Share Incentive 
Scheme
8/5/2007  4 200  –    –   (4 200)  –    339 234  –   
Total  704 616  –   
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (“NEDs”) 
(Refer to special resolution number 1 in the notice of AGM, detailing non-executive director 
fees)

The fees currently paid, as approved by shareholders at the annual general meeting held on 
9 November 2017, together with the proposed fees for the 2018/2019 financial year, 
reflecting a 5% increase in fees payable, are detailed hereunder.

1 July
 2018 

per annum*
(R)

1 July 
2017 

per annum
(R) (%)

Services as a director  247 170 235 400  5

Chairman of audit committee  173 250 165 000  5

Other audit committee members  79 695 75 900  5

Chairman of remuneration and 
nominations committee

152 933 145 650 5

Other remuneration and nominations 
committee members

 69 050 65 800  5

Chairman of the risk committee  118 545 112 900  5

Other risk committee members  54 075 51 500  5

Chairman of social and ethics committee  78 225 74 500  5

Chairman  999 915 952 300  5

Lead independent director  322 823 307 450  5

Ad hoc committee fees (per hour) R2 000 
capped at 

R40 000

R1 890 
capped at
 R37 485 5

*  The proposed fees exclude VAT, which is authorised to be paid in addition the above fees to qualifying 
non-executive directors. 

The board, having considered both the King IV recommendation that NEDs’ fees comprise a 
base fee as well as an attendance fee, and attendance by the NEDs over the past year has 
determined that the current policy with regard to NED fees remain unchanged. Accordingly, 
it recommends that NEDs continue to be paid a fixed fee for their services on the board and 
committees and that the chairman of the board be paid an inclusive fee for his services.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
The company received and addressed a 
few remuneration related queries prior to 
the 2017 AGM. These related to:
 – NED fees, specifically ad hoc/temporary 

committee fees; and
 – performance measures for the various 

LTI schemes.

On the basis that the remuneration policy 
was endorsed by 97,5% of shareholders at 
the 2017 AGM, no further engagement 
was undertaken.  

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
Remcom, having considered the principles 
and guidelines detailed in the 
remuneration policy, is satisfied that there 
has been no material deviation in the 
application of the policy during the year 
under review and having reviewed the 
report, including details relating to ED and 
prescribed officer emoluments, confirms 
its inclusion in the Integrated Report.

VOTING ON IMPLEMENTATION 
REPORT
This report is subject to an advisory 
non-binding vote by shareholders at the 
2018 annual general meeting scheduled 
for 8 November. Shareholders are 
requested to cast an advisory vote on 
the remuneration implementation report 
as contained in Part 3 of this report.

APPROVAL OF REMUNERATION 
REPORT BY THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS
This remuneration report was approved by 
the board of directors of City Lodge Hotels 
Limited on 15 October 2018.
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SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

The social and ethics committee (“SEC”) is 
a formal committee operating in 
accordance with a board-approved 
mandate to assist the board with 
monitoring, developing, reviewing and 
improving the group’s social, ethical and 
sustainability practices. The board, in 
addition to its statutory responsibilities, 
assumes responsibility for ensuring that the 
company’s ethics are effectively managed 
and does so through exercising ethical 
leadership, integrity and judgement in 
directing the company. Employees are in 
turn expected to act in a manner that 
upholds the company’s values as contained 
in the City Lodge code of ethics and 
business conduct (“the code”). The code 
details the standards of behaviour expected 
of employees and is provided to employees 
at the commencement of their 
employment with the company. 

This report outlines how the SEC has 
discharged its responsibilities as set out 
in section 72 of the Act and regulation 
43 of the Companies Regulations 2011 
issued in terms of the Act and its charter, 
which was amended during the year to 
align with King IV. Attendance of members 
at committee meetings is reflected on 
page 68. Fees paid to members as well as 
the proposed fees for 2018/2019 are set 
out on page 110 of the remuneration 
report. Page 75 and pages 52 to 63 cover 
the progress in this regard.

Composition
The three member committee comprises 
the chairman, an independent non- 
executive director, and two executive 

directors. While the committee complies 
with the Act’s requirements regarding its 
constitution, it does not meet the King IV 
recommendation for a majority of the 
committee members to be non-executive 
directors. Having applied its mind to the 
current membership, and having taken 
into consideration that a significant portion 
of the matters falling within its mandate are 
operational, the board remains comfortable 
with the current membership and its ability 
to effectively discharge its responsibilities.

The group company secretary and 
representatives from the various functions 
responsible for managing the subject 
matter falling within the remit of the
SEC assist the committee in the discharge 
of its responsibilities.

Role and responsibilities
The committee is primarily responsible for 
ensuring the group is and remains a 
responsible corporate citizen and engages 
in sustainable business practices. Its role 
and responsibilities, which cover the 
group’s South African operations, include:

 • compliance;
 • social and economic development;
 • good corporate citizenship;
 • issues around the environment, health 

and public safety, including the impact of 
the company’s activities and services;

 • consumer relationships;
 • management of the company’s ethics;
 • labour and employment, including 

transformation; and
 • reporting annually to shareholders on 

matters falling within the scope of its 
responsibilities.

Meetings and activities
The primary focus of the two meetings held 
during the year was to consider:

 • Socio-economic development, including 
the company’s standing in terms of:
 – The 10 principles set out in the 

United Nations Global Compact 
Principles 
The group has adopted the 10 
principles and monitors and reports on 
compliance with human rights, labour, 
anti-corruption and environmental 
matters despite not being a signatory 
to the compact.

 – Human rights
The group remains committed to 
protecting and upholding human 
rights as far as it is able to exercise 
control over such. It subscribes to and 
supports “the Code”, a compact 
between members of the international 
tourism industry that deals with the 
awareness of its staff with regard to 
issues and circumstances prevalent in 
the practices of human trafficking and 
child sex tourism.

City Lodge is not complicit in human 
rights abuses. It does not vet its 
suppliers in this regard on the basis 
that it does not believe doing so is 
necessary in the context of its 
operations and profile of suppliers.
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 – Freedom of association
The group recognises the right to 
freedom of association as well as the 
right to collective bargaining and 
continues to recognise and bargain 
with the trade union, SACCAWU. All 
staff (up to supervisory level) in the 
deemed “bargaining unit” may belong 
to the union from a bargaining 
perspective. While any other level of 
staff member may belong to the 
union, they are not covered by any 
bargaining gains made by the union.

 – Forced or compulsory labour
The group supports the elimination of 
all forms of forced or compulsory 
labour and has no exposure to such 
practices. Suppliers are not vetted in 
this regard as the group is of the 
opinion that this is not necessary in 
the context of its operations and the 
profile of its suppliers.

 – Abolition of child labour
The group demonstrates its support 
for the abolition of child labour by 
ensuring that no minors are 
employed. It is a condition of 
employment that all employees 
provide proof of age upon 
commencement of employment.

 – The Organisation for Economic 
Co-operation and Development’s 
recommendations regarding 
corruption.

 • Activities associated with good 
corporate citizenship including the 
group’s positioning and efforts with 
regards promotion of equality, 
prevention of unfair discrimination, 
reduction of corruption, contribution 
towards community development in 
the areas within which the company 
operates and record of sponsorship, 
donations and charitable giving.

In this regard it is to be noted that:
 – no material or repeated penalties, 

sanctions and/or fines for 
contraventions of or non-
compliance with statutory 
obligations were imposed on the 
company or its directors for failure 
to comply with any legislative or 
regulatory requirement;

 – no compliance inspections were 
carried out by environmental 
regulators nor were any findings of 
non-compliance with environmental 
laws or criminal sanctions for 
non-compliance imposed on the 
company;

 – no political donations were made 
during the year; and

 – no requests for information under 
the Promotion of Access to 
Information Act were received 
during the year under review.

For details on sponsorships, donations and 
charitable giving refer to page 63.

 • Align the committee’s terms of reference 
to King IV.

 • The group’s labour and employment 
practices, including its standing in terms 
of the International Labour Organisation 
Protocol on decent work and working 
conditions, its employment relationships 
and contribution toward employee 
educational development.

 • Progress made with regard to 
transformation, taking the Employment 
Equity and Broad-Based Black Economic 
Empowerment (“B-BBEE”) Acts into 
account. The company, in its most recent 
verification, achieved level 4 B-BBEE 
recognition.

 • The group’s compliance with applicable 
legislation, regulation and codes of good 
practice.

 • Environmental sustainability practices, in 
particular three of the UN Global 
Compact Principles relating to 
supporting a precautionary approach to 
environmental challenges and 
supporting greater environmentally 
friendly technologies.

 • Consumer relationships, including 
advertising and public relations and 
stakeholder engagement, it being 
specifically noted that no complaints 
have been lodged with the Consumer 
Tribunal. The two complaints lodged 
with the Advertising Standards Authority 
(“ASA”) were resolved to the satisfaction 
of the ASA.
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Going forward, efforts will be directed 
towards improving reporting in respect of 
corporate citizenship and implementation 
of employee-centric initiatives, including:

 • rolling out the new service excellence 
and employee recognition programme; 
and

 • providing the necessary training to 
employees to deliver sustainable value.

The committee is of the view that the 
group takes its environmental, social and 
governance responsibilities seriously and 
that appropriate policies, plans and 
programmes have been put in place to 
contribute to social and economic 
development, good corporate citizenship, 
environmental responsibility, fair labour 
practices and good consumer relations. 

No incidents or acts indicating a material 
breach in the required standard of ethical 
behaviour were brought to the attention 
of the committee during the period under 
review nor were any instances of 
substantive non-compliance with legislation 
and regulation or non-adherence to codes 
of best practice.

Based on its monitoring activities, the 
SEC has no reason to believe that any such 
non-compliance or non-adherence has 
occurred and that the group is addressing 
the matters required to be monitored as 
detailed in its mandate in the appropriate 
manner and that it has effectively 
discharged its responsibilities.

K I M Shongwe
Chairman of the social and ethics 
committee

15 October 2018
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These annual financial statements were published on 
16 October 2018, were audited in compliance with the requirements 

of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, and prepared under the 
supervision of Alastair Dooley CA(SA).

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Audited

T H E R E  I S  C O M F O R T  I N  E V E R Y  D E T A I L

City Lodge Hotel Group Integrated Report 2018
114

 



The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the group annual financial statements 
and separate annual financial statements of City Lodge Hotels 
Limited, comprising the statements of financial position at 
30 June 2018, the statements of comprehensive income, changes 
in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, the accounting 
policies and notes to the financial statements, in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements 
of the Companies Act of South Africa. In addition, the directors 
are responsible for preparing the directors’ report. 

The directors are also responsible for such internal control as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and for maintaining adequate 
accounting records and an effective system of risk management.

The directors have made an assessment of the company and its 
subsidiaries’ ability to continue as going concerns and there is no 
reason to believe the businesses will not be going concerns in the 
year ahead.

I, the undersigned, in my capacity as company secretary, hereby 
confirm to the best of my knowledge and belief that in terms of 
the Companies Act, 71 of 2008 (the “Companies Act”), for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018, the company has lodged with 
the Commissioner of the Companies and Intellectual Property 
Commission, all returns and notices prescribed by the Companies 
Act and that all such returns and notices appear to be true, 
correct and up to date.

M C van Heerden
Company secretary

15 October 2018

The auditor is responsible for reporting on whether the group 
financial statements and separate financial statements of City 
Lodge Hotels Limited are fairly presented in accordance with 
the applicable financial reporting framework.

APPROVAL OF GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND SEPARATE ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
The group annual financial statements and separate annual 
financial statements of City Lodge Hotels Limited were approved 
by the board of directors on 15 October 2018 and signed on its 
behalf by:

 

A C Widegger A W Dooley
Chief executive officer Chief financial officer
Authorised director Authorised director

CERTIFICATE BY THE COMPANY SECRETARY

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018
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This report is provided by the audit committee in compliance 
with the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, and as recommended by 
King IVTM*.

MEMBERSHIP
The committee comprises S G Morris (chairman), G G Huysamer, 
F W J Kilbourn and N Medupe, each of whom are independent 
non-executive directors and all of whom are financially literate 
and possess the necessary experience to contribute to the 
committee’s deliberations. The committee met three times during 
the year with the chief executive, financial director, divisional 
director: financial and representatives from external audit and 
internal audit attending each meeting by invitation.

MANDATE AND TERMS OF REFERENCE
Further information with regards to the audit committee, 
including its terms of reference and procedures, is described 
more fully in the governance report on pages 70 to 72 of 
this Integrated Report.

STATUTORY DUTIES
The audit committee is satisfied that it considered, executed and 
discharged its responsibilities during the year in accordance with 
its mandate as described above.

The committee has considered the independence of the 
company’s external auditors, KPMG Inc., and is satisfied that, for 
the year under review, the external auditors are independent. The 
committee adopts a work plan annually, in advance, in order to 
manage the discharge of its responsibilities under the Companies 
Act, King IV, its own charter and the JSE Listings Requirements. 

It approved the external auditors’ fees for 2018 and the non-audit-
related services performed by the external auditors during the 
year in accordance with the policy established and approved by 
the board.

The committee, excluding management invitees, met with both 
the external and internal auditors in order to discuss any issues 
relevant to the audit as well as to consider the resources and 
adequacy of the finance function, in particular the expertise and 
experience of the financial director. It concluded that both were 
adequate.

The committee, excluding both the external and internal auditors, 
met with management invitees in order to discuss any issues 
relevant to the audit as well as to consider the quality and 
effectiveness of the external and internal audit process and 
concluded that both were adequate.

+

* Copyright and trademarks are owned by the Institute of Directors in Southern Africa NPC and all of its rights are reserved.

After assessing the requirements set out in the Companies Act, 
the committee is satisfied with the independence and objectivity 
of the external auditors, and recommends the reappointment of 
the external auditors at the next annual general meeting.

INTERNAL CONTROL
The audit committee has considered and approved the group’s 
system of internal financial controls, based on the reports 
received from the external auditors and reports on hotel visits by 
the internal auditors, and confirms that no material breakdown 
of internal controls has taken place during the year. 

SOLVENCY AND LIQUIDITY
The committee is satisfied that the board has performed 
a solvency and liquidity test on the company and has 
concluded that the company satisfies the test after payment 
of the final dividend.

INTEGRATED REPORTING
The Integrated Report comprises the:

 • corporate report;
 • governance report;
 • social and ethics report;
 • remuneration report;
 •  supplementary information to the Integrated Report; and
 • the annual financial statements.

Following our review, and having regard to all material factors and 
risks that may impact the integrity of the Integrated Report, we 
accordingly recommend the Integrated Report and group annual 
financial statements of City Lodge Hotels Limited for the year 
ended 30 June 2018 to the board of directors for approval on 
15 October 2018.

S G Morris
Chairman of the audit committee

16 October 2018

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018
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NATURE OF BUSINESS
The group owns and operates high-quality, affordable hotels 
targeted at the business community and leisure traveller.

FINANCIAL RESULTS
Group profit before taxation for the year amounted to 
R407,7 million (2017: R425,4 million) while consolidated headline 
earnings totalled R262,4 million (716,4 cents per share, diluted) 
compared with headline earnings of R295,3 million (808,0 cents 
per share, diluted) for the previous year.

On a normalised basis, the consolidated headline earnings totalled 
R331,1 million (760,6 cents per share, diluted) compared with 
normalised headline earnings of R362,2 million (833,6 cents per 
share, diluted) for the previous year.

The company’s interest in its subsidiaries’ profit after taxation 
amounted to R43,8 million (2017: R29,0 million).

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS
During 2015 the group was granted an approved facility of 
R1 140 million to be utilised in funding the group’s expansion with 
final repayment due five years after each initial drawdown. An 
amount of R130 million (2017: R50 million) was utilised during the 
year, increasing the amount due to R450 million. Further details 
are included in note 11.

DIVIDENDS
An interim dividend of 253,0 cents per share (2017: 272,0 cents) 
was declared on 15 February 2018, payable to ordinary 
shareholders registered on 9 March 2018. A final dividend 
of 201,0 cents per share (2017: 228,0 cents) was declared on 
15 August 2018, payable to ordinary shareholders registered 
on 7 September 2018.

SHARE CAPITAL
There was no change in the authorised share capital of the 
company during the year under review.

The issued share capital increased by 1 600 shares as reflected 
in note 9.

The shares issued during the year were to participants in 
the executive employee share incentive scheme, in terms 
of share options exercised, at a price of R78,56 per share.

The City Lodge 10th anniversary employees’ share scheme
At a general meeting of shareholders on 18 December 1995, 
a share scheme was created for all employees other than those 
employees who participate in the City Lodge executive employee 
share incentive scheme. The company issued 1 000 000 new 
ordinary shares to the trust which were funded by means of an 
interest-free loan from the company for an amount of R34 million. 

The following distributions were made in terms of the scheme:

Distribution date

Shares per
 eligible

 employee
Total shares
 distributed

December 1995 30 15 420
November 2005 55 38 445
November 2006 138 88 734
November 2007 214 137 388
November 2010 48 36 336
November 2012 80 72 960
November 2013 69 61 846
November 2015 25 22 800
November 2016 19 17 575

491 504

In applying IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: recognition and 
measurement, the carrying value of the loan in the company 
is R34,0 million (2017: R34,0 million) based on amortised cost.

SUBSIDIARIES
Details relating to interest in subsidiaries are included in note 3.

DIRECTORATE AND SECRETARY
The directors in office during the year under review and up to the 
date of signing this report were: A W Dooley (appointed 1 July 
2018), G G Huysamer, F W J Kilbourn, S Marutlulle, N Medupe, 
S G Morris, B T Ngcuka (chairman), V M Rague, C Ross (retired 
30 June 2018), L G Siddo (appointed 1 July 2018), K I M Shongwe 
and A C Widegger.

In terms of the memorandum of incorporation, Ms N Medupe, 
Mr S G Morris and Mr B T Ngcuka retire at the forthcoming annual 
general meeting but are eligible and available for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST
The directors’ individual interest in the ordinary share capital of the company at 30 June were as follows:

Beneficial
 Direct Indirect

2018 2017 2018 2017

G G Huysamer – – – –
F W J Kilbourn 17 000 17 000 17 500 17 500
S Marutlulle – – – –
N Medupe – – 102 247* 102 247*
S G Morris – – – –
B T Ngcuka – – 444 521* 444 521*
V M Rague – – – –
C Ross 206 453 205 294 15 000 15 000
K I M Shongwe – – 153 371* 153 371*
A C Widegger 211 905 193 326 – –

Total 435 358 415 620 732 639 732 639

*  Mrs Medupe, Mr Ngcuka and Dr Shongwe’s indirect shareholding reflects their proportionate share of the 2 556 185 shares owned by Vuwa Investments Proprietary 
Limited.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Directors were interested in nil (2017: nil) options to acquire 
ordinary shares in the company at 30 June 2018 under the 
executive share incentive scheme. This scheme has been replaced 
by the share appreciation rights scheme, the deferred bonus plan 
and the restricted share plan. Details of awards held by individual 
directors are included in note 18.

No material changes in directors’ interests have taken place 
between the reporting date and the date of issue of this 
Integrated Report.

GOING CONCERN
The directors consider that the company and its subsidiaries have 
adequate resources to continue operating for the foreseeable 

future and that it is therefore appropriate to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the group and company financial 
statements. The directors have satisfied themselves that the 
company and its subsidiaries are in a sound financial position 
and that they have access to sufficient cash and borrowing 
facilities to meet their foreseeable cash requirements.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
On 18 August 2018, a portion of the funds held as other 
investments, as set out in note 8, were released to depositors. 
The impairment loss previously raised will be reconsidered in the 
new year, in line with the availability of funds still to be released.
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED AND 
SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated and separate financial 
statements of City Lodge Hotels Limited (“the group” and 
“company”) set out on pages 123 to 165, which comprise the 
statements of financial position at 30 June 2018, and the 
statements of comprehensive income, the statements of changes 
in equity and the statements of cash flows for the year then 
ended, the accounting policies, notes to the financial statements 
and the segment analysis.

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 
and separate financial position of City Lodge Hotels Limited at 
30 June 2018, and its consolidated and separate financial 
performance and consolidated and separate cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 
of South Africa.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (“ISA”). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for 
the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the group and 
company in accordance with the Independent Regulatory Board 
for Auditors Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors 
(“IRBA Code”) and other independence requirements applicable 
to performing audits of financial statements in South Africa. We 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the IRBA Code and in accordance with other ethical requirements 
applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is 
consistent with the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (Parts A 
and B). We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated and 
separate financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated and 
separate financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Revenue recognition
(Applicable to the consolidated and separate financial statements)
Refer to accounting policy for revenue on page 128.

The key audit matter How we addressed the matter in our audit
Due to the nature of the business of providing accommodation, the 
volume of transactions are high and one would need to rely on 
controls to assess the completeness, accuracy and existence of 
revenue.

Revenue is a key performance measure which could create an 
incentive for revenue to be recognised before risks and rewards 
have been transferred in terms of the recognition requirements of 
IAS 18 Revenue.

Revenue for the year for accommodation, food and beverage 
amounts to R1 498 million for the group and R1 381 million for 
the company.

Due to the significant risk associated with revenue recognition and 
the significant work effort from the audit team, revenue recognition 
was considered to be a key audit matter in our audit of the 
consolidated and separate financial statements.

Our audit work included the following procedures:
 • we considered the appropriateness of the group’s and company’s 
revenue recognition accounting policies in accordance with 
IAS18 Revenue;

 • we tested the effective operation of internal controls (night audit 
packs) implemented by management to assess the transfer of 
risks and rewards over revenue;

 • we performed predictive analytical procedures over the 
accommodation, food and beverage revenue streams and 
compared our expectation to the actual revenue recorded and 
where the differences were outside our expected ranges, we 
investigated these differences;

 • for a sample of revenue transactions selected after year-end we 
inspected source documentation to ensure the transaction was 
recorded in the correct period; and

 • we tested a sample of revenue at year-end by agreeing a sample 
of open invoices at year-end to subsequent receipts from 
customers or registration cards to verify the existence of the 
revenue recorded.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CITY LODGE HOTELS LIMITED  
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Impairment of other investments
(Applicable to the consolidated financial statements)
Refer to the accounting policy for the impairment of non-derivative financial assets and note 8 to the financial statements.

The key audit matter How we addressed the matter in our audit
Fairview Hotels Limited (“subsidiary”), a wholly owned subsidiary, 
has deposits with Chase Bank (Kenya) Limited (“Chase Bank”) 
amounting to KES384,8 million. As indicated in note 8, Chase Bank 
was placed under receivership on 7 April 2016 and re-opened on 
27 April 2016 under a receiver manager who was evaluating buyers 
for Chase Bank. On 17 April 2018 it was announced that an 
agreement was signed between SBM Bank (Kenya) Limited (“SBM”) 
and Chase Bank whereby 75% of the deposits with Chase Bank will 
be transferred to SBM and that these deposits will be made 
available to investors in terms of specific customary conditions. The 
remainder of the 25% will remain with Chase Bank. These deposits 
have been classified as other investments in the consolidated 
financial statements.

The group’s ability to access the deposits is restricted and due to 
uncertainty about whether the deposits are fully recoverable given 
the receivership process, the impairment allowance of R24,0 million 
at year-end was considered to be sufficient. The impairment 
assessment was based on management’s estimation of the 
recoverability of the deposit in light of the information available to 
management about the progress of the receivership process at 
year-end.

Given the level of judgement involved in determining the 
recoverable amount of the deposit, the impairment of other 
investments was considered as a key audit matter in our audit 
of the consolidated financial statements.

Our audit work included the following procedures:
 • we inquired and obtained management representation about the 
communications between the directors of the subsidiary, the 
receiver manager and the Central Bank of Kenya to gain an 
understanding of the receivership process and the progress made 
in identifying a buyer;

 • we inspected the press releases indicating the timing, value and 
accessibility of the funds to be transferred to SBM to evaluate 
whether appropriate risk factors, such as the credibility of SBM 
and the method of providing access to the funds, were 
considered by the subsidiary directors to determine the extent of 
the impairment required at year-end; and

 • we assessed the appropriateness of the classification of the 
other investments included as current assets. In terms of 
IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT CONTINUED
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CITY LODGE HOTELS LIMITED   
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Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other 
information comprises the Certificate by the company secretary, 
the Report of the audit committee and the Directors’ report as 
required by the Companies Act of South Africa, and the rest of the 
information included in the Integrated Report. Other information 
does not include the consolidated and separate financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial 
statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion 
thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate 
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated and 
separate financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based 
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we are required 
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated and 
separate financial statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South 
Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, 
the directors are responsible for assessing the group and the 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to 
liquidate the group and/or the company or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and 
separate financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated and separate financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISA will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these consolidated and separate financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISA, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 

 • identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated and separate financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control; 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT CONTINUED
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 • obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the group’s and the company’s internal 
control; 

 • evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors; 

 • conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the 
going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the group’s and the company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the consolidated and separate financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the group and / or the company 
to cease to continue as a going concern; 

 • evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 
consolidated and separate financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate 
financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation; and 

 • obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial information of the entities or business activities within 
the group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision 
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have 
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships 
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine 
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the 
consolidated and separate financial statements of the current 
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes 
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication. 

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY 
REQUIREMENTS
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette 
Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that KPMG 
Inc. has been the auditor of City Lodge Hotels Limited for 32 years.

KPMG Inc.
Registered Auditors

Per: Dwight Thompson
Chartered Accountant (SA)
Registered Auditor
Director

KPMG Crescent
85 Empire Road, Parktown, Johannesburg

15 October 2018
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REPORTING ENTITIES
City Lodge Hotels Limited (“the company”) is a company domiciled 
in South Africa. The group financial statements as at and for the 
year ended 30 June 2018 comprise the company and its 
subsidiaries (together referred to as the group). 

The group owns and operates high-quality, affordable hotels 
targeted at the business community and leisure traveller.

Where reference is made to “group”, it should be interpreted 
as company, where the context requires and unless 
otherwise stated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Rand, which is the 
company’s functional and group’s presentation currency, rounded 
to the nearest thousand unless indicated otherwise.

Basis of measurement
These financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, 
except for derivative financial instruments carried at fair value and 
the defined-benefit plan measured at the fair value of plan assets 
less the present value of the defined-benefit obligation.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that may affect the application of accounting policies and reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates 
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience 
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making 
the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that 
are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may 
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an 
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision only 
affects that period, or in the period of the revision and future 
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation, 
uncertainty and critical judgements, in applying accounting 
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements is in relation to 
the following:

 • Measurement of share-based payments (note 24).
 • Measurement of impairment allowance of trade receivables 
(note 27.4).

 • Measurement of impairment loss on other investments 
(note 8).

Statement of compliance
The group and company financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with IFRS and its interpretations adopted by 
the International Accounting Standards Board, the Listings 
Requirements of JSE Limited, the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides 
issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and Financial 
Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting 
Standards Council and the Companies Act of South Africa. These 
group and company financial statements were authorised for 
issue by the board of directors on 15 October 2018. 

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The accounting policies set out on the following pages have been 
applied consistently by all group entities to all periods presented 
in these financial statements.

Basis of consolidation
The group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition 
method when control is transferred to the group. The consideration 
transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as 
are the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. For 
a business combination achieved in stages, the pre-existing equity 
interest in the acquiree is measured at fair value at the acquisition 
date. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment. 
Any gain on a bargain purchase is recognised in profit or loss 
immediately. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred, except 
if related to the issue of debt or equity securities.

Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment adjustments in the company separate financial 
statements.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018  
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Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the group. The group 
controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable 
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability 
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. 
The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date on which 
control commences until the date on which control ceases.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the costs of acquisition over 
the group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets 
(including intangibles), liabilities and contingent liabilities of 
the acquired entity at the date of acquisition and if a business 
combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the  
pre-existing equity interest in the acquiree.

Goodwill is stated at cost less impairment losses and is reviewed 
for impairment on an annual basis. Any impairment identified is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss and is not reversed.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units (“CGUs”) for the 
purpose of impairment testing. Each of those CGUs is identified in 
accordance with the basis on which the businesses are managed 
and according to the differing risk and reward profiles.

Foreign transactions and balances
The financial statements for each group company have been 
prepared on the basis that transactions in foreign currencies are 
recorded in their functional currency at the rate of exchange 
ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary items 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate 
of exchange ruling at the reporting date with the resultant 
translation differences being credited or charged to profit or loss. 

Foreign subsidiaries – translation
One-off items in the statement of comprehensive income 
and cash flow statements of foreign subsidiaries expressed in 
currencies other than the SA Rand are translated to SA Rand at 
the rates of exchange prevailing on the day of the transaction. 
All other items are translated at average rates of exchange for 
the relevant reporting period. Assets and liabilities of these 
undertakings are translated at closing rates of exchange at each 
reporting date. All translation exchange differences arising on 
the retranslation of opening net assets together with differences 
between statement of comprehensive income translated at 
average and closing rates are recognised as a separate component 
of other comprehensive income. For these purposes net assets 

include loans between group companies that form part of the net 
investment, for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to 
occur in the foreseeable future and is either denominated in the 
functional currency of the parent or the foreign entity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of 
a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign 
entity and translated at the closing rate.

Structured entities
The group has established a number of structured entities for the 
purposes of the BEE transaction. The group does not have any 
direct or indirect shareholdings in these entities. The group has 
guaranteed the funding of the structured entities and as such 
is deemed to control these structured entities resulting in the 
incorporation of the structured entities into the company and 
group financial statements.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intragroup transactions and balances, and any unrealised income 
or expenses arising from intragroup transactions, are eliminated 
in preparing the group financial statements.

Property, plant and equipment
Owned assets
Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
Costs include expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets 
includes the cost of materials, direct labour and any other costs 
directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition 
for its intended use. Where significant components of an item of 
property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are 
accounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment.

Freehold land is stated at cost and is not depreciated. Freehold 
and leasehold buildings are stated at cost and depreciated 
over periods of up to 50 years as deemed appropriate to reduce 
carrying values to estimated residual values over their useful lives.

The group recognises in the carrying amount of an item of 
property, plant and equipment the cost of replacing part of such 
an item when the cost is incurred if it is probable that the future 
economic benefits embodied with the item will flow to the group 
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying 
amount of the replaced item is derecognised. All other costs are 
recognised in profit or loss as an expense as incurred.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018  
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Borrowing costs incurred on funds raised to erect hotel buildings 
(qualifying assets) are capitalised up to the date that the activities 
necessary to prepare the hotel for its intended use are 
substantially complete.

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable 
assurance that they will be received and the group will comply 
with the conditions associated with the grant. Such grants are 
deducted from the cost of the asset.

Depreciation is charged to profit or loss to write off the cost of the 
asset to its estimated residual value on a straight-line basis over 
the estimated useful life of each part of an item of property, plant 
and equipment. Depreciation commences the month following 
acquisition. The estimated useful lives are currently as follows:

 • Buildings 10 to 50 years
 • Furniture and equipment Three to five years

Leasehold improvements are written off over the initial period 
of the lease.

The residual values, depreciation methods, and useful lives are 
reassessed annually.

Gains and losses arising on the disposal of property, plant and 
equipment are included in profit or loss.

Leases
Operating leases as lessee
Leases, where the lessor retains the risk and rewards of ownership 
of the underlying asset, are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease payments are expensed in profit or loss on a 
straight-line basis over the period of the leases. Other contingent 
operating lease payments are charged against profit or loss as 
they are incurred.

Intangible assets
Internally developed trademarks are not recognised. Expenditure 
to enhance and maintain such trademarks is charged in full 
against profit or loss.

Expenditure on research activities is recognised in profit or loss 
as incurred.

Software development expenditure is capitalised only if the 
expenditure can be measured reliably, the product or process is 
technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits 

are probable and the group intends to and has sufficient resources 
to complete development and to use or sell the asset. Otherwise, 
it is recognised in profit or loss as incurred. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, software development expenditure is measured 
at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated 
impairment losses.

Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets 
less their estimated residual values using the straight-line method 
over their estimated useful lives, and is generally recognised in 
profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:
 • Software development costs Five to 10 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are 
reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

Impairment
Non-derivative financial assets
A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence 
indicates that one or more loss events have had a negative effect 
on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be 
measured reliably.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured 
at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its 
carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future 
cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.

An impairment loss in respect of an equity-accounted investee 
is measured by comparing the recoverable amount of the 
investment with its carrying amount.

All impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was 
recognised. For financial assets measured at amortised cost and 
equity-accounted investees, the reversal is recognised in profit 
or loss.

Non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the group’s non-financial assets, other 
than inventories and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated.
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An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an 
asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. 
A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that 
generates cash flows that largely are independent from other assets 
and groups. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. 
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units 
are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 
allocated to the units and then to reduce the carrying amount of 
the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is 
the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pretax discount rate 
or estimated using a price to earnings ratio that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. 
In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior 
periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications 
that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment 
loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used 
to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment 
loss had been recognised. 

Pre-opening expenses
Pre-opening expenses of new hotels are charged directly against 
profit or loss as incurred.

Inventories
Inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value, 
on a first-in first-out basis, and includes expenditure incurred in 
acquiring the inventories and bringing them to their existing 
location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business, less the estimated selling expenses.

Taxation
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income 
tax expense is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent 
that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or other 
comprehensive income.

Current taxation comprises taxation payable calculated on the 
basis of the expected taxable income for the year, using the 
taxation rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting 
date, and any adjustment of taxation payable for previous years.

Deferred taxation is provided based on temporary differences. 
Temporary differences are differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes 
and their tax base. The amount of deferred taxation provided is 
based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of 
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities using taxation rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Deferred 
taxation is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that 
it relates to a transaction that is recognised directly in equity or 
other comprehensive income, or a business combination that is 
an acquisition. The effect on deferred taxation of any changes in 
taxation rates is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent 
that it relates to items previously recognised directly in equity or 
other comprehensive income.

Deferred taxation is not recognised for the following temporary 
differences:

 • the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction 
that is not a business combination and that affects neither 
accounting nor taxable profit; 

 • differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent 
that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

 • taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition 
of goodwill.

A deferred taxation asset is recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 
the associated unused taxation losses and deductible temporary 
differences can be utilised. Deferred taxation assets are reviewed 
at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that the related taxation benefit will be realised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and 
they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on 
the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they 
intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis 
or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously. 

Dividend withholding tax is a tax on shareholders receiving 
dividends and is applicable to all dividends declared on or after 
1 April 2012.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018  
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The company withholds dividend tax on behalf of its shareholders 
on dividends declared. Amounts withheld are not recognised as 
part of the company’s tax charge, but rather as part of the 
dividend paid, recognised directly in equity.

Financial instruments
Measurement
Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus, for 
financial instruments not at fair value through profit or loss, any 
directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, these instruments are measured as set out below:

Non-derivative financial assets
The group initially recognises loans and receivables on the date 
that they are originated. All other financial assets (including assets 
designated as at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised 
initially on the trade date, which is the date that the group becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Investments
Investments that meet the criteria for classification as loans and 
receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less impairment losses.

Financial assets designated as financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss are carried at fair value with any gains or losses being 
recognised in profit or loss. Fair value, for this purpose, is market 
value if listed. Attributable transaction costs are recognised in 
profit or loss when incurred.

Trade, loan and other receivables
Trade, loan and other receivables are measured at amortised cost, 
using the effective interest method, less impairment losses.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are measured at amortised cost, using 
the effective interest method.

Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised if the group’s contractual rights 
to the cash flows from the financial assets expire or if the group 
transfers the financial asset to another party without retaining 
control of substantially all risks and rewards of the asset. Financial 
liabilities are derecognised if the group’s obligations expire or are 
discharged or cancelled.

Non-derivative financial liabilities
The group initially recognises debt securities issued on the date that 
they are originated. All other financial liabilities (including liabilities 
designated as fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially 
on the trade date, which is the date that the group becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Borrowings are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. 

Any difference between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and 
the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss as interest 
expense over the period of the borrowings.

Trade and other payables are measured at amortised cost, using 
the effective interest method. 

Offset
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net 
amount reported in the statement of financial position when the 
company has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised 
amounts, and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Share capital and equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental external 
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown 
in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 

Preference shares
Preference share capital is classified as a liability as it is redeemable on 
a specific date or at the option of the shareholders and as the dividend 
payments are not discretionary. Dividends thereon are recognised as 
interest expense in profit or loss as accrued.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of past events, for which it is 
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the 
obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. 
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash 
flows at a pretax rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risk specific to the liability.
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Revenue
Revenue comprises revenue received from hotel accommodation, 
food and beverage sales, but excludes value added tax, and is 
recognised once the service is rendered.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable, net of returns, allowances and trade discounts. 
Revenue is recognised on the provision of accommodation and 
related services in the ordinary course of the group’s activities when 
recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs can 
be estimated reliably, there is no continuing management 
involvement and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.

For the customer loyalty programme, the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable in respect of the initial sale 
is allocated between the award credits (Lodger-points) and the other 
components of the sale. The group supplies all of the awards, being 
accommodation itself. The amount allocated to the Lodger-points is 
estimated by reference to the fair value of the accommodation for 
which they could be redeemed, since the fair value of the Lodger-
points themselves is not directly observable. The fair value of the 
accommodation is estimated taking into account the expected 
redemption rate and the timing of such expected redemptions. 
Such amount is deferred and revenue is recognised only when the 
Lodger-points are redeemed and the group has fulfilled its 
obligations to supply the accommodation or when it is no longer 
probable that the points under the programme will be redeemed. 
The amount of revenue recognised in those circumstances is based 
on the number of Lodger-points that have been redeemed in 
exchange for accommodation, relative to the total number 
of Lodger-points that is expected to be redeemed.

Rental income
Rental income from property leased out under operating leases is 
recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease in 
the company. The property leased is owner-occupied property.

Interest income and expense
Interest income comprises interest income on funds invested. 
Interest income is recognised as it accrues, using the effective 
interest method.

Interest expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings, 
dividends on preference shares classified as liabilities and 
unwinding of discounts on provisions. All borrowing costs, not 
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production 
of qualifying assets, are recognised in profit or loss using the 
effective interest method.

Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits
The cost of all short-term employee benefits is recognised during 
the period in which the employee renders the related service.

The liability for employee entitlements to salaries, bonuses and 
annual leave represent the amounts which the group has a present 
obligation to pay as a result of employees’ services provided to the 
reporting date. The liability has been calculated at undiscounted 
amounts based on current salary rates.

Retirement benefits
Defined-contribution plans
Contributions to defined-contribution pension plans are 
recognised as an expense in profit or loss in the periods during 
which services are rendered by employees.

Defined-benefit plans
The group’s net obligation in respect of the defined-benefit 
pension plan is calculated by estimating the amount of future 
benefit that employees have earned in return for their service 
in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to 
determine its present value, and the fair value of any plan assets 
is deducted in respect of the defined-benefit pension plan. The 
discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on the All Bond 
Index (“ALBI”) that have maturity dates approximating to the 
terms of the group’s obligations and are denominated in the same 
currency in which the benefits are expected to be paid in respect 
of the defined-benefit pension plan. The calculation is performed 
by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method.

Remeasurements of the net defined-benefit liability, which 
comprise actuarial gains and losses and in the case of the 
defined-benefit pension plan, the return on plan assets (excluding 
interest), are recognised immediately in OCI. The group 
determines the net interest expense (income) on the net 
defined-benefit liability (asset) for the period by applying the 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018  
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discount rate used to measure the defined-benefit obligation 
at the beginning of the annual period to the then net defined-
benefit liability (asset), taking into account any changes in the 
net defined-benefit liability (asset) during the period as a result 
of contributions and benefit payments. Net interest expense 
and other expenses related to defined-benefit plans are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Where the calculation results in an asset for the group, the 
recognised asset is limited to the present value of any future 
refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions 
to the plan available to the employer.

Share-based payment transactions
The share incentive schemes allow certain employees to acquire 
shares of the company. The fair value of rights granted are 
recognised as an employee expense with a corresponding increase 
in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and spread over 
the period during which the employees become unconditionally 
entitled to the rights. The fair value of the rights granted is 
measured using the stated models, taking into account the terms 
and conditions upon which the rights were granted. The amount 
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number 
of share rights that vest, except where forfeiture is due only to 
share prices not achieving the threshold for vesting.

Share-based payment arrangements in which the group receives 
goods or services as consideration for its own equity instruments 
are accounted for as equity-settled share-based payment 
transactions, regardless of how the equity instruments are 
obtained by the group.

Earnings per share
The group presents basic, diluted and normalised earnings per 
share (“EPS”) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated 
by dividing profit for the period by the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares outstanding, excluding shares held by the BEE 
structured entities, during the period.

Diluted EPS is determined by dividing profit for the year by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, 
excluding shares held by the BEE structured entities, plus all 
potential dilutive ordinary shares, which comprise share options 
granted to employees.

Normalised EPS is calculated by dividing profit for the year, 
excluding the effects of the BEE transactions or those of a 
non-recurring/core nature, by the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares outstanding during the period.

Normalised diluted EPS is determined by dividing profit for the 
year, excluding the effects of the BEE transactions or those of a 
non-recurring/core nature, by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding, plus all potential dilutive ordinary 
shares, which comprise share options granted to employees.

Headline earnings per share is calculated in terms of 
circular 4/2018.

Operating segments
An operating segment is a component of the group that engages 
in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur 
expenses including revenues and expenses that relate to 
transactions with any of the group’s other components. 
All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly 
by the chief operating decision-makers to make decisions about 
resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its 
performance, and for which discrete financial information is 
available.

Segment results that are reported to the chief operating decision-
makers include items directly attributable to a segment as well as 
those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION  
AT 30 JUNE 2018

Group Company
R000 Note 2018 2017 2018 2017

ASSETS
Non-current assets 2 352 684 1 978 493 1 780 276 1 712 939
Property, plant and equipment 1 2 285 396 1 917 022 1 212 188 1 179 163
Intangible assets and goodwill 2 54 678 50 486 53 536 50 224
Interest in subsidiaries 3 449 352 449 352
Investments 200 200 200 200
Loan receivable 4 65 000 34 000
Deferred taxation 5 12 410 10 785 – –
Current assets 333 046 372 367 191 848 202 450
Inventories 6 7 298 6 845 3 901 3 830
Trade receivables 27.4 79 167 95 092 74 917 90 582
Other receivables 7 159 021 130 549 92 833 66 793
Taxation receivable 8 282 – 4 080 –
Other investments 8 26 185 24 217
Cash and cash equivalents 53 093 115 664 16 117 41 245

Total assets 2 685 730 2 350 860 1 972 124 1 915 389

EQUITY 
Capital and reserves 1 057 866 934 311 738 144 682 366
Share capital and premium 9 179 503 179 377 179 503 179 377
BEE investment and incentive scheme shares (524 984) (526 729) (506 306) (508 051)
Other reserves 10 138 173 114 411 110 655 114 718
Retained earnings 1 265 174 1 167 252 954 292 896 322

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities 1 446 619 560 688 992 015 323 931
Interest-bearing borrowings 11 450 000 320 000 30 000 109 000
BEE interest-bearing borrowings 12 44 120 – 44 120 –
BEE preference shares 13 367 600 – 367 600 –
BEE shareholder’s loan 14 50 000 – 50 000 –
BEE B preference share dividend accrual 13 273 477 – 273 477 –
Other non-current liabilities 15 86 275 89 517 71 204 78 905
Deferred taxation 5  175 147 151 171 155 614 136 026
Current liabilities 181 245 855 861 241 965 909 092
BEE interest-bearing borrowings 12 – 44 120 – 44 120
BEE preference shares 13 – 382 200 – 382 200
BEE shareholder’s loan 14 – 43 528 – 43 528
BEE preference share dividend accrual 13 – 236 466 – 236 466
Trade and other payables 16 181 245 142 004 241 965 190 693
Taxation payable – 7 543 – 12 085

Total liabilities 1 627 864 1 416 549 1 233 980 1 233 023

Total equity and liabilities 2 685 730 2 350 860 1 972 124 1 915 389
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Group Company
R000 Note 2018 2017 2018 2017

Revenue 1 498 426 1 520 410 1 380 848 1 382 226
Other income 21 923 –
Administration and marketing costs (99 841) (94 844) (94 362) (89 452)
BEE transaction charges (2 267) (587) (2 267) (587)
Operating costs excluding depreciation (845 483) (825 850) (786 639) (743 844)

572 758 599 129 497 580 548 343
Depreciation and amortisation (105 217) (102 779) (95 065) (94 554)
Results from operating activities 17 467 541 496 350 402 515 453 789
Interest income 19.1 4 031 6 603 11 561 13 276
Interest expense 19.2 (63 867) (77 558) (61 081) (77 530)
Profit before taxation 407 705 425 395 352 995 389 535
Taxation 20 (128 267) (130 254) (113 564) (119 484)
Profit for the year 279 438 295 141 239 431 270 051
Other comprehensive income
Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss
Defined-benefit plan remeasurements 24 – (573) – (573)
Income tax on other comprehensive income – 160 – 160
Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss
Foreign currency translation differences 27 825 (35 870)

Total comprehensive income for the year 307 263 258 858 239 431 269 638
Earnings per share (cents)
– basic 21 764,7 809,8
Diluted earnings per share (cents)
– basic 21 762,9 807,5

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018  
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Group Company
R000 Note 2018 2017 2018 2017

Cash generated by operations 26.1 620 887 608 697 574 099 532 726
Interest received 4 031 6 603 11 561 13 276
Interest paid (44 347) (35 915) (17 571) (35 887)
Taxation paid 26.2 (128 415) (117 034) (116 507) (95 689)
Dividends paid 22 (178 904) (192 955) (178 849) (192 859)
Cash inflows from operating activities 273 252 269 396 272 733 221 567
Cash utilised in investing activities (436 151) (267 630) (189 149) (34 877)
Investment to maintain operations 26.3 (81 936) (38 008) (81 886) (34 442)
Investment to expand operations 26.4 (343 669) (164 353) (40 717) (346)
Expenditure refundable on operating leases (35 554) (65 268) (35 554) –
Investments and loans 26.5 (200) (31 000) (200)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 26.3 25 008 199 8 111
Cash inflows/(outflows) from financing activities 100 288 16 905 (108 712) (174 095)
Proceeds on issue of shares 126 11 419 126 11 419
Purchase of incentive scheme shares (15 088) (29 074) (15 088) (29 074)
Proceeds from interest-bearing borrowings 130 000 50 000 –
Repayments of interest-bearing borrowings – – (79 000) (141 000)
Redemption of BEE preference shares (14 600) (15 300) (14 600) (15 300)
Distribution by BEE structured entity (150) (140) (150) (140)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (62 611) 18 671 (25 128) 12 595
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 115 664 104 309 41 245 28 650
Effect of movements in exchange rates on other 
investments (1 968) 8 663
Effect of movements in exchange rates on cash held 2 008 (15 979)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 53 093 115 664 16 117 41 245

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018  
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R000 Note

Share
capital

and
premium

BEE
investment

and 
incentive
 scheme

 shares
Other

reserves
Retained
earnings Total

Group
Balance at 30 June 2016 167 958 (524 228) 145 016 1 083 082 871 828
Total comprehensive income for the year – – (35 870) 294 728 258 858
Profit for the year – – – 295 141 295 141
Other comprehensive income
Defined-benefit plan remeasurements, net of tax – – – (413) (413)
Foreign currency translation differences – – (35 870) – (35 870)
Other movements (1 095) (1 095)
Deferred tax on settlement and curtailment of defined- 
benefit fund – – – (1 095) (1 095)
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity 11 419 (2 501) 5 265 (209 463) (195 280)
Issue of new ordinary shares 9 11 419 – – – 11 419
Incentive scheme shares – (2 501) (10 205) (16 368) (29 074)
Share compensation reserve 10 – – 15 470 – 15 470
Dividends paid 22 – – – (192 955) (192 955)
Distribution by BEE structured entity – – – (140) (140)

Balance at 30 June 2017 179 377 (526 729) 114 411 1 167 252 934 311
Total comprehensive income for the year – – 27 825 279 438 307 263
Profit for the year – – – 279 438 279 438
Other comprehensive income
Foreign currency translation differences – – 27 825 – 27 825
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity 126 1 745 (4 063) (181 516) (183 708)
Issue of new ordinary shares 9 126 – – – 126
Incentive scheme shares – 1 745 (14 371) (2 462) (15 088)
Share compensation reserve 10 – – 10 308 – 10 308
Dividends paid 22 – – – (178 904) (178 904)
Distribution by BEE structured entity – – – (150) (150)

Balance at 30 June 2018 179 503 (524 984) 138 173 1 265 174 1 057 866

 

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018  
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R000 Note

Share
capital

and
premium

BEE
investment 

and 
incentive
 scheme

 shares
Other

reserves
Retained
earnings Total

Company
Balance at 30 June 2016 167 958 (505 550) 109 453 837 146 609 007

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – 269 638 269 638
Profit for the year – – – 270 051 270 051
Other comprehensive income
Defined-benefit plan remeasurements, net of tax – – – (413) (413)
Other movements – – – (1 095) (1 095)
Deferred tax on settlement and curtailment of defined- 
benefit fund – – – (1 095) (1 095)
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity 11 419 (2 501) 5 265 (209 367) (195 184)
Issue of new ordinary shares 9 11 419 – – – 11 419
Incentive scheme shares – (2 501) (10 205) (16 368) (29 074)
Share compensation reserve 10 – – 15 470 – 15 470
Dividends paid 22 – – – (192 859) (192 859)
Distribution by BEE structured entity – – – (140) (140)

Balance at 30 June 2017 179 377 (508 051) 114 718 896 322 682 366

Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year – – – 239 431 239 431
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity 126 1 745 (4 063) (181 461) (183 653)
Issue of new ordinary shares 9 126 – – – 126
Incentive scheme shares – 1 745 (14 371) (2 462) (15 088)
Share compensation reserve 10 – – 10 308 – 10 308
Dividends paid 22 – – – (178 849) (178 849)
Distribution by BEE structured entity – – – (150) (150)

Balance at 30 June 2018 179 503 (506 306) 110 655 954 292 738 144

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018  
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Group Company
R000 2018 2017 2018 2017

1. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
At cost
Land 295 764 295 764 1 178 1 178
Buildings 1 913 543 1 614 555 1 451 259 1 395 912
– freehold 1 552 174 1 274 569 1 111 273 1 055 926
– leasehold 361 369 339 986 339 986 339 986
Buildings under construction 302 579 227 368 26 366 1 805
Furniture and equipment 401 018 339 796 276 398 270 306

2 912 904 2 477 483 1 755 201 1 669 201
Accumulated depreciation
Buildings 419 544 373 896 390 790 349 519
– freehold 226 965 204 804 199 043 180 427
– leasehold 192 579 169 092 191 747 169 092
Furniture and equipment 207 964 186 565 152 223 140 519

627 508 560 461 543 013 490 038
Carrying amount
Land 295 764 295 764 1 178 1 178
Buildings 1 493 999 1 240 659 1 060 469 1 046 393
– freehold 1 325 209 1 069 765 912 230 875 499
– leasehold 168 790 170 894 148 239 170 894
Buildings under construction 302 579 227 368 26 366 1 805
Furniture and equipment 193 054 153 231 124 175 129 787

2 285 396 1 917 022 1 212 188 1 179 163

R000 Land Buildings

Furniture
and

equipment Total

Movements for the year
Group – carrying amount
Opening balance – 30 June 2016 295 764 1 370 881 177 495 1 844 140
Additions* – 160 286 32 055 192 341
Disposals – – (448) (448)
Depreciation – (44 433) (53 251) (97 684)
Loss on foreign exchange movement – (18 707) (2 620) (21 327)

Closing balance – 30 June 2017 295 764 1 468 027 153 231 1 917 022
Additions* – 344 316 92 781 437 097
Acquisition through business combination – 15 053 – 15 053
Disposals – (3 077) (9) (3 086)
Depreciation – (45 178) (54 043) (99 221)
Gain on foreign exchange movement – 17 437 1 094 18 5321

Closing balance – 30 June 2018 295 764 1 796 578 193 054 2 285 396

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018  



City Lodge Hotel Group Integrated Report 2018
136

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

R000 Land Buildings

Furniture
and

equipment Total

1. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT continued

Company – carrying amount
Opening balance – 30 June 2016 1 178 1 087 181 155 337 1 243 696
Additions* – 2 350 22 746 25 096
Disposals – – (101) (101)
Depreciation – (41 333) (48 195) (89 528)

Closing balance – 30 June 2017 1 178 1 048 198 129 787 1 179 163

Additions* – 64 855 42 378 107 233
Acquisition through business combination – 15 053 – 15 053
Disposals – – (9) (9)
Depreciation – (41 271) (47 981) (89 252)

Closing balance – 30 June 2018 1 178 1 086 835 124 175 1 212 188

At 30 June 2018 properties with a carrying amount of R159,8 million (2017: R163,2 million) are subject to a registered bond to secure 
interest-bearing borrowings (refer to note 11).

A register of the land and buildings is available for inspection at the registered office of the company, a copy of which will be supplied 
to members of the public on request.
During the year, the group and company acquired eleven additional Courtyard Hotel sectional title units from independent owners.
The summary below provides the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date:

R000 2018

Property, plant and equipment 15 053
Deferred tax (2 543)

Total identifiable net assets acquired 12 510
The valuation technique used for measuring the fair value of the assets acquired were a market comparison technique and a cost 
technique. The valuation model uses projected future earnings and applies an earnings yield and price-earnings model, and depreciated 
cost where appropriate. Deprecated replacement cost reflects adjustments for physical deterioration, as well as functional and 
economic obsolescence. Gain on bargain purchase arising from the acquisition has been recognised as follows:

R000 2018

Consideration transferred 10 611
Fair value of identifiable net assets (12 510)

Gain on bargain purchase (1 899)

* Interest of R28,443 million (2017: R9,507 million) was capitalised in additions to buildings during the current and prior years (refer to note 19). 
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Group Company
R000 2018 2017 2018 2017

2. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL
At cost
Software development costs 60 798 54 412 59 386 54 084
Goodwill 7 241 3 418 7 241 3 418

68 039 57 830 66 627 57 502

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Software development costs 13 361 7 344 13 091 7 278
Goodwill – – – –

13 361 7 344 13 091 7 278

Carrying amount
Software development costs 47 437 47 068 46 295 46 806
Goodwill 7 241 3 418 7 241 3 418

54 678 50 486 53 536 50 224

R000

Software
development

 cost Goodwill Total
Movements for the year
Group – carrying amount
Opening balance – 30 June 2016 42 140 3 418 45 558
Additions 10 020 – 10 020
Amortisation (5 095) – (5 095)
Gain on foreign exchange movement 3 – 3

Closing balance – 30 June 2017 47 068 3 418 50 486
Additions 6 340 3 823* 10 163
Amortisation (5 996) – (5 996)
Gain on foreign exchange movement 25 – 25

Closing balance – 30 June 2018 47 437 7 241 54 678
Company – carrying amount
Opening balance – 30 June 2016 42 140 3 418 45 558
Additions 9 692 – 9 692
Amortisation (5 026) – (5 026)
Closing balance – 30 June 2017 46 806 3 418 50 224
Additions 5 302 3 823* 9 125
Amortisation (5 813) – (5 813)
Closing balance – 30 June 2018 46 295 7 241 53 536

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated to the Courtyard Hotels acquired and assessed as a single cash-generating unit 
(“CGU”). The recoverable amount was estimated at R150,869 million based on the present value of future earnings using a price-earnings model. 
A price to earnings ratio of 18,3, being the average over a five-year period, was applied to budgeted earnings. The key assumptions used in 
determining the budgeted earnings are average occupancy and room rate. Average occupancy is determined by assessing historic performance 
and current market trends, while room rates are in line with the group’s rate policy. No impairment loss was identified in the current year.

* During the current year, the goodwill amount initially raised increased as a result of the change in the Capital Gains Tax (“CGT”) inclusion rate.

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS
An analysis of the resultant effect on the value of the CGU for changes in the key valuation assumptions is presented below:

CGU value R000 Movement Increase Decrease
Budgeted earnings 1% 1 509 (1 509)
Price to earnings ratio 0,5 times 4 122 (4 122)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Company

R000

Issued
share

capital
 %

held 2018 2017

3. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES  
Shares at cost less accumulated impairment losses
Anchor Park Investments 105 Proprietary Limited R100 70 * *
Budget Hotels Proprietary Limited R100 100 1 073 1 073
City Lodge Hotels (Africa) Proprietary Limited R100 100 * *
City Lodge Hotels (Botswana) Proprietary Limited BWP1 100 * *
CLHG Mozambique Lda■ MZN1 000 000 1 3 3
CLHG Tanzania Limited■ TZS100 000 000 0,1 * *
Courtyard Management Company Proprietary Limited R100 100 * *
Fairview Hotel Limited, Kenya KES2 600 000 100 383 465 383 465
Gallic Courtyard (Arcadia) Share Block Proprietary Limited R1 518 100 1 1
Gallic Courtyard (Bruma Lake) Share Block Proprietary Limited R2 584 100 3 3
Gallic Courtyard (Rosebank) Share Block Limited R3 816 100 4 4
Gallic Courtyard (Sandown) Share Block Limited R3 067 100 3 3
Newshelf 892 Proprietary Limited# R100
Newshelf 935 Proprietary Limited# R100
Property Lodging Investments Proprietary Limited R100 100 2 000 2 000
Vuwa Hotels Proprietary Limited# R100

386 552 386 552
Loan
Property Lodging Investments Proprietary Limited 62 800 62 800
Interest in subsidiaries 449 352 449 352

The loan is unsecured, bears interest at 12% per annum  
(2017: 12%) and is repayable on demand on or before 31 July 
2023. There is, however, no intention to request repayment 
during the next 12 months.
Amounts included in other receivables and payables
Amounts due by subsidiaries 9 523 33 022
Amounts due to subsidiaries (110 066) (72 257)
These amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
The company also has an indirect, 100% shareholding in City Lodge Holdings (Share Block) Proprietary Limited, City Lodge Hotels 
(Namibia) Proprietary Limited and City Lodge Hotels (Uganda) Limited.

*Less than R1 000.
# City Lodge has guaranteed the funding of these BEE entities, resulting in their incorporation.
■ The majority shareholder is City Lodge Hotels (Africa) Proprietary Limited.

Company

R000 2018 2017

4. LOAN RECEIVABLE
City Lodge 10th anniversary employees’ share trust 34 000 34 000
Fairview Hotel Limited 31 000 –

65 000 34 000

The City Lodge 10th anniversary employees’ share trust loan is secured by the pledge of 508 974 (2017: 508 974) shares having a market 
value of R72 182 693 (2017: R71 322 527), is interest-free and is repayable upon demand by the company at any time after the expiry of 
20 years from the date of adoption of the scheme, being 18 December 1995, or in the event of the share price falling below R34,00 per 
share. There is, however, no intention to request repayment during the next 12 months.

In line with the requirements of IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, the City Lodge 10th anniversary employees’ share trust 
has been consolidated in the current and prior year. 

The loan amount is measured at amortised cost. The future value and nominal recoverable amount of the loan is R34,0 million.

The Fairview Hotel Limited loan is unsecured, bears interest at a rate of JIBAR plus 245 basis points, and is repayable by no later than 
31 December 2028.
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Group Company
R000 2018 2017 2018 2017

5. DEFERRED TAXATION
Movement in deferred taxation assets
Balance at beginning of year 10 785 5 747
Current year temporary differences – profit or loss 5 638 11 110
Reclassification of prior year deferred tax liability (4 162) (6 847)
Foreign exchange movement 149 775

Balance at end of year 12 410 10 785

Analysis of deferred taxation assets
Capital allowances 2 269 (1 964)
Deductible accruals 546 7 265
Operating lease accrual 3 578 2 335
Non-deductible accruals – 937
Prepayments (49) (120)
Tax loss 6 064 2 565
Unrealised foreign exchange gain 2 (233)

12 410 10 785

Movement in deferred taxation liabilities
Balance at beginning of year 151 171 144 685 136 026 122 165
Current year temporary differences – profit or loss 21 315 12 398 13 222 12 926
 – other comprehensive income – 935 – 935
Acquisition through business combination 2 543 – 2 543 –
Effect of change in CGT inclusion rate 3 823 – 3 823 –
Reclassification to deferred tax asset (4 162) (6 847)
Foreign exchange movement 457 – – –

Balance at end of year 175 147 151 171 155 614 136 026

Analysis of deferred taxation liabilities
Capital allowances 276 944 188 888 192 889 173 743
Income received in advance (4 966) (4 858) (4 966) (4 858)
BEE shareholder’s loan – 1 812 – 1 812
Operating lease accrual (19 937) (22 093) (19 937) (22 093)
Prepayments 948 2 015 948 2 015
Share options (2 752) (4 549) (2 752) (4 549)
Tax loss (57 551) –
Non-deductible accruals (19 864) (10 044) (10 568) (10 044)
Unrealised foreign exchange gain 2 325 –

175 147 151 171 155 614 136 026

The expected manner of recovery of the deferred tax asset and settlement of the liability will be through use.
The tax rate used to calculate the deferred tax balance is: 
South Africa – 28% (2017: 28%) 
Botswana – 22% (2017: 22%)
Kenya – 30% (2017: 30%) 
Namibia – 32% (2017: 32%)
Tanzania – 30% (2017: 30%)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Group Company
R000 2018 2017 2018 2017

6. INVENTORIES
Food, liquor and beverages 7 298 6 845 3 901 3 830

7. OTHER RECEIVABLES
Loans due from related parties (refer to note 28) 9 523 33 022
Prepayments 30 097 14 318 13 062 10 614
Sundry receivables 38 042 30 770 34 694 23 157
Expenditure refundable on operating leases 35 554 65 268 35 554 –
VAT refundable 55 328 20 193 – –

159 021 130 549 92 833 66 793

The group has spent R36 million (included in sundry receivables) in respect of the construction of buildings to be leased. It is 
funding the expenditure during construction and will be refunded the entire amount, by the landlord, on completion.

Group

R000 2018 2017

8. OTHER INVESTMENTS
26 185 24 217

Balance at beginning of year 24 217 56 860
Effect of movement in exchange rates 1 968 (8 663)
Impairment loss – (23 980)

Other investments comprise bank balances of KES384,8 million 
held with Chase Bank Limited (“CBL”) (in receivership). The bank 
was put under receivership on 7 April 2016 by the Central Bank 
of Kenya (“CBK”) and was reopened on 27 April 2016 under a 
receiver manager. No interest is currently earned on these 
balances.

In the prior year, owing to the uncertainty in the timing and 
amount of funds to be recovered, the group deemed it prudent 
to provide for an impairment of 50% of the balance held. In 
assessing the recoverability thereof, the directors considered 
representations made by the receiver manager of the CBK and 
the fact that the bank continues to operate normally under 
receivership. 

On 17 April 2018, the CBK announced that SBM Bank (Kenya) 
would be acquiring 75% of the assets and assuming 75% of 
the liabilities of CBL. Once this transaction was concluded, 
depositors would receive access to funds previously held in CBL, 
in a structured manner. Half of the balances held in CBL would 
be made available immediately, with a further 25% being placed 
into interest-bearing fixed deposits to be accessed annually, over 
a period of 36 months. Given the uncertainty relating to when 
the funds will be made available, as at 30 June 2018, the 
directors have decided not to make any adjustments to the 
impairment loss previously recognised. On 18 August 2018, the 
CBK advised that in line with their previous statement, 50% of 
the balances held were available to depositors and have been 
received. The remaining balances and impairment loss 
previously recognised will be reassessed in the year ended 
30 June 2019, in line with the information provided by CBL.
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Group Company
R000 2018 2017 2018 2017

9. SHARE CAPITAL AND PREMIUM
Share capital
Authorised
50 000 000 ordinary shares of 10 cents each 5 000 5 000 5 000 5 000

Issued
43 573 893 (2017: 43 572 293) ordinary shares of 10 cents each 4 357 4 357 4 357 4 357
Balance at beginning of year 43 572 293 (2016: 43 406 753) 
ordinary shares of 10 cents each 4 357 4 341 4 357 4 341
Options exercised during the period 1 600 (2017: 165 540)  
of 10 cents each – 16 – 16
Share premium 175 146 175 020 175 146 175 020
Balance at beginning of year 175 020 163 617 175 020 163 617
Premium on issue of new ordinary shares 126 11 403 126 11 403

179 503 179 377 179 503 179 377

10. OTHER RESERVES
Share-based payment reserve 83 714 87 777 83 714 87 777
Balance at beginning of year 87 777 82 512 87 777 82 512
Expense for the year – share incentive scheme (refer to note 17) 10 308 15 470 10 308 15 470
Reserve transferred to retained earnings on exercise of vested 
rights (14 371) (10 205) (14 371) (10 205)
The share-based payment reserve relates to the accumulated 
cost for the future settlement of obligations arising from the 
share incentive schemes.

Equity component of BEE shareholder’s loan 26 941 26 941 26 941 26 941
The equity component of the shareholder’s loan relates to the 
equity contribution received from Vuwa Investments Proprietary 
Limited in respect of the BEE transaction concluded in July 2008.

Foreign currency translation reserve 27 518 (307)
Balance at beginning of year (307) 35 563
Foreign currency translation differences 27 825 (35 870)
The translation reserve comprises all foreign currency 
differences arising from the translation of the financial 
statements of foreign operations.

138 173 114 411 110 655 114 718
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Group Company
R000 2018 2017 2018 2017

11. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS
Secured bank loan
The Loan A is a revolver facility of R250 million in total and 
bears interest at the one, three or six-month JIBAR plus 1,75 
(2017: 1,75) percentage points, depending on the election made 
upon drawdown. Outstanding loan capital is repayable by 2020.

250 000 250 000 – –

The Loan B is a revolver facility of R200 million in total and 
bears interest at the one, three or six-month JIBAR plus 2,45 
(2017: 2,45) percentage points, depending on the election made 
upon drawdown. Outstanding loan capital is repayable by 2021.

200 000 70 000 – –

Interest repayments are made according to the interest period 
selected on the drawdown notice.

The loan facility has been granted to City Lodge Hotels (Africa) 
Proprietary Limited.

The loan is secured over land and buildings with a carrying 
amount of R159,8 million (2017: R163,2 million), and has 
been guaranteed by City Lodge Hotels Limited.

The required bank covenants have been met.

Unsecured loan
This loan to City Lodge Hotels Limited from City Lodge Hotels 
(Africa) Proprietary Limited is made under the same interest and 
repayment terms as Loan A above. It was raised to facilitate the 
transfer of the borrowings from the former to the latter as part of 
the facility put in place to fund future expansion (refer to note 28).

30 000 109 000

450 000 320 000 30 000 109 000

The movement in interest-bearing borrowings during the year is 
as follows:
Balance at beginning of year 320 000 270 000 109 000 250 000
Borrowings raised 130 000 50 000 – –
Borrowings repaid – – (79 000) (141 000)
Interest charged 34 044 28 646 3 611 19 139
Interest paid (30 135) (28 646) (3 611) (19 139)

453 909 320 000 30 000 109 000
Interest accrued included in sundry accruals (refer to note 16) (3 909) – – –
Balance at end of year 450 000 320 000 30 000 109 000
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Group Company
R000 2018 2017 2018 2017

12. BEE INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS
The loans are secured by a guarantee provided by City Lodge 
Hotels Limited.

44 120 44 120 44 120 44 120

The loans bear interest at the six-month JIBAR rate plus 
2,5 percentage points. Interest repayments are made every 
six months in arrears.

The loan capital is repayable by 31 January 2021.
44 120 44 120 44 120 44 120

Less: Amounts to be repaid within one year – (44 120) – (44 120)
Non-current liabilities 44 120 – 44 120 –

The movement in BEE interest-bearing borrowings during the year 
is as follows:
Balance at beginning of year 44 120 44 120 44 120 44 120
Interest charged 4 425 4 597 4 425 4 597
Interest paid (3 325) (4 597) (3 325) (4 597)

45 220 44 120 45 220 44 120
Interest accrued included in sundry accruals (refer to note 16) (1 100) – (1 100) –

Balance at end of year 44 120 44 120 44 120 44 120
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Group Company
R000 2018 2017 2018 2017

13. BEE PREFERENCE SHARES
Proceeds from the issue of redeemable preference shares 440 700 440 700 440 700 440 700
Redeemed during prior years (58 500) (43 200) (58 500) (43 200)
Redeemed during current year (14 600) (15 300) (14 600) (15 300)

367 600 382 200 367 600 382 200

On 8 July 2008, the City Lodge group effected a Black Economic Empowerment scheme with Vuwa Hotels Proprietary Limited, 
Newshelf 935 Proprietary Limited and Newshelf 892 Proprietary Limited. In terms of the scheme, 15% (6 390 362) of the then issued share 
capital of City Lodge was acquired by the three structured entities in terms of a scheme of arrangement. A and B cumulative redeemable 
preference shares were issued by the structured entities to fund a portion of the purchase price of the investment in City Lodge Hotels 
Limited. These have been guaranteed by City Lodge resulting in the deemed control of the structured entities by the company and their 
incorporation for accounting purposes. Standard Bank of South Africa subscribed for R195,0 million amortising, seven-year A preference 
shares bearing interest at 74% (previously 70%) of the prime interest rate and R245,7 million cumulative zero coupon five-year 
B preference shares bearing interest at 75% (previously 71%) of the prime interest rate. The final redemption date has been extended to 
no later than 31 January 2021. Ordinary dividends received by the structured entities must be used to service and repay the preference 
shares. The lock-in period applicable to the disposal of shares held by Vuwa Hotels Proprietary Limited was 31 December 2017, whereby 
shares may only be disposed of to black persons. The fair value of the shares held amounts to R906,3 million on 30 June 2018.

A once-off, share-based, equity-settled option expense was recognised during the 2009 financial year amounting to R25,84 million.

An amount of R275,8 million (2017: R239,3 million) was accrued in respect of preference dividends payable as at 30 June 2018. Of 
this, R2,3 million (2017: R2,9 million) in respect of A preference shares is included under trade and other payables (refer to note 16) due 
in September 2018 and R273,5 million (2017: R236,5 million) in respect of B preference shares is due in January 2021.

Group Company

R000 2018 2017 2018 2017

Voluntary redemption of A and B preference shares may be 
made, with full redemption of the preference shares required 
by 31 December 2017. The minimum scheduled redemptions 
in respect of A and B preference shares are as follows:
– not later than one year – 382 200 – 382 200
– between one and five years 367 600 – 367 600 –
– later than five years – – – –

14. BEE SHAREHOLDER’S LOAN
Vuwa Investments Proprietary Limited
Loan granted 50 000 50 000 50 000 50 000
Equity component of BEE shareholder’s loan (37 418) (37 418) (37 418) (37 418)
Notional interest expense – prior years 30 946 25 311 30 946 25 311
Notional interest expense – current year 6 472 5 635 6 472 5 635

The BEE shareholder’s loan represents the equity contribution 
by Vuwa Investments Proprietary Limited to the Vuwa 
structured entity as part funding to purchase shares in City 
Lodge Hotels Limited. 

The loan is measured at amortised cost of R50,000 million 
(2017: R43,528 million). The notional debit to interest expense  
at a rate of 14,35% per annum was R6 472 (2017: R5 635). 
The future value of the loan is R50 million.

The loan is unsecured, bears notional interest at 14,35%, and 
is repayable on demand after 31 December 2017, subject to the 
settlement of the BEE preference shares.

50 000 43 528 50 000 43 528
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Group Company
R000 2018 2017 2018 2017

15. OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Operating lease accrual 86 275 89 517 71 204 78 905

16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Trade payables 14 257 8 631 6 350 2 455
Loans due to related parties (refer to note 28) 110 066 72 257
Sundry accruals 93 365 79 763 71 385 76 555
Other trade payables 71 293 50 750 51 834 36 566
BEE preference dividend payable 2 330 2 860 2 330 2 860

181 245 142 004 241 965 190 693

17. RESULTS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Results from operating activities are arrived at after  
charging/(crediting)
Auditors’ remuneration 4 943 4 335 3 604 3 546
Audit fees 3 530 3 332 2 633 2 616
Fees for other services 1 413 1 003 971 930
BEE transaction charges 2 267 587 2 267 587
Defined-benefit plan expense (refer to note 24) – 4 819 – 4 819
Defined-contribution plan expense 27 195 21 095 27 195 21 095
Depreciation and amortisation 105 217 102 779 95 065 94 554
– buildings 45 178 44 433 41 271 41 333
– furniture and equipment 54 043 53 251 47 981 48 195
– computer software 5 996 5 095 5 813 5 026
Food, liquor and beverages 68 283 69 512 54 779 53 619
Gain on settlement and curtailment of defined-benefit fund – (11 629) – (11 629)
Impairment loss on other investments (refer to note 8) – 23 980
Operating lease rentals 109 701 99 474 125 222 119 590
– land 29 928 28 211 59 257 55 179
– hotel buildings 75 886 68 313 62 078 61 461
– office buildings 3 887 2 950 3 887 2 950
Pre-opening expenses 8 773 – – –
(Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (21 923) 249 1 (10)
Salaries, wages and related benefits 380 347 350 966 337 489 318 650
– employed 332 234 305 200 290 958 274 338
– subcontracted 48 113 45 766 46 531 44 312
Rent paid 2 328 2 085 2 328 2 085
Share-based payment expense (refer to note 24) 10 308 15 470 10 308 15 470
– City Lodge 10th anniversary employees’ share trust 4 141 4 306 4 141 4 306
– City Lodge bonus share plan 6 992 7 167 6 992 7 167
– City Lodge share appreciation rights scheme (825) 3 997 (825) 3 997
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R000
Basic

salary

Per-
formance

bonus

Fringe
benefits

and
allow-
ances

Pension
fund

contri-
butions

Total
annual

remune-
ration

Current
year

share-
based

payment
expense* Total

18. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
Executive directors
2018
C Ross 4 756 701 63 761 6 281 846 7 127
A C Widegger 3 679 701 37 589 5 006  1 043 6 049

8 435 1 402 100 1 350 11 287 1 889 13 176

2017
C Ross 4 478 1 801 439 717 7 435 3 084 10 519
A C Widegger 3 467 1 387 34 555 5 443 2 213 7 656

7 945 3 188 473 1 272 12 878 5 297 18 175

Executive directors are full-time salaried employees, engaged on the company’s standard terms and conditions of employment.
*This expense represents the IFRS 2 costs for the year of any option or right given or reversed (refer to note 24).

Non-executive directors

Fees

R000 2018 2017

G G Huysamer 384 340
F W J Kilbourn 550 495
S Marutlulle* 235 165
N Medupe 424 398
S G Morris 538 485
B T Ngcuka (payment made to Vuwa Investments Proprietary Limited) 952 890
V M Rague 287 268
K I M Shongwe 362 338

3 732 3 379

* Appointed on 1 October 2016.

No other payments were made to directors.
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18. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS continued

Executive committee
In line with the requirements of the Companies Act and King IV, the group discloses the remuneration paid to prescribed officers who 
are defined as the group’s executive committee. Prescribed officers are full-time salaried employees, engaged on the company’s standard 
terms and conditions of employment. Further information is provided on pages 82 to 110 in the remuneration report.

R000
Basic

salary

Per-
formance

bonus

Fringe
benefits

and
allow-
ances

Pension
fund

contri-
butions

Total
annual

remune-
ration

Current
year

share-
based

payment
expense* Total

2018
A J Balabanoff 1 953 347 41 313 2 654 223 2 877
A W Dooley 1 645 486 32 173 2 336 206 2 542
Z Jantjies■ 390 100 10 23 523 – 523
M S Kobilski 1 660 375 2 266 2 303 190 2 493
N R B Parbhoo 1 427 271 29 228 1 955 154 2 109
R V Phinn 1 861 340 173 298 2 672 198 2 870
R Ruthven 1 269 422 58 133 1 882 94 1 976
L G Siddo 1 686 242 9 177 2 114 200 2 314
P Tate 1 977 371 17 316 2 681 208 2 889
M van Heerden 1 413 338 61 148 1 960 97 2 057

15 281 3 292 432 2 075 21 080 1 570 22 650
2017
A J Balabanoff 1 839 365 185 294 2 683 463 3 146
A W Dooley 1 549 590 32 163 2 334 382 2 716
M S Kobilski 1 565 374 133 250 2 322 385 2 707
N R B Parbhoo 1 338 415 29 214 1 996 317 2 313
R V Phinn 1 747 257 27 279 2 310 427 2 737
R Ruthven• 1 176 257 58 123 1 614 204 1 818
L G Siddo 1 562 340 5 164 2 071 150 2 221
P M SchoemanΔ 1 033 109 10 108 1 260 19 1 279
P Tate 1 863 365 17 298 2 543 450 2 993
M van Heerden• 1 311 430 61 138 1 940 232 2 172

14 983 3 502 557 2 031 21 073 3 029 24 102

* This expense represents the IFRS 2 costs for the year of any option or right given or reversed (refer to note 24).
 ■  Appointed on 15 January 2018.
Δ Resigned during the year.
• Appointed on 1 July 2016.
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18. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS continued

Date of
grant

Grant
price

(R)

Holding at
30 June

2017 Granted
Exercised/
 forfeited

Holding
at

30 June
2018

Lapse
date

Number
vesting at

30 June
2018

Share 
appreciation 
rights
C Ross

1/09/2013 120,83 39 929 – (39 929) – 1/9/2020 –
1/09/2014 123,17 42 108 – (42 108) – 1/9/2021 –
1/09/2015 143,99 39 081 – (2 171) 36 910 1/9/2022 –
1/09/2016 164,33 36 812 – (14 316) 22 496 1/9/2023 –
1/09/2017 136,11 – 13 086 – 13 086 1/9/2024 –

A C Widegger 1/09/2011 63,61 53 905 – (53 905) – 1/9/2018 –
1/09/2012 85,66 62 110 – – 62 110 1/9/2019 62 110
1/09/2013 120,83 26 136 – – 26 136 1/9/2020 26 136
1/09/2014 123,17 27 539 – – 27 539 1/9/2021 27 539
1/09/2015 143,99 25 207 – – 25 207 1/9/2022 –
1/09/2016 164,33 23 633 – – 23 633 1/9/2023 –
1/09/2017 136,11 – 30 245 – 30 245 1/9/2024 –

376 460 43 331 (152 429) 267 362 115 785

Date of
award

Number
of 

restricted
shares

Share
acquisition

price (R)
Vesting

date
Restricted share plan – bonus shares
A J Balabanoff 15/9/2017 1 027 141,34 14/9/2020
A W Dooley 15/9/2017 1 661 141,34 14/9/2020
M S Kobilski 15/9/2017 1 054 141,34 14/9/2020
N R B Parbhoo 15/9/2017 1 168 141,34 14/9/2020
R V Phinn 15/9/2017 723 141,34 14/9/2020
C Ross 15/9/2017 6 337 141,34 14/9/2020
R Ruthven 15/9/2017 723 141,34 14/9/2020
L G Siddo 15/9/2017 957 141,34 14/9/2020
P Tate 15/9/2017 1 027 141,34 14/9/2020
M C van Heerden 15/9/2017 1 211 141,34 14/9/2020
A C Widegger 15/9/2017 4 882 141,34 14/9/2020

20 770
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18. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS continued

Date of
award

Number
of 

restricted
shares

Share
acquisition

price (R)
Vesting

date

Restricted share plan – bonus shares
A J Balabanoff 5/09/2016 1 492 164,79 4/9/2019
A W Dooley 5/09/2016 1 085 164,79 4/9/2019
M S Kobilski 5/09/2016 1 377 164,79 4/9/2019
N R B Parbhoo 5/09/2016 962 164,79 4/9/2019
R V Phinn 5/09/2016 1 362 164,79 4/9/2019
C Ross 5/09/2016 10 210 164,79 4/9/2019
R Ruthven 5/09/2016 496 164,79 4/9/2019
L G Siddo 5/09/2016 595 164,79 4/9/2019
P Tate 5/09/2016 1 306 164,79 4/9/2019
M C van Heerden 5/09/2016 557 164,79 4/9/2019
A C Widegger 5/09/2016 7 902 164,79 4/9/2019

 27 344

Restricted share plan – bonus shares
A J Balabanoff 4/09/2015 2 242 148,31 3/9/2018
A W Dooley 4/09/2015 1 824 148,31 3/9/2018
M S Kobilski 4/09/2015 1 622 148,31 3/9/2018
N R B Parbhoo 4/09/2015 1 256 148,31 3/9/2018
R V Phinn 4/09/2015 2 094 148,31 3/9/2018
C Ross 4/09/2015 11 488 148,31 3/9/2018
P Tate 4/09/2015 2 143 148,31 3/9/2018
A C Widegger 4/09/2015 9 016 148,31 3/9/2018

31 685

No restricted share plan bonus shares lapsed during the year.
No consideration was received by the company on the award of the restricted share plan ordinary shares (refer to note 24).
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Group Company

R000 2018 2017 2018 2017

19. INTEREST
19.1 Interest income

Bank 3 914 6 598 3 713 5 735
Subsidiaries 7 731 7 536
Other 117 5 117 5

4 031 6 603 11 561 13 276

19.2 Interest expense
Long-term borrowings – bank 38 469 33 243 4 425 4 597
Long-term borrowings – subsidiaries 3 611 19 139
Short-term borrowings 256 28 3 –
IAS 39 – Effective Interest (refer to note 14) 6 472 5 635 6 472 5 635
Preference dividend 47 113 48 159 47 113 48 159

92 310 87 065 61 624 77 530
Interest capitalised to property, plant and equipment (28 443) (9 507) (543) –

63 867 77 558 61 081 77 530

Interest is capitalised to property, plant and equipment 
at 9,58% per annum. 

20. TAXATION
Current 112 601 128 980 100 342 106 558
Dividend withholding tax (11) (14)
Deferred – current 15 677 1 288 13 222 12 926

128 267 130 254 113 564 119 484

Reconciliation of taxation rate
Domestic statutory tax rate 28 28 28 28
Adjusted for:
– BEE transactions 3,5 3,5 4,1 3,8
– Capital gains tax (0,3) – – –
– 10th anniversary employees share trust – (0,1) – –
– effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions (0,4) 0,1
– gain on bargain purchase (0,1) – (0,2) –
– expenses not in the production of income 0,9 0,4 0,4 0,4
– penalties 0,1 – 0,1 –
–  deductible expense for share appreciation right scheme 

shares purchased during the year (0,2) (1,3) (0,2) (1,5)
Effective rate of taxation 31,5 30,6 32,2 30,7
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21. BASIC AND HEADLINE EARNINGS PER SHARE AND NORMALISED EARNINGS
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share was based on profit for the year of R279,438 million (2017: R295,141 million), 
and a weighted average number of shares of 36 543 000 (2017: 36 448 000) for basic earnings per share, and 36 629 000 
(2017: 36 548 000) for diluted earnings per share.
The calculation of headline and diluted headline earnings per share was based on headline earnings of R262,426 million 
(2017: R295,315 million), and a weighted average number of shares of 36 543 000 (2017: 36 448 000) for headline earnings per share, 
and 36 269 000 (2017: 36 548 000) for diluted headline earnings per share.

Group
R000 2018 2017

Determination of headline earnings and normalised headline earnings
Profit for the year 279 438 295 141
(Profit)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment (21 923) 249
Taxation effect 4 911 (75)

Headline earnings 262 426 295 315
BEE transaction charges 2 267 587
Notional interest charge on BEE shareholder’s loan 6 472 5 635
Interest on BEE interest-bearing borrowings 4 425 4 597
Preference dividends paid/payable by the BEE entities 47 113 48 159
Deferred tax on BEE transactions (1 812) (1 578)
10th anniversary employees’ share trust transaction charges and dividend withholding tax (41) 7
IFRS 2 share-based payment charge for the 10th anniversary employees’ share trust 4 141 4 306
Impairment of other investment in Chase Bank Kenya (net of tax) – 16 786
Gain on settlement and curtailment of defined-benefit fund – (11 629)
Pre-opening expense write-off (net of tax) 6 078 –

Normalised headline earnings 331 069 362 185

Number of shares for EPS calculations (000)
Undiluted weighted average 36 543 36 448
Restricted share plan/bonus shares 86 88
Share appreciation rights – 12

Diluted weighted average 36 629 36 548

Headline earnings per share (cents) 718,1 810,2
Diluted headline earnings per share (cents) 716,4 808,0

* Refer to pages 46 to 49 for additional information in respect of normalised earnings.
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Group Company
R000 2018 2017 2018 2017

22. DIVIDENDS
Number 57 of 228,0 cents per share (2017: 248,0 cents) 
declared on 16 August 2017 and paid on 8 September 2017 99 345 107 662 99 345 107 662
Number 58 of 253,0 cents per share (2016: 272,0 cents) 
declared on 15 February 2018 and paid on 9 March 2018 110 242 118 427 110 242 118 427
Dividends attributable to treasury shares (30 683) (33 134) (30 738) (33 230)

178 904 192 955 178 849 192 859

On 15 August 2018, dividend number 59 of 201,0 cents per share 
in respect of the year ended 30 June 2018 was declared totalling 
R87 583 525 payable on 7 September 2018. These financial 
statements do not reflect this dividend payable.

23. COMMITMENTS
Capital
Authorised
– contracted 459 322 503 529 235 949 6 300
– not contracted 150 390 152 048 85 042 119 248

609 712 655 577 320 991 125 548

Future capital expenditure will be financed out of funds generated 
from operations and external borrowings and it is anticipated that 
approximately R562 million will be spent by 30 June 2019.

Operating leases as lessee
The company is party to various operating leases of periods 
between 20 and 99 years in respect of land and hotel buildings 
and five years, in respect of office buildings.
Schedule of minimum lease payments in respect of land, hotel 
building and office building leases:
– not later than one year 118 082 102 761 103 530 97 050
– between one and five years 307 419 320 226 239 244 293 095
– later than five years 564 224 487 001 378 434 430 699

989 725 909 988 721 208 820 844

Guarantees
Total financial institution-backed guarantees provided to third 
parties on behalf of the company amounted to R380,3 million. 
The directors do not believe any exposure to loss is likely.
The issued guarantees have the following expiry dates:
– not later than one year 367 600 439 050 367 600 439 050
– between one and five years 12 449 12 449 12 449 12 449
– later than five years 203 203 203 203
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24. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
Retirement benefit information
The group and company provide retirement benefits to the group’s permanent employees through a defined-contribution fund. 
Company contributions to this fund are fixed at a rate of 10,5% (16% for members who transferred from the historic defined-benefit 
fund) of pensionable salaries and 49% (2017: 44%) of the group’s permanent employees are members. Employees who are not 
members of the above funds are members of the appropriate industry fund.

In the prior year, the group and company provided retirement benefits for 5% of the group’s permanent employees through a 
defined-benefit pension scheme that was subject to the Pension Funds Act, 1956, as amended. This fund was closed to new 
membership on 28 February 2004 and a new defined-contribution fund was established. 

The fund was managed by a board of trustees, consisting of a combination of member elected and employer appointed trustees. The 
board has a fiduciary duty to act in the best interest of all stakeholders.

The employer was responsible to fund the balance of the costs of paying the defined benefits. Adverse fund experience (eg higher 
than expected salary increases or lower than expected investment returns) therefore exposed the employer to higher than expected 
future required contributions.

The winding down of the fund was approved by the Financial Services Board on 10 January 2017. All active members and their 
corresponding liabilities were transferred out of the fund, to a defined-contribution fund with effect from 1 July 2015. It was further 
agreed that any surplus in the fund would be allocated to transferring members upon liquidation of this fund. The valuation was 
performed on a winding-up basis given the registrar’s approval.

The estimate in terms of IAS 19, as at 31 December 2016, as shown below, indicates that the fund had a surplus of R4 143 000. Any 
movements between the valuation date and the approval date were considered not to be significant. The actuarial loss due to change 
in demographic assumptions was Rnil. The actuarial gains and (losses) due to changes in financial assumptions and experience were 
R9 405 000 and (R3 591 000) respectively.

Group and company

R000 2018 2017

Current estimated employee benefit obligation:
Present value of obligation – –
Fair value of plan assets – –

Liability at year-end – –
Recognised in profit or loss:
Current service cost – (4 248)
Interest on obligation – (8 798)
Expected return on plan assets – 8 227

– (4 819)
Recognised in the statement of financial position:
Opening net liability – (10 494)
Expense – (4 819)
Contributions paid – 4 257
Amount recognised in other comprehensive income – 3 570
Gain on settlement and curtailment of defined-benefit fund – 11 629
Surplus allocated to members – (4 143)
Closing net liability – –

 



City Lodge Hotel Group Integrated Report 2018
154

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018

Group and company

R000 2018 2017

24. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS continued
Retirement benefit information continued
Movement in the liability for defined-benefit obligations:
Liability for defined-benefit obligations at 1 July – 159 536
Service cost – 4 248
Interest cost – 8 798
Benefits paid – (13 279)
Benefits paid on transfer of fund – (153 489)
Actuarial gain – (5 814)
Liability for defined-benefit obligations at 30 June – –
Movement in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at 1 July – 149 042
Expected return on plan assets – 8 227
Contributions – 4 258
Benefits paid – (1 651)
Benefits paid on transfer of fund – (153 489)
Actuarial (loss)/gain – (2 244)
Surplus allocated to members – (4 143)

Fair value of plan assets at 30 June – –

% %

Plan assets comprise:
Cash – 100
All assets were held in banker and money market portfolios in anticipation of the transfer of all 
assets and liabilities.

Principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date:
Discount rate – 11,2
Expected return on plan assets – 11,2
Future salary increases – 9,9
Future pension increases – 6,7
Mortality rates post-retirement PA(90)

 ultimate
 mortality

 table rated 
down by 

1 year

The expected return on plan assets was set equal to the discount rate. The actual return earned on plan assets for the prior year was 8,3%.

No sensitivity analysis is presented due to the fact that no further deviation from assumptions would exist after the settlement date.
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24. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS continued
Medical aid
Certain of the group’s employees are members of the Discovery Health Medical Scheme. There are no obligations for post-retirement 
medical aid contributions.

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share appreciation right scheme
The group plan provides for a grant price equal to the 10-day volume weighted average market price of the group’s shares on grant date. 
The vesting period is generally three to five years. The vesting of the share appreciation right (“SAR”) is subject to the achievement of 
specified performance conditions. The performance conditions are that the normalised headline earnings per share (“HEPS”) should 
increase by between the Consumer Price Index (“CPI”) per annum and 2 percentage points per annum above CPI over a three-year 
performance period. 25% of the SAR will vest if the former performance condition is satisfied and 100% of the SAR will vest if the latter is 
satisfied, with linear vesting between them. If the SARs remain unexercised after a period of seven years from grant, they expire. 
Furthermore, unexercised SARs are forfeited if the employee leaves the group before they expire. Fair value is measured using an 
American binomial valuation model. Expected volatilities are 90% based on short, medium and long-term historical volatilities, with 
cognisance taken of market conditions to explain the variance from historical data. No other features, other than disclosed, of the option 
grant was incorporated into the measurement of fair value. The share-based, equity-settled income for the year ended 30 June 2018 in 
profit or loss is R825 311 (2017 expense: R3 997 213). 

2018 2017

Number
of SARs

Weighted
average

strike
price

(R)
Number
of SARs

Weighted
average

strike 
price

(R)

Outstanding at beginning of year 582 326 104,42 771 159 98,68
Granted during year 126 768 136,11 106 964 164,33
Forfeited during year (30 512) 144,45 (29 315) 142,78
Exercised during year (190 734) 96,92 (266 482) 76,10

Outstanding at end of year 487 848 129,73 582 326 104,42

Exercisable at end of year 208 367 105,47 270 060 80,41

2018 2017

Average remaining life (years) 3,81 3,04
American binomial model inputs as follows:
Volatility (%) 26 24
Risk-free rate (%) 7,34 8,19
Dividend yield (%) 2,82 2,73
Expected life (years) 7 7
Strike price (Rand) 136,11 164,33
Average share price (Rand) 136,11 164,33
Option price (Rand) 43,95 54,81
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24. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS continued
Share-based payments continued
Equity-settled 10th anniversary employee share plan
The group plan provides for an annual share distribution equal to half of the financial year’s capital growth, if any, of the portfolio of 
City Lodge shares held by the trust. The distributions to eligible employees (employees in the service of the group for at least one year) 
are equity-settled three months after year-end, provided that the portfolio’s market value at year-end exceeds the market value at the 
previous year-end. Entitlements are forfeited if the employee leaves the group’s service before a distribution takes place. The vesting 
period is one year. Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the group’s share price over the previous 
two years. Fair value is measured using a European binomial valuation model. The share-based, equity-settled expense for the year 
ended 30 June 2018 in profit or loss is R4 140 862 (2017: R4 305 982).

2018
Number of

shares

2017
Number of

shares

Outstanding at beginning of year 508 974 526 549
Distributed during year – (17 575)

Outstanding at end of year 508 974 508 974

2018 2017

Per
share

Total
portfolio

Per
share

Total
portfolio

European binomial model inputs as follows:
Volatility (%) 26 26 27 27
Risk-free rate (%) 7,15 7,15 7,45 7,45
Dividend yield (%) 3,06 3,06 2,73 2,73
Expected life (years) 1 1 1 1
Effective strike price (Rand) 140,13 71 322 527 160,88 81 888 900
Share price (Rand) 140,13 71 322 527 155,44 79 121 459
Effective option price (Rand) 8,14 4 140 862 8,46 4 306 242

Equity-settled restricted share plan
Certain employees will become owners of ordinary shares, which were acquired on the market, for award. From the grant date, they 
will immediately benefit from dividends and have shareholder voting rights, thus providing direct alignment between participants and 
shareholders. The employee will give no consideration for the grant or settlement of an award. In the case of resignation or dismissal, 
all unvested awards will be forfeited. The vesting period is generally three years. The share-based, equity-settled expense for the year 
ended 30 June 2018 in profit or loss is R6 991 766 (2017: R7 166 758).

 2018 2017

Number of
shares

granted

Average
share
price

(R)

Number of
shares

granted

Average
share
price

(R)

Unvested at beginning of year 140 775 146,32 145 194 133,56
Granted during year 29 943 142,11 45 268 164,79
Forfeited during year (533) 156,55 (12 367) 134,88
Vested during year (43 065) 125,08 (37 320) 122,15

Unvested at end of year 127 120 151,74 140 775 146,32

25. BORROWING POWERS
The borrowings of the company are not limited by its memorandum of incorporation.
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Group Company
R000 2018 2017 2018 2017

26. NOTES TO THE STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
26.1 Cash generated by operations

Profit before taxation 407 705 425 395 352 995 389 535
Adjusted for:
–  depreciation and amortisation 105 217 102 779 95 065 94 554
– movement in operating lease accrual (3 242) (2 192) (7 701) (3 510)
– interest income (4 031) (6 603) (11 561) (13 276)
– interest expense 63 867 77 558 61 081 77 530
–  (Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and 

equipment (21 923) 249 1 (10)
– movement in defined-benefit liability – (10 494) – (10 494)
– defined-benefit remeasurements – (573) – (573)
– impairment of other investment – 23 980 –
– share-based payment expense 10 308 15 470 10 308 15 470
– unrealised foreign currency loss 7 570 658
–  fair value gain on remeasurement of property, plant 

and equipment (1 899) – (1 899) –
Operating cash flows before working capital changes 563 572 626 227 498 289 549 226
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (453) 889 (71) (148)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 23 007 (27 017) 25 179 (29 251)
Increase in trade and other payables 34 761 8 598 50 702 12 899

620 887 608 697 574 099 532 726

26.2 Taxation paid
Balance (owing)/overpaid at beginning of year (7 543) 4 389 (12 085) (1 216)
Taxation payable per statements of comprehensive income (112 590) (128 966) (100 342) (106 558)
Balance owing/(overpaid) at end of year (8 282) 7 543 (4 080) 12 085

(128 415) (117 034) (116 507) (95 689)

26.3 Investment to maintain operations
Additions to property, plant and equipment
– land and buildings (40 198) (2 004) (40 198) (2 004)
– furniture and equipment (36 436) (25 984) (36 386) (22 746)
– computer software (5 302) (10 020) (5 302) (9 692)

(81 936) (38 008) (81 886) (34 442)
Less: Proceeds on disposal
   Furniture and equipment 25 008 199 8 111

(56 928) (37 809) (81 878) (34 331)

26.4 Investment to expand operations
Additions to property, plant and equipment
– land and buildings (275 675) (158 283) (24 114) (346)
– acquisition through business combination (10 611) – (10 611) –
– furniture and equipment (56 345) (6 070) (5 992) –
– computer software (1 038) – – –

(343 669) (164 353) (40 717) (346)

26.5 Investments and loans
Increase in investments – (200) – (200)
Increase in loans – – (31 000) –

– (200) (31 000) (200)
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Group Company
R000 2018 2017 2018 2017

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
27.1 Classes of financial instruments

Financial assets
Loan – Property Lodging Investments Proprietary Limited 62 800 62 800
Loans receivable – – 65 000 34 000
Trade receivables 79 167 95 092 74 917 90 582
Other receivables 73 596 96 038 79 771 56 179
Other investments 26 185 24 217 – –
Cash and cash equivalents 53 093 115 664 16 117 41 245
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Interest-bearing borrowings (450 000) (320 000) (30 000) (109 000)
BEE interest-bearing borrowings (44 120) (44 120) (44 120) (44 120)
BEE preference shares (367 600) (382 200) (367 600) (382 200)
BEE shareholder’s loan (50 000) (43 528) (50 000) (43 528)
BEE B preference share dividend accrual (273 477) (236 466) (273 477) (236 466)
Trade and other payables (181 245) (142 004) (241 695) (190 693)

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities approximates their carrying amount.

27.2 Market risk – is the risk that changes in market rates such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices will affect 
the group’s income and value of its holding of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage 
and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters while optimising the return.

(a)  Interest rate risk – fluctuations in interest rates impact the value of short-term investments and financing activities, 
giving rise to the interest rate risk. The group generally adopts a policy of ensuring that its exposure to changes in interest 
rates is limited by either fixing the rate or by linking the rate to the average medium term, risk-free rate over the period 
of the respective loan.

(b) Currency risk

 Currency risk related to investments in foreign entities
  The group has interest in entities which operate in various countries. A significant portion of the group’s foreign revenue 

is earned in countries which have stable currencies. It is not the group’s policy to hedge investments in foreign 
subsidiaries.

 Currency risk related to foreign transactions
  Each group entity operates predominantly within its own common monetary area and therefore the group has no 

significant currency risk with regards to operational activities. At year-end, all group entities had no foreign currency trade 
receivables or payables. It is not the group’s policy to hedge transactions which are denominated in a currency other than 
the entities’ functional currency, which mainly occurs with purchases.

27.3 Liquidity risk – is the risk that the group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The group’s 
approach to managing liquidity by managing its working capital, capital expenditure and cash flows, is to ensure as far 
as possible that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed 
conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the group’s reputation. Ultimate responsibility for 
liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors. Typically the group ensures that it has sufficient cash on hand 
to meet operational expenses, including the servicing of financial obligations. The group also has access to overdraft facilities, 
which may be used to meet its financial obligations if necessary.
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued
27.3 Liquidity risk continued

The table below analyses the financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the reporting 
date to the contractual maturity date: 

R000
Carrying
amount

Contractual
undiscounted

cash flows
Less than
one year

Between
one and

five years

Group
At 30 June 2018
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Borrowings 450 000 576 533 42 139 534 394
BEE interest-bearing borrowings 44 120 55 443 4 376 51 067
BEE preference shares 367 600 395 836 9 462 386 374
BEE shareholder’s loan 50 000 50 000 50 000 –
BEE B preference share dividend accrual 273 477 378 251 – 378 251
Trade payables 181 245 181 245 181 245 –

1 366 442 1 637 308 287 222 1 350 086

At 30 June 2017
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Borrowings 320 000 420 802 31 288 389 514
BEE interest-bearing borrowings 44 120 46 415 46 415 –
BEE preference shares 382 200 390 601 390 601 –
BEE shareholder’s loan 43 528 50 000 50 000 –
BEE B preference share dividend accrual 236 466 255 082 255 082 –
Trade payables 142 004 142 004 142 004 –

1 168 318 1 304 904 915 390 389 514

Company
At 30 June 2018
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Borrowings 30 000 38 625 2 873 35 752
BEE interest-bearing borrowings 44 120 55 443 4 376 51 067
BEE preference shares 367 600 395 836 9 462 386 374
BEE shareholder’s loan 50 000 50 000 50 000 –
BEE B preference share dividend accrual 273 477 378 251 – 378 251
Trade payables 241 695 241 695 241 695 –

1 006 892 1 159 850 308 406 851 444

At 30 June 2017
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Borrowings 109 000 140 993 10 655 130 338
BEE interest-bearing borrowings 44 120 46 415 46 415 –
BEE preference shares 382 200 390 601 390 601 –
BEE shareholder’s loan 43 528 50 000 50 000 –
BEE B preference share dividend accrual 236 466 255 082 255 082 –
Trade payables 190 693 190 693 190 693 –

1 006 007 1 073 784 943 446 130 338
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued
27.3 Liquidity risk continued

The interest rate profile of the group is as follows:

Group Company

R000 2018 2017 2018 2017

Variable rate instruments
Assets 53 093 115 664 47 117 41 245
Liabilities (861 720) (746 320) (441 720) (535 320)
Fixed rate instruments
Assets 62 800 62 800

Liabilities (50 000) (43 528) (50 000) (43 528)

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
A change of 50 basis points in the interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) profit or loss and equity 
by the amount shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.

Group Company

R000 2018 2017 2018 2017

50 bps increase 1 991 1 717 398 1 232

50 bps decrease (1 991) (1 717) (398) (1 232)

27.4 Credit risk – credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the group if a counterparty to a financial asset fails to meet its contractual 
obligations. Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit 
evaluations are performed on all travel agents or customers requiring credit. Reputable financial institutions are used for 
investing and cash-handling purposes. At the reporting date, there were no significant concentrations of credit risk. The 
maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset.
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued
27.4 Credit risk continued

Group Company

R000 2018 2017 2018 2017

Loan – Property Lodging Investments Proprietary Limited 62 800 62 800
Loan receivable – – 65 000 34 000
Other receivables 73 596 96 038 79 771 56 179
Trade receivables 79 167 95 092 74 917 90 582
Other investments 26 185 24 217
Cash and cash equivalents 53 093 115 664 16 117 41 245

232 041 331 011 298 605 284 806

The carrying amount of trade receivables represents the  
maximum credit exposure at reporting date which was:
Trade receivables
Not past due 53 835 60 999 52 592 57 542
0 – 30 days past due 16 615 25 767 15 850 25 161
31 – 120 days past due 8 717 8 326 6 475 7 879
Gross 13 853 15 102 11 478 14 608
Impairment allowance (5 136) (6 776) (5 003) (6 729)

79 167 95 092 74 917 90 582

Trade receivables by type of customer
Travel agents 60 546 74 676 60 226 74 215
Large corporates and companies 18 621 20 416 14 691 16 367

79 167 95 092 74 917 90 582

Trade receivables by geographical region – South Africa 74 917 90 582 74 917 90 582
Trade receivables by geographical region – Kenya 3 378 3 284
Trade receivables by geographical region – Botswana 823 1 226
Trade receivables by geographical region – Namibia 49 –

79 167 95 092 74 917 90 582

The movement in the impairment allowance in respect  
of trade receivables during the year was as follows:
Balance at beginning of year 6 776 3 938 6 729 3 873
Impairment allowance (reversal)/raised (1 643) 2 845 (1 726) 2 856
Foreign exchange movement 3 (7)

Balance at end of year 5 136 6 776 5 003 6 729

Trade receivables more than 90 days past due are considered for impairment taking into account history of default and 
subsequent payment. Amounts past due and not impaired are considered to be recoverable by management.

27.5 Capital management – the group’s objective when managing capital, which consists of ordinary shares, preference shares, 
retained earnings and other reserves, is to safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to provide acceptable 
returns for shareholders. The board of directors monitors the level of dividends to ordinary shareholders.
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28. RELATED PARTIES
28.1 Identity of related parties with whom material transactions have occurred

The company is the holding company of Anchor Park Investments 105 Proprietary Limited, Budget Hotels Proprietary Limited, 
City Lodge Hotels (Africa) Proprietary Limited, City Lodge Hotels (Botswana) Proprietary Limited, Courtyard Management 
Company Proprietary Limited, Fairview Hotel Limited, Gallic Courtyard (Arcadia) Share Block Proprietary Limited, Gallic Courtyard 
(Bruma Lake) Share Block Proprietary Limited, Gallic Courtyard (Rosebank) Share Block Limited, Gallic Courtyard (Sandown) Share 
Block Limited and Property Lodging Investments Proprietary Limited. 

Courtyard Management Company Proprietary Limited is the management company of the Courtyard Hotels.

Budget Hotels Proprietary Limited and Property Lodging Investments Proprietary Limited lease land to City Lodge Hotels Limited.

Interest-bearing loans exist between City Lodge Hotels Limited and Property Lodging Investments Proprietary Limited and 
City Lodge Hotels (Africa) Proprietary Limited.

All of the above entities are related parties to the company. Other than the directors’ remuneration (refer to note 18) and 
information below, there are no other related parties with whom material transactions have taken place.

28.2 Types of related-party transactions
Management fees and operating lease rental payments have been made and interest has been received from/paid to certain 
related parties. 

Company

R000 2018 2017

28.3 Material related-party transactions
Subsidiary companies
Management fees paid to related parties
Courtyard Management Company Proprietary Limited 2 788 2 702
Management fees received from related parties
City Lodge Hotels (Botswana) Proprietary Limited 1 159 1 132
City Lodge Hotels (Namibia) Proprietary Limited 238 –

Operating lease rentals paid to related parties
Budget Hotels Proprietary Limited 2 091 1 973
Property Lodging Investments Proprietary Limited 30 031 27 301

32 122 29 274

Interest received from related parties
Fairview Hotel Limited 195 –
Property Lodging Investments Proprietary Limited 7 536 7 536

7 731 7 536

Interest paid to related parties
City Lodge Hotels (Africa) Proprietary Limited 3 611 19 139

Licence fees received from related parties
Fairview Hotel Limited 603 663
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Company

R000 2018 2017

28. RELATED PARTIES continued

28.4 Loan to subsidiaries
Fairview Hotel Limited (refer to note 4) 31 000 –
Property Lodging Investments Proprietary Limited (refer to note 3) 62 800 62 800

28.5 Loan from subsidiary
City Lodge Hotels (Africa) Proprietary Limited (refer to note 11) 30 000 109 000

28.6 Amounts due to
Subsidiary companies
Budget Hotels Proprietary Limited 14 439 12 894
Property Lodging Investments Proprietary Limited 77 954 41 642
City Lodge Holdings (Share Block) Proprietary Limited 4 065 4 065
Courtyard Management Company Proprietary Limited 13 597 13 645
Gallic Courtyard (Arcadia) Share Block Proprietary Limited 1 1
Gallic Courtyard (Bruma Lake) Share Block Proprietary Limited 3 3
Gallic Courtyard (Rosebank) Share Block Limited 4 4
Gallic Courtyard (Sandown) Share Block Limited 3 3

110 066 72 257

28.7 Amounts due by
Subsidiary companies
City Lodge Hotels (Africa) Proprietary Limited 8 823 32 218
City Lodge Hotels (Botswana) Proprietary Limited 700 804

9 523 33 022

The amounts due to and by subsidiary companies are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

28.8 Loan to employee share trust

10th Anniversary employee share trust (refer to note 4) 34 000 34 000

Group Company

R000 2018 2017 2018 2017

28.9 Transactions with key management
Key management, other than directors, is defined as 
first-line management of the company and its principal 
operations. First-line management largely constitutes 
operational executive management.
Key management compensation is as follows (refer to 
note 18):
–  short-term employee benefits, including salaries 

and bonuses 21 080 21 073 21 080 21 073
– equity compensation benefits 1 570 3 029 1 570 3 029

22 650 24 102 22 650 24 102

29. GOING CONCERN
The directors consider that the company and its subsidiaries have adequate resources to continue operating for the foreseeable future 
and that it is therefore appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the group and company’s financial statements. The 
directors have satisfied themselves that the company and its subsidiaries are in a sound financial position and that they have access 
to sufficient cash and borrowing facilities to meet their foreseeable cash requirements.
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30. RELEVANT STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS EFFECTIVE FOR YEARS ENDING AFTER 30 JUNE 2018
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2018, the following standards and interpretations 
were in issue but not yet effective for the company:

Standard/interpretation Effective date
IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers 1 January 2018
IFRS 9 Financial instruments 1 January 2018
IFRS 2 Classification and measurement of share-based payment transactions 1 January 2018
IFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over income tax treatments 1 July 2019

  All the standards listed above are applicable to the company and will be adopted on their effective dates. Management is of the view 
that the effects on disclosure would be minimal, and would result in some enhanced disclosure. The effects on recognition and 
measurement would be limited, save for the adoption of IFRS 16. 

 IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers
  This standard replaces IAS 11 Construction contracts, IAS 18 Revenue, IFRIC 13 Customer loyalty programmes, IFRIC 15 Agreements for the 

construction of real estate, IFRIC 18 Transfer of assets from customers and SIC-31 Revenue – barter of transactions involving advertising services.
  The standard contains a single model that applies to contracts with customers and two approaches to recognising revenue: at a point in time or 

over time. The model features a contract-based five-step analysis of transactions to determine whether, how much and when revenue is 
recognised.

  This new standard will not have a significant impact on the group as revenue will continue to be recognised at a point in time, when 
accommodation and related services are provided. 

IFRS 9 Financial instruments
On 24 July 2014, the IASB issued the final IFRS 9 Financial instruments standard, which replaces earlier versions of IFRS 9 and completes the 
IASB’s project to replace IAS 39 Financial instruments: recognition and measurement.

This standard will not have a significant impact on the group’s financial assets and liabilities that are currently measured at amortised cost. In 
addition, although the IFRS 9 impairment model has been changed from an “incurred loss” model from IAS 39 to an “expected credit loss” 
model, this change is not expected to increase the provision for bad debts recognised in the group. 

Classification and measurement of share-based payment transactions (amendments to IFRS 2)
Currently, there is ambiguity over how a company should account for certain types of share-based payment arrangements. The IASB has 
responded by publishing amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based payments.

The amendments cover three accounting areas:
Measurement of cash-settled share-based payments: The new requirements do not change the cumulative amount of expense that is 
ultimately recognised, because the total consideration for a cash-settled share-based payment is still equal to the cash paid on settlement.

Classification of share-based payments settled net of tax withholdings: The amendments introduce an exception stating that, for 
classification purposes, a share-based payment transaction with employees is accounted for as equity-settled if certain criteria are met.

Accounting for a modification of a share-based payment from cash-settled to equity-settled: The amendments clarify the approach that 
companies are to apply.

The new requirements could affect the classification and/or measurement of these arrangements – and potentially the timing and amount 
of expense recognised for new and outstanding awards. 

IFRS 16 Leases
IFRS 16 was published in January 2016. It sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases for 
both parties to a contract, ie the customer (“lessee”) and the supplier (“lessor”). IFRS 16 replaces the previous leases Standard, IAS 17 
Leases, and related Interpretations. IFRS 16 includes a single model for lessees which will result in almost all leases being included in the 
statement of financial position. No significant changes have been included for lessors. IFRS 16 also includes extensive new disclosure 
requirements for both lessees and lessors.

The group and company have performed an initial assessment of the potential impact of IFRS 16 on the financial statements. The results of 
this assessment are being considered by management in order to determine the most appropriate method of adoption. 

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over income tax treatments
IFRIC 23 clarifies the accounting for income tax treatments that have yet to be accepted by tax authorities. Specifically, IFRIC 23 provides 
clarity on how to incorporate this uncertainty into the measurement of tax as reported in the financial statements.
IFRIC 23 does not introduce any new disclosures but reinforces the need to comply with existing disclosure requirements about: 

 • judgements made;  
 • assumptions and other estimates used; and     
 • the potential impact of uncertainties that are not reflected.
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The segment information has been prepared in accordance with IFRS 8 Operating Segments which defines the requirements for the disclosure 
of financial information of an entity’s operating segments.

The standard requires a “management approach” whereby segment information is presented on the same basis as that used for internal reporting 
purposes to the chief operating decision-maker/s who have been identified as the group’s executive directors. These individuals review the group’s 
internal reporting by hotel brand in order to assess performance and allocate resources. Depreciation for reportable segments is an asymmetrical 
expense as assets are not classified by segment. The depreciation charge for each reportable segment relates to furniture, fittings and equipment, 
while the majority of the charge for central office and other relates to hotel buildings. The measurement policies the group uses for segment reporting 
under IFRS 8 are the same as those used in its financial statements.

Courtyard City Lodge Town Lodge Road Lodge
Central Office  

and other Total

R000 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

Revenue 67 410 67 139 783 558 790 685 217 507 228 297 312 373 296 104 117 578 138 185 1 498 426 1 520 410

EBITDAR 24 759 25 274 445 407 470 078 97 564 110 094 169 612 166 863 (58 770) (76 656) 678 572 695 653

Land and 
hotel building 
rental (105 814) (96 524) (105 814) (96 524)

EBITDA 572 758 599 129

Depreciation (4 004) (3 846) (21 728) (22 612) (7 320) (7 316) (11 345) (11 670) (60 820) (57 335) (105 217) (102 779)

Results from 
operating 
activities 467 541 496 350

Geographical information
South Africa Rest of Africa Total

R000 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

Revenue 1 380 848 1 382 225 117 578 138 185 1 498 426 1 520 410

Non-current assets – property, plant 
and equipment 1 329 443 1 299 533 955 953 617 489 2 285 396 1 917 022

EBITDAR represents earnings after BEE transaction charges but before interest, taxation, depreciation, amortisation and rental.

EBITDA represents earnings after BEE transaction charges but before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation.

SEGMENT ANALYSIS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 
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SHAREHOLDER SPREAD

Beneficial shareholders with holdings exceeding 1%
Number of

shares owned
% of total

issued shares

Enderle S.A. Proprietary Limited 3 816 479 8,76
Government Employees Pension Fund (PIC) 2 680 682 6,15
Vuwa Investments Proprietary Limited 2 556 185 5,87
The Injabulo Staff Trust* 2 556 120 5,87
Government of Norway 1 599 294 3,67
Fidelity Worldwide Investment 1 542 202 3,54
Somerset Funds 1 292 178 2,97
University of Johannesburg School for Tourism and Hospitality 1 278 060 2,93
Old Mutual Group 1 129 064 2,59
JP Morgan 1 100 611 2,53
Vanguard 898 277 2,06
Coronation Fund Managers 823 218 1,89
Dimensional Fund Advisors 747 812 1,72
Nedbank Group 648 814 1,49
Henderson Global Investors 589 392 1,35
BMO Global Asset Management 580 639 1,33
Ishares 561 485 1,29
Trustees City Lodge 10th Anniversary* 508 974 1,17
Schroder Investment Management 499 404 1,15
MMI 481 737 1,11

Total 25 890 627 59,42
*   Non-public, which in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements includes, inter alia, the directors of the company, the trustees of any employees’ share scheme, employees 

of the issuer where a restriction is imposed on the trading of the listed securities and any person or entity that is interested in 10% or more of a particular class of 
securities.

Investment management shareholdings exceeding 3%
Total

shareholding % 

City Lodge Hotels BEE SPVs 6 390 365 14,67
Enderle H R 3 816 479 8,76
Melville Douglas Investment Management 2 427 007 5,57
PIC 2 234 316 5,13
Abax Investments 1 786 584 4,10
Pyramis Global Advisors 1 598 332 3,67
Coronation Fund Managers 1 558 678 3,58
Fidelity Worldwide Investment 1 542 202 3,54
Somerset Capital Management 1 457 687 3,35
Herderson Global Investors 1 399 373 3,21

Total 24 211 023 55,58

SHAREHOLDERS’ ANALYSIS AS AT 30 JUNE 2018 
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SHAREHOLDER SPREAD

Shareholder spread
Number of

holders
% of total

shareholders
Number of

shares
% of issued

capital

1 – 1 000 shares 8 065 79,91 1 465 089 3,36
1 001 – 10 000 shares 1 729 17,13 4 839 090 11,11
10 001 – 100 000 shares 230 2,28 5 995 996 13,76
100 001 – 1 000 000 shares 62 0,61 16 442 904 37,73
1 000 001 shares and above 7 0,07 14 830 814 34,04

Total 10 093 100,0 43 573 893 100,0

PUBLIC AND NON-PUBLIC SHAREHOLDINGS

Shareholder type
Number of

holders
% of total

shareholders
Number of

shares
% of issued

capital

Non-public shareholders* 169 1,67 6 228 588 14,29
– Directors 3 0,03 467 858 1,07
– Other 166 1,64 5 760 730 13,22
Public shareholders 9 924 98,33 37 345 305 85,71

Total 10 093 100,0 43 573 893 100,0
*   Non-public, which in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements includes, inter alia, the directors of the company, the trustees of any employees’ share scheme, employees 

of the issuer where a restriction is imposed on the trading of the listed securities and any person or entity that is interested in 10% or more of a particular class of 
securities.

GEOGRAPHIC SPLIT OF BENEFICIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Region
Total

shareholding
% of issued

capital

South Africa 29 409 109 67,49
United States of America and Canada 6 544 212 15,02
United Kingdom 896 370 2,06
Rest of Europe 5 878 411 13,49
Rest of world 845 791 1,94

Total 43 573 893 100,0
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FINANCIAL YEAR-END 30 June

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING November

REPORTS
Announcement of results for the half-year February
Announcement of annual results August
Annual financial statements September/October

DIVIDENDS
Declaration Interim February

Final August
Payment Interim March/April

Final September/October

MEMBERS’ DIARY
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CITY LODGE HOTELS LIMITED
Registration number: 1986/002864/06
Share code: CLH ISIN: ZAE000117792
(“the company”)
Notice is hereby given to shareholders recorded in the company’s securities register on 5 October 2018, that the thirty-second annual general 
meeting of shareholders of City Lodge Hotels Limited will be held at The Lodge, Bryanston Gate Office Park, corner Homestead Avenue and 
Main Road, Bryanston on Thursday, 8 November 2018 at 14:00 for purposes of dealing with the following business and considering and, if 
deemed fit, passing with or without modification, the resolutions set out hereunder.

Meeting participants (including shareholders and proxies) are, in accordance with the provisions of section 63(1) of the Companies Act, 71 of 
2008 (“the Act”) required to provide reasonably satisfactory identification before being entitled to attend or participate in the shareholders’ 
meeting.

Acceptable forms of identification include valid identity documents issued by the Department of Home Affairs, driver’s licences and passports.

IMPORTANT DATES AND TIMES
Record date for attending and voting at the meeting (“meeting record date”), Friday, 2 November 2018.

Last date for lodging forms of proxy with transfer secretary, Tuesday, 6 November 2018 (refer note 4 on page 20). 

AGM to be held at 14:00 on Thursday, 8 November 2018.

Announce results of AGM on SENS on Friday, 9 November 2018.

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS
1. To present the consolidated audited annual financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2018 (as set out on pages 114 to 165 of the Integrated 

Report), together with the directors’ and external auditors’ reports and the reports of the audit committee and social and ethics committee, as 
distributed.

2. Ordinary resolution number 1: Re-election of retiring directors
 To elect, by way of a series of votes, the following directors who retire in accordance with the provisions of the Act, and the company’s MoI, and who, 

being eligible and available, offer themselves for re-appointment or re-election, as may be applicable:

 Ordinary resolution number 1.1 “RESOLVED THAT Mr A W Dooley, who was first appointed to the board on 1 July 2018, be and is hereby re-appointed 
as a director of the company”.

 Ordinary resolution number 1.2 “RESOLVED THAT Mrs L G Siddo, who was first appointed to the board on 1 July 2018, be and is hereby re-appointed 
as a director of the company”.

 Ordinary resolution number 1.3 “RESOLVED THAT Ms N Medupe be and is hereby re-elected as a director of the company”.

 Ordinary resolution number 1.4 “RESOLVED THAT Mr S G Morris be and is hereby re-elected as a director of the company”.

 Ordinary resolution number 1.5 “RESOLVED THAT Mr B T Ngcuka be and is hereby re-elected as a director of the company”.

 Brief biographies in respect of each retiring director appear on pages 36 and 37 of the Integrated Report.

 The board has reviewed the performance and contribution of each of the directors offering themselves for re-election and recommends that these 
directors be re-elected. Notwithstanding the aforegoing and in line with governance best practice, the continued independence of those non-
executive directors who have served for longer than nine years is evaluated annually. Such evaluations take into account factors that may impair 
independence. Following a rigorous review, the board is satisfied that there are no relationships or circumstances likely to affect, or which affect, the 
judgement of Ms Medupe and Mr Morris.

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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3. Ordinary resolution number 2: Re-appointment of external auditor
 Upon the recommendation of the audit committee to re-appoint KPMG Inc. as the independent auditor of the company for the ensuing 

year to hold office until the next annual general meeting, with Mr Dwight Thompson as the designated partner and to authorise the audit 
committee to determine the auditor’s terms of engagement and remuneration.

 “ RESOLVED THAT KPMG Inc. be and is hereby re-appointed as the auditor of the company for the ensuing year, with Mr Dwight Thompson 
as the designated partner and that the audit committee be and is hereby authorised to determine the auditor’s terms of engagement and 
remuneration.”

 Having revisited the decision taken in 2017 to retain the services of KPMG Inc. and recommend its re-election as external auditor, and on 
the basis that there have been no adverse findings in relation to the IRBA and SAICA investigations, there is nothing which merits a change 
of position in terms of the earlier decision of the board to retain KPMG Inc. as the company’s external auditor.

4. Ordinary resolution number 3: Appointment of group audit committee members
 To elect, by way of a series of votes, and subject, where necessary, to their re-election as directors of the company in terms of ordinary resolution 1, the 

following independent non-executive directors as members of the audit committee to hold office until the next annual general meeting:

 Ordinary resolution number 3.1 “RESOLVED THAT Mr S G Morris be and is hereby elected as a member and the chairman of the audit committee”.

 Ordinary resolution number 3.2 “RESOLVED THAT Mr G G Huysamer be and is hereby elected as a member of the audit committee”. 

 Ordinary resolution number 3.3 “RESOLVED THAT Mr F W J Kilbourn be and is hereby elected as a member of the audit committee”. 

 Ordinary resolution number 3.4 “RESOLVED THAT Ms N Medupe be and is hereby elected as a member of the audit committee”.

 As special business, to consider and, if deemed fit, to pass, with or without modification, the following resolutions:

5. Ordinary resolution number 4: Signature of documents
 “ RESOLVED THAT any one director and/or the group company secretary be and is hereby authorised to do all such things and sign all such 

documents and take all such action as they consider necessary to implement all the resolutions set out in this notice convening this 
annual general meeting at which this ordinary resolution will be considered.”

6. Advisory vote: Remuneration policy and implementation report 
 6.1  To endorse, by way of a non-binding advisory vote, the company’s remuneration policy as set out on pages 83 to 91 of the Integrated Report.
 6.2  To endorse, by way of a non-binding advisory vote, the company’s remuneration implementation report as set out on pages 92 to 110 of the 

Integrated Report.

 In terms of King IV, an advisory vote on the company’s remuneration policy and the implementation thereof should be obtained from shareholders. 
The vote allows shareholders to express their views on the remuneration policies adopted and the implementation thereof. In the event that the 
policy is voted against by 25% or more of the voting rights exercised, the company undertakes to engage with shareholders in order to determine 
how to address their legitimate and reasonable concerns. 

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING CONTINUED
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7. Special resolution number 1: Approval of non-executive directors’ remuneration
 “RESOLVED THAT the remuneration payable to non-executive directors be approved as follows:

1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019 (R)

Annual fee payable 
with effect from 

1 July 2018

Hourly rate payable 
with effect from 

1 July 2018
Chairman of the board 999 915
Services as lead independent director 322 823
Services as a director 247 170
Chairman of the audit committee 173 250
– Other audit committee members 79 695
Chairman of the remuneration committee 152 933
– Other remuneration committee members 69 090
Chairman of the risk committee 118 545
– Other risk committee members 54 075
Chairman of the social and ethics committee 78 225
Ad hoc/temporary committee 2 000 capped at 

40 000”

 The reason for and effect of the proposed resolution is to ensure that the level of fees paid to non-executive directors remains market related for purposes 
of attracting persons of sufficient calibre and skill, and accords with the greater accountability and risk attached to the position.

 The reason for proposing an ad hoc/temporary committee fee over and above the remuneration ordinarily paid to the non-executive directors, is 
to set a fee for participating in an ad hoc/temporary committee should circumstances necessitate the formation of one to consider a specific issue 
falling outside the scope of existing committees.

 The board, on the recommendation of the remuneration and nominations committee, which in turn considered executive management’s 
recommendation in this regard has accepted the fees proposed in special resolution number 1 and recommends the same for approval 
by shareholders.

 Refer to page 146 for full particulars on the remuneration paid to non-executive directors during the year under review and to the remuneration 
report on pages 82 to 110 of the Integrated Report for further detail on the company’s remuneration practices.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING CONTINUED

8. Special resolution number 2: Financial assistance
 “ RESOLVED THAT to the extent required by sections 44 and/or 45 of the Act, the board may, subject to compliance with the requirements of 

the company’s MoI, the Act and the JSE Listings Requirements, each as presently constituted and as amended from time to time, authorise the 
company to provide direct or indirect financial assistance in such amounts and on such terms and conditions as the board may from time to time 
resolve, by way of loan, guarantee, the provision of security or otherwise, to:

 (i)  any of its present or future subsidiaries and/or any other company or entity that is or becomes related or inter-related to the company, and/or 
any other person, for any purpose or in connection with any matter, including, but not limited to, the subscription of any option, or any securities 
issued or to be issued by the company or a related or inter-related company, or for the purchase of any securities of the company or a related or 
inter-related company; and/or

 (ii)  any of its present or future directors or prescribed officers (or any person related to any of them or to any company or corporation related or 
inter-related to any of them), or to any other person who is a participant in any of the company’s share or other employee incentive schemes, 
for the purpose of, or in connection with, the subscription of any option, or any securities, issued or to be issued by the company or a related or 
inter-related company, or for the purchase of any securities of the company or a related or inter-related company, where such financial assistance 
is provided in terms of any such scheme that does not satisfy the requirements of section 97 of the Act.”

	 The	reason	for	and	the	effect	of	special	resolution	number	2
 Notwithstanding the title of section 45 of the Act, being “Loans or other financial assistance to directors”, on a proper interpretation, the body of the 

section also applies to financial assistance provided by a company to any related or inter-related company or corporation, a member of a related or 
inter-related corporation and to a person related to any such company, corporation or member.

 Further, section 44 of the Act may also apply to the financial assistance so provided by a company to any related or inter-related company or 
corporation, a member of a related or inter-related corporation, or a person related to any such company, corporation or member, in the event that 
the financial assistance is provided for the purpose of, or in connection with, the subscription of any option, or any securities, issued or to be issued 
by the company or a related or inter-related company, or for the purchase of any securities of the company or a related or inter-related company.

 As part of the normal conduct of the business of the group, the company, where necessary, usually provides guarantees and other support 
undertakings to third parties which enter into financial agreements with its local and foreign subsidiaries and joint ventures or partnerships in which 
the company or members of the group have an interest. This is particularly so where funding is raised by the foreign subsidiaries of the company, 
whether by way of borrowings or the issue of bonds or otherwise, for the purposes of the conduct of their operations. In the circumstances and in 
order to, inter alia, ensure that the company and its subsidiaries and other related and inter-related companies and entities continue to have access 
to financing for purposes of refinancing existing facilities and funding their corporate and working capital requirements, it is necessary to obtain 
shareholder approval as set out in this special resolution number 2. The company would like the ability to continue to provide financial assistance, if 
necessary, also in other circumstances, in accordance with section 45 of the Act.

 Furthermore, it may be necessary for the company to provide financial assistance to any of its present or future subsidiaries, and/or to any related 
or inter-related company or corporation, and/or to a member of a related or inter-related company, to subscribe for options or securities of the 
company or another company related or inter-related to it. 

 Both sections 44 and 45 of the Act provide, inter alia, that the particular financial assistance must be provided only pursuant to a special resolution of 
shareholders, adopted within the previous two (2) years, which approved such assistance either for the specific recipient, or generally for a category 
of potential recipients, and the specific recipient falls within that category and the board is satisfied that:

 (i)  immediately after providing the financial assistance, the company would satisfy the solvency and liquidity test (as contemplated in the Act); and

 (ii)  the terms under which the financial assistance is proposed to be given are fair and reasonable to the company.

  Accordingly, the approval of shareholders is sought to ensure that the company, its subsidiaries and other related and inter-related companies is able 
to effectively organise its internal financial administration.
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9. Special resolution number 3: General authority to repurchase shares
 “ RESOLVED THAT the company is hereby authorised by way of a general authority to acquire ordinary shares in the share capital of the company 

subject to the provisions of the Act and the JSE Listings Requirements, provided:
 • the general authority shall be valid only until the next annual general meeting or for 15 months from the date of this special resolution, whichever 

period is shorter;
 • the repurchase being effected through the order book operated by the JSE trading system, without prior understanding or arrangement between 

the company and the counterparty;
 • the company being authorised thereto by its MoI;
 • repurchases not being made at a price greater than 10% (ten percent) above the weighted average of the market value of the shares for the five 

(5) business days immediately preceding the date on which the transaction was effected;
 • an announcement being published as soon as the company has repurchased ordinary shares constituting, on a cumulative basis, 3% (three 

percent) of the initial number of ordinary shares, and for each 3% (three percent) in aggregate of the initial number of ordinary shares repurchased 
thereafter, containing full details of such repurchases;

 • repurchases not exceeding 20% (twenty percent) in aggregate of the company’s issued ordinary share capital in any one financial year;
 • the company and/or its subsidiaries not repurchasing securities during a prohibited period as defined in paragraph 3.67 of the JSE Listings 

Requirements unless a repurchase programme is in place where the dates and quantities of securities to be traded during the prohibited period 
are fixed and full details of the programme have been notified to the JSE prior to the commencement of the prohibited period;

 • the company only appointing one agent to effect any repurchases on its behalf; and
 • a resolution is passed by the board authorising the repurchase, that the company and its subsidiaries have passed the solvency and liquidity test 

and that since performing the test there have been no material changes to the financial position of the company.”
 
 The directors, having considered the effects of the repurchase of the maximum number of ordinary shares in terms of the foregoing general 

authority, are of the opinion that for a period of 12 (twelve) months after the date of the notice of the annual general meeting:
 • the company and its subsidiaries will be able, in the ordinary course of business, to pay its debts;
 • the consolidated assets of the company and its subsidiaries, fairly valued in accordance with generally accepted accounting practice, will exceed 

the consolidated liabilities of the company; and
 • the company and its subsidiaries’ ordinary share capital, reserves and working capital will be adequate for ordinary business purposes.

 
 The following additional information, some of which may appear elsewhere in the Integrated Report, is provided in terms of section 11.26 of the JSE 

Listings Requirements for purposes of this general authority:
 • major beneficial shareholders – page 166; and
 • share capital of the company – page 141.

Directors’ responsibility statement
The directors, whose names appear on pages 36 and 37 of the Integrated Report, collectively and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy 
of the information pertaining to this special resolution and certify that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, there are no facts that have been 
omitted which would make any statement false or misleading, and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts have been made and that the 
special resolution contains all information.

Material changes
Other than the facts and developments reported on in the annual financial statements, there have been no material changes in the affairs, financial or 
trading position of the company and its subsidiaries since the date of signature of the Integrated Report and up to the date of posting.

Reason	for	and	effect	of	special	resolution	number	3
The reason for and effect of the special resolution is to grant the company and its subsidiaries a general authority in terms of the Act and the JSE Listings 
Requirements to acquire shares in the company.

The general authority is also required by the company to perform its settlement obligations to employees participating in the company’s various share 
or employee incentive schemes.

The board has no specific intention, at present, for the company to repurchase any of its shares but considers it necessary in order that it can avail 
itself of the authority should an opportunity present itself during the year, which the board deems to be in the best interests of the company and its 
shareholders, taking prevailing market conditions and other factors into consideration.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING CONTINUED

OTHER BUSINESS
To transact such other business as may be transacted at an annual general meeting.

VOTING AND PROXIES
A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend, speak and vote in his/her stead.

A proxy need not be a shareholder of the company.

The form of proxy is only to be completed by those shareholders who are: holding shares in certificated form; or recorded on the sub-register 
in dematerialised form in “own name”, and is attached for convenience.

All other beneficial owners who have dematerialised their shares through a Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or broker and 
wish to attend the annual general meeting, must instruct their CSDP or broker to provide them with a letter of representation, or they must 
provide the CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in terms of the relevant custody agreement entered into between them and the 
CSDP or broker.

Proxy forms are requested to be forwarded to reach the company’s transfer secretaries by not later than 14:00 on Tuesday, 6 November 2018.

The completion of a proxy form will not preclude a shareholder from attending the annual general meeting.

ELECTRONIC PARTICIPATION
The company intends to offer shareholders or their proxies reasonable access to attend the annual general meeting through electronic conference call 
facilities, in accordance with the provisions of the Act. In the event that a shareholder or his/her proxy wishes to participate electronically in the annual general 
meeting, he/she is required to deliver written notice to the company at City Lodge Hotels Limited, Bryanston Gate Office Park, Building 7 (“The Lodge”), corner 
Homestead Avenue and Main Road, Bryanston, alternatively mvanheerden@clhg.com, marked for the attention of Mrs Melanie van Heerden, the company 
secretary, by no later than 14:00 on 2 November 2018 that he/she wishes to participate via electronic communication at the AGM (“the electronic notice”). In 
order for the electronic notice to be valid it must contain: (a) if the shareholder is an individual, a certified copy of his identity document and/or passport; (b) 
if the shareholder is not an individual, a certified copy of a resolution by the relevant entity and a certified copy of the identity documents and/or passports 
of the persons who passed the relevant resolution, which resolution must set out who from the relevant entity is authorised to represent the relevant entity 
at the annual general meeting via electronic communication; and (c) a valid email address and/or facsimile number (“the contact address/number”).

Voting on shares will not be possible via electronic communication and accordingly shareholders participating electronically and wishing to vote their shares 
at the annual general meeting will need to be represented at the annual general meeting, either in person, by proxy or by letter of representation. The 
company shall use its reasonable endeavours on or before 14:00 on 6 November 2018 to notify a shareholder, who has delivered a valid electronic notice, at 
its contact address/number, of the relevant details through which the shareholder can participate via electronic communication. The company reserves the 
right not to provide for electronic participation at the annual general meeting in the event that it determines that it is not practical to do so, or an insufficient 
number of shareholders or proxies request to so participate.

The cost of participating through the electronic conference call facilities will be for the account of the shareholder or his/her proxy.

By order of the board

M C van Heerden
Group company secretary

Bryanston
16 October 2018
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FORM OF PROXY – CITY LODGE HOTELS LIMITED

For use at the thirty-second annual general meeting of members to be held on Thursday, 8 November 2018 at The Lodge, Bryanston Gate 
Office Park, corner Homestead Avenue and Main Road, Bryanston, at 14:00.

I/we, the undersigned

of

being the registered holder(s) of ordinary shares

hereby appoint

or failing him,

or failing them, the chairman of the meeting as my/our proxy to act for me/us and vote for me/us on my/our behalf as indicated below at the annual 
general meeting of the company to be held on Thursday, 8 November 2018 at 14:00 and at any adjournment thereof.

In favour of Against Abstain

1. Adoption of the annual financial statements
2. Ordinary resolution number 1: Re-election of retiring directors
2.1 Mr A W Dooley
2.2 Mrs L G Siddo
2.3 Ms N Medupe
2.4 Mr S G Morris
2.5 Mr B T Ngcuka
3. Ordinary resolution number 2: Re-appointment of external auditor
4. Ordinary resolution number 3: Appointment of group audit committee members
4.1 Mr S G Morris
4.2 Mr G G Huysamer
4.3 Mr F W J Kilbourn
4.4 Ms N Medupe
5. Ordinary resolution number 4: Signature of documents
6. Advisory vote: Remuneration policy and implementation report
6.1 Remuneration policy 
6.2 Implementation report
7. Special resolution number 1: Approval of non-executive directors’ remuneration
7.1 Chairman (inclusive of all board and committee roles)
7.2 Lead independent director
7.3 Services as director
7.4 Chairman of audit committee
7.5 Other audit committee members
7.6 Chairman of remuneration committee
7.7 Other remuneration committee members
7.8 Chairman of risk committee
7.9 Other risk committee members
7.10 Chairman of social and ethics committee
7.11 Ad hoc/temporary committee
8. Special resolution number 2: Financial assistance
9. Special resolution number 3: General authority to repurchase shares

Signature   Date 

Assisted by me (where applicable)
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1. This form of proxy is to be completed only by certificated 
shareholders or dematerialised shareholders whose shares 
are recorded in their “own name”

2. Shareholders whose dematerialised shares are held in the 
name of a nominee and who wish to attend the annual 
general meeting must contact their Central Securities 
Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or broker who will furnish 
them with the necessary letter of authority to attend the 
annual general meeting. Alternatively they have to instruct 
their CSDP or broker as to how they wish to vote. This must 
be done in terms of the agreement between the shareowner 
and the CSDP or the broker.

3. Shareholders who wish to attend and vote at the meeting 
must ensure that their letters of authority from their CSDP 
or broker reach the transfer secretaries, Computershare 
Investor Services Proprietary Limited (“Computershare”) by 
no later than 14:00 on Tuesday, 6 November 2018.

4. Each shareholder is entitled to appoint a proxy (who need 
not be a shareholder of the company) to attend, speak and 
vote (either on a poll or by show of hands) in place of that 
shareholder at the annual general meeting. Certificated 
shareholders or “own-name” dematerialised shareholders 
may attend and vote at the annual general meeting, 
alternatively appoint a proxy to attend, speak and, in respect 
of the applicable resolutions, vote in their stead by 
completing the attached form of proxy. If a shareholder is 
unable to attend the annual general meeting but wishes to 
be represented thereat, he/she must complete and return 
the attached form of proxy, in accordance with the 
instructions contained therein, to Computershare, Rosebank 
Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank, 2196, to be 
received by them by no later than 14:00 on Tuesday, 
6 November 2018, alternatively the form of proxy can be 
handed to the company secretary immediately before 
commencement of the annual general meeting. However, 
please bear in mind that the reason why shareholders are 
requested to return their form of proxy before the meeting 
is because the company has over 10 000 shareholders and 
the scrutineers must consider each proxy to determine 
whether it is validly given and whether the voting rights have 
been correctly inserted. Significant delays could be caused at 
the annual general meeting if these checks have to be 
carried out by the scrutineers prior to the commencement 
of or while the annual general meeting is in progress.

5. A shareholder may insert the name of a proxy of the 
shareholder’s choice in the space provided, with or without 
deleting “the chairman of the meeting”. All deletions must 
be individually initialled by the shareholder, failing which 
they will not have been validly effected. Should a proxy not 
be specified, this will be exercised by the chairman of the 
annual general meeting. The person whose name appears 
first on the form of proxy and who is present at the annual 
general meeting shall be entitled to act as proxy to the 
exclusion of the persons whose names follow.

6. Voting instructions for each of the resolutions must be 
completed by filling in an “X”, alternatively the number of 
votes (one per ordinary share) under the “In favour of”, 
“Against” or “Abstain” headings on the form of proxy. If no 
instructions are filled in on the form of proxy, the chairman 
of the annual general meeting, if the chairman is the 
authorised proxy, or any other proxy shall be authorised to 
vote in favour of, against or abstain from voting as he/she 
deems fit.

7. A shareholder or his/her proxy is entitled but not obliged 
to vote in respect of all the ordinary shares held by the 
shareholder. The total number of votes for or against the 
resolutions and in respect of which any abstention is 
recorded may, however, not exceed the total number of 
shares held by the shareholder.

8. Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a 
person signing this form of proxy in a representative capacity 
must be attached to this form of proxy unless previously 
recorded by Computershare or waived by the chairman of 
the annual general meeting.

9. The chairman of the annual general meeting may reject or 
accept any form of proxy that is completed and/or received 
other than in accordance with these instructions and notes.

10. Any alterations or corrections to this form of proxy must be 
initialled by the signatory(ies).

11. The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not 
preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the annual 
general meeting and speaking and voting in person instead 
of the duly appointed proxy.

12. Form of proxy must be returned to Computershare, 
Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank, 2196 
(PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107), by no later than 
14:00 on Tuesday, 6 November 2018.

13. A minor must be assisted by his/her parent or guardian 
unless the relevant documents establishing his/her legal 
capacity are produced or have been registered by 
Computershare.

14. A proxy may not delegate his/her authority to act on behalf 
of the shareholder to another person.

FORM OF PROXY – CITY LODGE HOTELS LIMITED CONTINUED
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